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M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T

2018 was a year of consolidation of the Group's performance in a troubled environment for our industry.

Consolidated sales reached € 525 million, up 4% or 7.5%, at constant currency, in keeping with the original 
objectives.

The Natural Ingredients division achieved a 12% increase in its revenue, well above the Group's growth, 
which demonstrates, once again, the accuracy of Robertet's strategy in making the most of its undeniable 
expertise and specialization in the development of natural products for aroma or perfume purposes but 
also for other uses.

Therein, the "organic" component, which is increasingly important, contributes to this real differentiation 
in a highly competitive environment. SAPAD is the main vector guaranteeing the credibility of our efforts 
around this essential concept for Robertet, which also has an extremely pragmatic and serious CSR approach 
to guarantee supply chains, guaranteeing long-term collaboration with major customers. This is comprised 
of an intimate knowledge of products and markets in the sense of a total traceability of the production cycle 
and a clear positioning and a real durability in a field to which the company is viscerally attached.

For 2018, growth in New Products / New Markets was the strongest in the United States, applying the One 
Robertet strategy.

 In addition, the Group's business and profitability were affected, as was the competition as a whole, with 
serious threats to the supply of key and often irreplaceable chemical molecules for the creation of Fragrance 
Composition.

Robertet has once again demonstrated a remarkable ability to respond, astutely managing crises or alerts 
that were described as force majeure by the main suppliers. 

We succeeded without fault to provide to our customers in accordance to the criteria of the usual quality, 
though suffered significant and relatively enduring price increases of the raw materials consumed.

The Group's growth in the Asian markets was rapid in 2018 with the rise in strength of the Singapore units 
serving the main countries in the sector.

In this context, the Fragrance Division achieved good results but was hit by a significant drop in its gross 
margin.

Commercial performance was notable in the United States and to a lesser extent in India and China, but 
also in Europe.

For its part, the Fragrance Division was up 4%, again with strong points in the United States and in all the 
markets of Sweet Fragrances keen on natural products, such as the main international  food companies, 
principally in the United States beverage industry.

The Group's sales breakdown was changed in 2018, with Europe's share at 36%, the United States at 33%, 
South America at 8%, and Asia at 19% of turnover of the Group's global  business.

The negative rating is reflected in Brazil's results, whose sales fell substantially, as well as their  margins. 
This does not call into question the ongoing investment program of a total amount of  15 million euros 
which is absolutely necessary to be better positioned in this important market. Finally, the most recent 
division Health and Beauty is evolving favorably even if its size remains moderate, taking advantage of the 
real synergy with other Divisions. Prospects for organic growth or targeted acquisitions in this business are 
promising. The situations of the Group's main companies are as follows:
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GRASSE

Robertet Grasse, the Group's parent company, owns all of its holdings but also remains its  main center for 
Industrial Resources and Services as well as decision center. Its 2018 revenue was € 192.3 million, an increase 
of 5.6%, largely in mature markets. The Raw Materials Division grew by 4.3%, Fragrance by 6.4% and Flavors 
by 6.9%, evenly.

The company accounts are sound, even if they are impacted by a 2.5% drop in the gross margin on the 
products consumed, which is significant. The costs are well controlled which allows the company to acheive 
a good level of   performance. However, the restated profit is slightly down 4%. 

Charabot, which has been 100% owned by Robertet since the end of 2017 but has been controlled since 2007, 
has had an excellent year in 2018. Its turnover grew by 6.5%. Its cost of materials also increased by 2% but 
its operating expenses fell by 7.3%, as a result of the constant search for optimization in the management 
of the companies in Grasse, taking advantage of the many existing complementary features. 

The EBITDA of Charabot is up 24% and represents 14% of its turnover. For 2019, a new integration phase 
will take place that will result in the merger of Charabot SA in  Robertet SA using the TUP procedure 
(Transmission Universelle de Patrimoine / Universal Wealth Transfer). This is a major project for our Group, 
particularly in the management of human resources and the adaptation of information systems. 

We expect to better position ourselves for our customers, simplify and make the organization of the Group 
more efficient. 

EUROPE

Robertet England has stable sales with good resilience in Anglophone Africa, which is a good addition to 
Robertet Africa in achieving the Group's growth objectives in a promising geographic region. The prospect 
of Brexit is a factor of uncertainty that should be overcome but may cause some turbulence.

Robertet Spain has a turnover of 33%, which is an excellent result for the Group, particularly in Fragrance, 
which is accompanied by a good profitability.

SAPAD, specialized in "organic" products, has built a remarkable credibility in this very complementary 
field with the Group's Raw Materials Division. The professionalism and rigor of its approach as well as its 
remarkable skills acquired over many years are very positive factors. This is not an obstacle to good financial 
results.Its turnover in 2018 was more than 13 million euros with good profitability.

Hitex, a 50% owned company with the Codif group, works on supercritical CO2 extraction techniques and 
has independent management that has allowed it to expand its product range and which has allowed the 
Group to access certain types of strategic and large-scale business. Capacity and improvement investments 
are planned for the years 2019 and 2020.

Bionov, a branch of Robertet Health and Beauty and SOD specialist from melons, located near Avignon is a 
little behind on its workload schedule but a catch-up is anticipated because of the  scientific quality of work 
accomplished and the stake in its products.
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UNITED STATES

Robertet USA enjoyed a year of strong growth compared to 2017. Its turnover is up 14% and its consolidated 
US profit is up 45%.

The three operational divisions performed well:

  • The Natural Ingredients Division has grown in dollars by 35%
  • The US Fragrance Division increased sales by 18%
  • The Flavors division grew by 6%

These growths are spectacular especially for Ingredients, which has effects for the entire Group. The 
remarkable change in the range of products that this activity generates differs widely in the other geographical 
areas and in the industrial activity of Grasse factories while remaining strictly in Robertet's core business.

This change initiative has spurred a general program of One Robertet to allow for better joint work of all 
the divisions, and to optimize and coordinate the resources of the Group regarding equally the knowledge,  
customer relations, and developments of products and services.

ll this should contribute to creating absolutely necessary sources of growth for Robertet's future in the 
world.

The United States remains the world's largest market, its contribution to the international management 
of large groups with global projects is essential, as well as for some countries like Brazil that are highly 
interdependent with the US.

More specifically, Robertet Flavors continues to bring its remarkable positioning in the country to the main 
food groups by benefiting from its skills in the field of natural products used in the direction of flavors and 
its outstanding sense of service. The turnover of this entity was 113 million dollars for 2018, accompanied 
by a very good profitability.

LATIN AMERICA

Robertet has four subsidiaries in Brazil, Mexico, Argentina and Colombia in a somewhat unstable but high 
potential area.

Robertet Brazil operates in a strategic country for many Groups, especially Americans attracted by the 
natural wealth of the country and the consumer fever of its inhabitants. Robertet has achieved excellent 
results in recent years, mainly in Fragrance which motivated the decision to build a whole unit of production, 
laboratories and administration geographically close to its former premises.

This should allow the subsidiary to be more commercially aggressive and try to make its place among local 
groups very committed to natural products with a real community of values in this area.

The investment, estimated at 15 million euros, answers to this ambition. However, the year 2018 was less 
good in sales and earnings and the country remains historically unstable, high-cost and with an invasive 
bureaucracy. This has been taken into account in this investment decision which is totally confirmed. Its 
financial results are sharply down, which contrasts with the very strong growth achieved in previous years.

Robertet Mexico has achieved relatively good commercial results which translate into a 7% increase in sales 
in Fragrance and Flavors with profits equal to those of the previous year despite the erosion of margins in 
the Fragrance sector. These results are correct and the situation remains healthy and balanced.
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Robertet Argentina operates in a permanent crisis environment that hinders its growth capacity and 
penalizes its daily business. Given this situation, and pending the country's recovery, the investments that 
were envisaged are postponed.

Robertet Colombia, a young subsidiary of about two years of existence is operational and progressing but 
still in financial loss. Its progress is followed before going further in possible additional investments.

ASIA

This area has been the subject of major investments in recent years to make up for some of the Group's 
delay, which had to be corrected. It now accounts for 19% of Robertet's business and will continue to be a 
priority to achieve the long-term goal of representing 25% of this revenue.

China has an industrial site, 100% owned by Beijing and has developed commercial offices and marketing 
and creative laboratories in Shanghai and Canton, covering the entire Chinese territory in Fragrance and 
Flavors but also for the Health and Beauty division. 

The year 2018 was very good and in line with the growth of 2017. Sales were up 23% spread equitably in 
Fragrance / Raw Materials and Flavors. Its financial results are solid and the company is well equipped to 
continue its necessary progress at a steady pace. The appetite of this market for genuine natural products 
with high added value will contribute.

India is also growing rapidly, especially in Fragrance, benefiting from its collaboration with Robert and 
Goldfield whose partnership agreement was finalized in May 2017. In accordance with its terms, Robertet 
now owns 60% of the company and will be able to buy the remaining securities within 2 to 4 years at a price 
based on the performance of the Indian company. This acquisition enables the Group to have a commercial 
and development center in Mumbai and a beautiful factory in Goa, managed according to Robertet's quality 
criteria, that is an essential base for the conquest of this important market. The 2018 results were good in 
sales and results.

Robertet Asia (Singapore)

The establishment of Robertet is fully operational in Fragrance and Flavors. This subsidiary provides services 
to the entire region, firstly in Vietnam, where the Group is historically well positioned, in Indonesia (a country 
with high potential), Thailand, Malaysia and the Philippines. This efficient local service is essential to take 
advantage of the growth capacity of these countries. The 2018 results were very positive.

Robertet Japan, which benefits from a very old placement of Robertet and Charabot, with an established 
reputation for high quality and high added value products, has slightly increased in 2018.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME

The Group achieved a fiscal year perfectly in line with its expectations for 2018, which showed revenue 
growth of 5% at constant exchange rates and a result in line with this figure.

Consolidated profit amounted to 51.9 million, an increase of 6.2%, representing 9.9% of turnover, the best 
historical level. This performance takes into account the 1.7% drop in gross margin, which is very penalizing 
and the decline in profitability of the Brazilian subsidiary.

The reimbursement of the dividend tax of the French government for 1 million euros improves the net profit.

All this taken into account, the EBITDA is stable amounting to 85.8 million euros against 85.1 million for the 
2017 financial year.
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European companies in the group accounted for 63% of profits, US companies accounted for nearly 30% of 
this same figure, Latin America for less than 3% and Asia for 4%. This quality of results is accompanied by 
a very favorable financial situation for a group that is virtually debt-free despite the increase in working 

capital requirements. This may allow for external growth investments if opportunities arise.

On this very solid basis, the Board of Directors proposes to the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of June 5, 

2019 the distribution of a dividend of € 5.6 per share, up 7.7%, representing a payout of 25%. 

PERSPECTIVES 2019

Sales for the first quarter amounted to € 142.8 million, up 7%, or 3.6% at constant currency, which is relatively 
consistent across the three operating divisions.

Many uncertainties mean that the budgets for the 2019 fiscal year are very difficult to establish and that in 
any case, we should be cautious, not to mention the present dangers of the world today.

Short of unusual exploits, a 5% growth in turnover would be relatively satisfactory, while taking into account 
the excellent situation of the Group due to its product positioning, its reputation and its clear and pragmatic 
strategy, not to mention the quality of its financial management. 

2018 2017 Variation

Sales revenue 524 901 504 398 4,06%

Gross operating profit (Ebitda) 85 822 85 153 0,79%

Current income 68 848 67 210 2,24%

NET INCOME (Group share) 51 751 48 536 6,62%

Shareholders' equity (Group share) 409 658 364 506

Net current cash * -21 -22 625

Current assets-current liabilities 304 215 265 206

* Net cash position = cash and cash equivalents + other current financial assets - financial liabilities

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES

ORGANIZATION 

The reduction in the number of hierarchical levels, the existence of short decision-making circuits with a 
direct reporting of operational levels to Executive Management, combined with corporate values widely 
disseminated throughout all Group entities and a commitment to continuous improvement of operational 
processes, ensure a strong and reliable control environment.

Control activities are carried out at all hierarchical and functional levels of the Group.

Internal control is therefore organized with a view to contributing in particular to ensuring that the parent 
company and consolidated financial statements reflect in a fair and objective manner the Group's financial 
position and provide a reasonable assessment of any risks of any kind that it may face that could affect the 
achievement of the objectives assigned to internal control.
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OBJECTIVES AND MEANS

The defined policy aims to meet the legal requirements and to ensure as homogeneous, systematic and 
formalized monitoring as possible of the risks incurred. This approach associates operational managers 
without burdening the Group's internal operating methods. Risk monitoring is part of reporting (security, 
social and environmental, accounting and financial). A risk map covering all the Group's activities has been 
drawn up and is reviewed annually.

In order to :

  • Identify the main sources of identifiable risks, internal or external.

  •  Evaluate the criticality of these risks on a qualitative scale, taking into account their potential 
impact, the probability of occurrence and the degree of control of the various events that 
constitute them.

With regard to the processes for preparing published financial information, specific procedures are 
implemented, mainly including:

  •  A standardized system of financial reporting and consolidation that enables the preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with the Group's principles.

  •  A formalized process for reporting and analyzing other information published in the Group's 
reference documents.

The responsibility for implementing these procedures rests with the Finance Departments of each of the 
Group's entities.

The General Management and the Group Finance Department regularly visit the operating subsidiaries to 
monitor performance,procedures, audits of specific topics, set up or folow action plan.

RISK FACTORS

The audit committee has put in place a mapping of potential risks incurred by the company which is reviewed 
each year.

Risks that may have a significant impact on the Group's operations or require specific actions are mainly 
the following:

RISKS RELATED TO THE GROUP'S BUSINESS SECTOR

Supply

A limited number of raw materials have sources of supply that are difficult to diversify, which can lead to 
pressure on prices or available quantities. The Purchasing Department strives to put in place supply contracts 
with producers to control prices and make quantities more reliable and to diversify its sources as much 
as possible. The Group has also established long-term partnerships with local producers of sensitive raw 
materials in a sustainable development approach and mastering the quality of the products, the quantities 
produced and their price.

Regulation

In an increasingly restrictive legislative environment, particularly at the level of the EEC, the Group must 
each year strengthen its resources, essentially human, to meet the constraints imposed on the profession 
in terms of traceability,  research, and development of new products to replace those which have become 
proscribed.

 Also, the REACH Regulation which imposes a new system for the registration, evaluation and authorization 
of chemical substances  and which requires manufacturers, importers and downstream users to ensure the 
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manufacture, placing on the market or use of substances that have no adverse effects on human health and 
the environment also leads to the implementation of increasingly significant resources and could potentially 
lead to supply disruptions for unregistered products.

RISKS RELATED TO HUMAN RESOURCES

Robertet's policy is to give subsidiaries and their managers considerable autonomy in implementing Group 
decisions. Since these leaders have been in place for the most part for decades, they have become within 
these entities what are called key men whose sudden vacancy could be detrimental to the subsidiaries in 
question. With regard to scheduled replacements, these are sufficiently anticipated for the relay to be done 
in the best conditions and for the successor of the departing to be fully operational when the time comes.

FINANCIAL RISKS

Risk of change

A major part of the group's sales are in currencies other than the euro such as the US dollar, the pound 
sterling, the yen, the real, and the Mexican or Argentine pesos. These foreign currency sales are mainly 
made by the Group's subsidiaries in their functional currency, which does not induce transactional currency 
risk at their level.

Group entities that are exposed to a foreign exchange risk, mainly the parent company that buys and 
sells in dollars, practice a risk hedging policy with the sole objective of hedging the risks generated by the 
exploitation and maintenance of the levels of the gross operating margin. None of the hedging products 
used can be regarded as speculative.

The exposure related to currency hedges is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, note 11.

Rate risk

Of the 88.5 million euros in borrowings of the Group, there remains a rate risk on 2.9 million floating rate 
loans. Details of the borrowings are provided in note 9 of the notes to the accounts.

Equity risk

At December 31, 2018, the Group's balance sheet shows a cash and cash equivalents item of € 104 million (€ 
90 million as of December 31, 2017).

Cash equivalents consist of marketable securities represented by money market mutual funds invested in 
securities with very short maturity and no risk capital. In accordance with the accounting rules in effect, 
these instruments are valued at their market value, very close to their book value.

Liquidity risk

The Group has a large excess of cash and never uses more than 20% of the overdraft facilities it has been 
granted.

Customer Risk

The Group has a drastic policy of accounts receivable. When a customer is identified as being at risk of 
default, the means of payment put in place are secured and the outstanding accounts limited.

Country risk

The company regularly assesses its exposure to country risk. No significant settlement defaults have occurred 
in recent years in a country identified as potentially risky.
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ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS

The Group makes use of substances that may present health risks, fire or explosion, emissions or releases 
during the various phases of the production process that may affect people, property or the environment.

Safety and protection of the environment is therefore a permanent concern for the Group, which goes 
beyond the measures prescribed by the laws and regulations in force in the countries in which the Group 
operates.

Events after the end of the financial year

To our knowledge, no event has occurred since the closing date that could have a significant influence on 
the Group's business, financial position, results and assets.

Research and development

The company permanently devotes about 8% of its turnover to research, creation and development activities.
In 2018, the parent company received € 808,500 under the research tax credit.

Breakdown of capital, control and treasury shares

As of December 31, 2018, the share capital consists of 2,305,145 securities divided between 2,161,563 shares 
and 143,582 investment certificates, the latter which, it should be noted, do not enjoy the right to vote.
There are no statutory restrictions on the exercise of voting rights and transfers of securities. There is no 
program for the repurchase of its securities by the company, nor is there any treasury stock. Shares held in 
registered form for more than five years have double voting rights.

The distribution of capital is as follows:

% of capital % single voting 
rights

% total voting 
rights

MAUBERT Family group 46,90% 53,09% 67,62%

FIRST EAGLE Shares 22,84% 18,60% 12,66%

International Value advisors LLC 3,43% 3,43% 2,33%

Other 26,83% 24,88% 17,39%

TOTAL 100,00% 100,00% 100,00%

Employee participation in share capital

In the framework of the Company Savings Plan, employees hold 0.53% of the capital and 0.69% of the voting 
rights.

Conditions of retention of free shares awarded

The allocation of bonus shares to their beneficiaries will not be final until the end of a vesting period, the 
minimum duration of which is set at one year. At the end of this period, the shares will be definitively 
allocated to their beneficiaries, but will be non-transferable and must be retained by them for a minimum 
period of two years.

The free shares allotted to the corporate officers of the Company must be held by the latter, in registered 
form, for at least one third of them, until the termination of their duties, the transfer of said shares being 
prohibited before that date.
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Transactions carried out by the managers on the company's shares

In May 2018, Olivier Maubert sold 1,000 shares for € 500,000. In October 2018, Christophe Maubert  
sold 700 shares for € 354,000.

Proposed assignment of the result

The Board of Directors proposes to set the dividend per share at 5.60 euros,

The proposal for allocating the fiscal year earnings is therefore the following:

   Dividends  12 922 252,00 euros
   Reserves  10 496 884,31 euros

   Total    23 419 136,31 euros

The total distribution proposed will therefore be EUR 12,922,252 for the shares of each 2.50 euros in nominal 
value, as well as for investment certificates, either per share and by investment certificate:

•Dividendes : 5,60 euros. 

The payment of the dividend for the 2018 financial year will be made as of July 1st, 2019 by CACEIS Corporate 
Trust, 14 rue Rouget de Lisle, 92130 Issy-les-Moulineaux.

This dividend is eligible, for individuals who are fiscally domiciled in France, for the reduction provided for 
in article 158, 3-2 ° of the French General Tax Code.

In order to comply with the provisions of article 243 bis of the French Tax Code, it should be noted that the 
amount of dividends paid in respect of the past three fiscal years have been as follows:

Distribution 
Overall

Distribution 
per share

 

Fiscal year 2017 11 973 234 5,20 €
PFU 30% 

(Single flat-rate levy)

Fiscal year 2016 10 588 487 4,60 € Tax deduction 40% On the total amount distributed

Fiscal year 2015 9 188 780 4,00 € Tax deduction 40% On the total amount distributed

Non tax-deductible expenses pursuant to article 39-4 of the CGI French Tax Code

We point out that, by application of article 223c of the General Tax Code, that the amount of the expenses 
and charges referred to in article 39-4 of the said Code corresponding to the depreciation and taxes on non 
tax-deductible passenger vehicles, which amount to EUR 172 735 and gave rise to an amount of EUR 59 006.

Also to be proposed to the Combined Robertet shareholders’ meeting to be held at the headquarters of 
the company on June 5, are the following resolutions:

Attendance fees

Making available to the Board of Directors, in the form of attendance fees, the sum of € 200,000 for the 
current financial year.

Agreements referred to in Articles L 225-86 et seq. Of the French Commercial Code

Approval of the terms of the special report of the statutory auditors prepared in accordance with Articles 
L 225-38 et seq. Of the French Commercial Code.
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Renewal of the term of office of the following directors

It is proposed to renew as a member of the Board of Directors for a period of five years which will end 
at the end of the ordinary Robertet shareholders meeting which will rule in 2024 on the accounts of the 
financial year 2023.

  • Mr. MAUBERT Philippe born on 28/01/1952 to NICE, of French nationality, residing 8 Bd Alice 
de Rothschild in GRASSE 06130

  • Mr. MAUBERT Christophe born on 03/07/1959 in NICE, of French nationality, residing at 113 
East 62nd St in NEW YORK 10065 (United States))

  • Mrs. MAUBERT Catherine married CANOVAS-GUTTERIEZ born on 11/01/1951 in NICE, of French 
nationality, living 3 Bd Delessert in PARIS 75016

  • Mr. PICOLET Lionel born on 08/12/1956 in LYON, of French nationality, living 269  chemin 
de cadenasses in TOURRETTES SUR LOUP 06140.

Approval of executive compensation

It is proposed to approve

the principles and criteria for determining, distributing and allocating the fixed, variable and exceptional 
components of the total compensation and benefits of any kind attributable, by reason of their mandate 
to the Managing Directors and Deputy Chief Executive Officers, as detailed in the report attached to the 
report mentioned in articles L.225-100 and L.225-102 of the French Commercial Code, presented in the report 
on corporate governance

the elements of the remuneration due or awarded, because of their mandate to the Chief Executive Officers 
and Chief Operating Officers, as detailed in the report attached to the report mentioned in Articles L.225-100 
and L.225-102 of the French Commercial Code, presented in the report on corporate governance.

Capital increase reserved for members of the company savings plan

It is proposed to authorize the Board of Directors, pursuant to the provisions of Articles L-225-129-6 and 
L 225-138-1 of the Labor Code, to increase, on one or more occasions, the share capital of the Company 
by a nominal amount that may not exceed € 50,000 by the issue of shares reserved for members of the 
company's savings plan.

D E L I V E R Y  T I M E S  O F  S U P P L I E R S 

Total 
Purchases

 Delay  Before Tax

0 day 1 to 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days 91 days  or more
Total due 1 

day or more, 
before tax

Number of  
invoices received 125 279 100 24 76 479

Amount 539 4290 2042 138 734 7 203

% Total turnover
before tax

167 300 0,32% 2,56% 1,22% 0,08% 0,44% 4,31%
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C L I E N T  P A Y M E N T  T I M E

Total 
Sales

 Delay before Tax.

0 day 1 to 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 90 days 91 days  or more
Total due 1 

day or more, 
before tax

Number of 
invoices issued 901 294 285 180 951 1 710

Amount 12 305 1 735 1 992 1 814 10 566 16 107

% Total C.A.
 before tax

245 863 5,00% 0,71% 0,81% 0,74% 4,30% 6,55%

S T A T U T O R Y  A U D I T O R S '  F E E S  A N D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Deloitte  & Associés C o g e p a r c O t h e r s

Amount % Amount % Amount %

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

AUDIT

Statutory audit, certification, 
reviews of individual and 
consolidated accounts

462 542 100% 97% 61 86 100% 100% 117 107 87% 100%

Issuer 114 115 25% 20% 52 51 86% 59%

Fully consolidated 
subsidiaries 348 427 75% 77% 8 35 14% 41% 117 107 87% 100%

Sub total 462 542 100% 97% 61 86 100% 100% 117 107 87% 100%

SERVICES OTHER THAN CERTIFICATION OF ACCOUNTS

Tax, legal and business

Other  (1) 15 3% 17 13%

Sub total 15 3% 17 13%

TOTAL 462 557 100% 100% 61 86 100% 100% 134 107 100% 100%

(1) For both fiscal years, these are IT consulting assignments



2018

Extra-Financial Performance
 

Statement



Introduction ............................................................................................... 6

Our Identity                                                                                                                                               7

CSR Initiatives                                                                                                                                         10

Seed to Scent Approach                                                                                                                      12

Living terroirs .................................................................................................................. 17

Ecological Agricultural Practices                                                                                                       19

Biodiversity and Natural Heritage                                                                                                    20

Human Development ....................................................................................... 22

Throughout the Supply Chain                                                                                                            23

Within the Robertet Group                                                                                                                26

Sustainable processes ........................................................................... 30

Quality                                                                                                                                                        31

Environmental Impacts of Production Processes                                                                        34

Natural and innovative processes .......................................... 38
Environmental Assessment of Processes

and Products                                                                                                                                          39

Creation of New Natural Products                                                                                                  43

A word from the latest generation ......................................... 43

Table of Contents



Éditorial
2017, a new departure for
the Group’s CSR approach

In 2018, the results of the Robertet Group werein line 

with our targets. Growth of 4.1%, turnover reaching 

525 million euros and a result of 51.5 million euros 

(+7.3% compared to 2017), in a difficult international 

context. This ongoing development is the result of 

a unique positioning of integration, including the 

whole natural products chain, from their culture, 

their extraction, their transformation to their use in 

fragrances and flavors creations. Our presence at the 

source, a guarantee of quality, meets the demand 

for transparency of our clients and customers. This 

traceability and our CSR commitment are efficient 

thanks to a sourcing policy that respects humans 

and the environment. We will keep implementing 

the cluster strategy in the future while ensuring 

growth through the continuous search for new 

clients and markets. 

PHILIPPE MAUBERT
CEO of the Robertet Group
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ABOUT THE GROUP

Founded in  1850,  the Robertet  Group is  a  fami ly -based 

company in Grasse, whose main activities include sourcing 

plant ingredients and transforming them into natural volatile 

and non-volatile extracts. These extracts are then used for the 

creation of flavorings, perfumes and the active ingredients in 

health and beauty products. Due to an extremely integrated 

sourcing approach, Robertet has developed a real expertise 

in natural products, making the Group today’s global leader 

in natural  aromatic raw materials.  The Robertet Group is 

organized into four divisions.

O u r  I d e n t i t y

Introduction Natural raw materials

Robertet supplies natural ingredients for the flavoring 

and perfume industries as well as the active ingredients 

used in health and beauty products. Its expertise ranges 

from sourcing plants to industrial processes of extraction, 

hydro-distillation, purification, and molecular distillation, as 

well as CO2 extraction, combining its methods and knowhow 

with tradition and innovation. 

Perfumery

T h r o u g h  i t s  s t a f f  o f  p e r f u m e r s ,  r e s e a r c h e r s , 

evaluators ,appl icat ion and market ing specia l ists ,  

Robertet explores the world of unique olfactory emotions 

and develops high quality perfumes.

Flavorings

Since the Group has a thorough knowledge of the flavor 

cultures specific to each continent, its flavorists evaluate  

the ability of their creations to meet the customer’s 

requirements with the help of customized sensory panels. 

Active ingredients:

The Group’s new Health & Beauty Division is backed by the 

nutricosmetics of Hitex and Bionov to explore the health and 

beauty benefits of natural ingredients.

1 800
employees* 
around the world

creation center 
worldwide

1st

global leader in 
natural ingredients

525 M€

of 4,2 % compared to 2017

sales figure in 2018, representing 

an increase

KEY FIGURES

1100
natural raw material
references sourced in
more thansourcées

dans plus de

countries
60 14

* in all the Group’s subsidiaries, not including marketing subsidiaries and joint ventures
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GLOBAL ORGANIZATION AND PRESENCE

The Robertet Group is made up of the following entities :

  Robertet SA, headquartered in Grasse with Robertet 
subsidiaries in Argentina, South Africa, Brazil, Bulgaria, 
China, Mexico, Singapore, Turkey, the United Kingdom, 

 and  the United States

 Charabot, one of the oldest perfumery companies, created  
 in 1799, also headquartered in Grasse

 La Société Anonyme des Plantes Aromatiques du Diois   
 (SAPAD), world leader in organic essential oils (25% market  
 share), specialized in aromatic and medicinal plants

 Hitex, specialized in supercritical CO2 extraction of natural  
 active ingredients

 Bionov, global producers of a 100% natural and bioactive   
 anti-oxidant enzyme, SuperOxide Dismutase

Through its integrated sourcing approach, the Group has established 
joint ventures in recent years with local companies in order to secure 
the supply of strategic raw materials. There are joint ventures in the 
following countries 

  Spain, for a variety of fruits (oranges, peaches, strawberries, 
apples, and more)

 Madagascar, ylang-ylang, vanilla, cloves, patchouli, etc.
 New Caledonia, for sandalwood
Finally, with the same objectives in mind, partnerships have also been 
made in many countries throughout the world such as Salvador, 
Equator, Bolivia, Venezuela, Morocco, Tunisia, India, Ukraine and 
Somalia.

Through its subsidiaries, joint ventures, and investments, the Group 
operates in 50 countries and on 5 continents.

AMBITION

Our goal is to maintain our place among the top 10 companies 
in the aromatic industry. This goal must be achieved while 
respecting our values, because these values shape our identity 
and are the foundation of our reputation:

Cultivation
of heritage

Rigorous

management

Work focused

on the long-term

Creativity

and innovation

Respect

and courtesy

Significance
for the company
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 VIETNAM

 -  Ho Chi Minh

 FRANCE   ISO-GFSI

 -  Grasse
 - Paris
 - Vercheny, 

  SAPAD raw materials
 - Vannes, HITEX

 SOUTH AFRICA

 -  Rustenburg 

 GERMANY

   -  Cologne

 ARGENTINA  ISO 9001:2015

 -  Buenos Aires

 BRAZIL ISO-GFSI

 -  São Paulo

 CHINA   ISO-GFSI

 -  Beijing
 - Shanghai 
 - Guangzhou 

 COLOMBIA

     -  Bogota  

 UAE

 -  Dubaï

 SPAIN

    -  Leida R.I. Natural

 - Barcelone
 - Yecla, Finca Carasquilla

 USA  ISO-GFSI

 -  NYC
 -  Mount Olive
 -  Piscataway 

 INDIA

 - Mumbai 
 - Goa 

INDONESIA

 -  Jakarta 

 ITALY

 -  Milan

 JAPAN  ISO-GFSI

 -  Tokyo

 MEXICO  ISO-GFSI

 -  Mexico

 PHILIPPINES

 - Manille

 UKI

 - Haslemere

 RUSSIA

 -  Moscou 

 SINGAPORE

 - Singapour

 THAILAND

 -  Bangkok 

 TURKEY

 -  Senir 

 FACTORIES

 SALES OFFICE



For more than 160 years, Robertet has 
beenconducting its activities in keeping with 
thephilosophy and fundamental principles 
ofsustainable development such as long-term vision, 
sustainability of natural resources, conservation of 
biodiversity, appreciation of ancestral know-how, 
and respect for human dignity. With the emergence 
and generalization of the CSR (Corporate Social 
Responsibility) concept, the Group has gradually 
formalized and structured its approach. As a leader 
in natural products, the Group’s customers are very 
demanding, particularly in the areas of traceability 
and the sustainable management of production 
chains for natural raw materials.

INTRODUCTION TO
THE CSR STRATEGY

In 2017, based on the identification of the main 
issues of sustainable development, the Robertet 
Group defined a new CSR strategy for 2025. This 
strategy is based on a unique raison d’être, to 
explore and enrich the living world. Supported by 
CSR governance and organization, this strategy 
is broken down into 4 major axes, associated 
with specific commitments and objectives. It is 
synthesized in the diagram below:

CSR Initiatives
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ETHICS

In all the countries where it operates, the Robertet Group 
respects the laws in force and applies international standards 
for human rights. To consolidate into one document its main 
ethical commitments, Robertet has defined an Ethics Charter, 
which is distributed to and signed by all its employees. Updated 
in 2013, the principles of this Ethics Charter are:

 ~  Respect of employees’ rights (non-discrimination, 
equal treatment, respect for dialogue, respect 
and courtesy towards individuals)

 ~ Health and safety at work

 ~ Safety and quality of products

 ~ Respect for the environment

 ~  Confidentiality of customer information and data

 ~  Sustainable relationships with customers and suppliers

 ~ Respect for laws

In 2017, the Group also drafted a Business Ethics Charter. Its aim 
is to promote business that respects both ethics and the law. 
With a reminder of the ten principles of the UN Global Compact, 
it formalizes in writing the behavioral ethics to be applied by 
each employee in their professional relations. The Business 
Ethics Charter addresses issues of competition, confidentiality, 
choice and fair treatment of suppliers, bribery and facilitation 
payments, gifts and invitations. It has been distributed internally 
to the purchasing department and to all sales representatives of 
each of the Group's subsidiaries.

The robertet group's CSR strategy:

❶ Living terroirs
 • Living terroirsmplement ecological 

agricultural practices for sourcing 
 • Deploy actions aimed at protecting 

biodiversity and the natural world

❷ Human development
  Provide working and living conditions that 

promote the development of all individuals:
 •In the supply chain
 •Within the Group

❸ Sustainable processes
 •Implement a quality and CSR management system
 • Continuously reduce the environmental  

impacts of production sites

❹ Natural and innovative processes
 • mprove environmental assessment 

of processes and products
 •Create and develop new natural products

CSR GOVERNANCE AND ORGANIZATION

In 2008, Robertet established a CRS Committee with the 
responsibility of following-up and implementing action plans 
associated with the CRS strategy.
This CRS Committee is made up of a multidisciplinary team that 
includes all the strategic departments: quality, human resources, 
HSE (hygiene, safety, and environment), sales, marketing, 
communications, purchasing, regulatory affairs… It is presided 
by Julien Maubert, Director of the Raw Materials Division. The 
CRS Committee meets every quarter to gather information on 
actions being carried out in the Group, as well as identify actions 
to be initiated on a short- and long-term basis.
From now until 2025, the Group aims to appoint at least one CSR 
point person in each of its subsidiaries in France and worldwide.



CSR REPORT

The Robertet Group has been publishing a CSR report every 
year since 2016 in order to meet both the requirements of 
Article 225 of the Grenelle ll Law on the publication of social, 
environmental and societal information (a correspondence 
table between the indicators and Article 225 is appended 
herein) ; and to present the Group's CSR approach as a 
whole.

The scope of this report includes all the Group's production 
subsidiaries: Robertet SA (Grasse), Robertet Argentina, 
Robertet Brazil, Robertet USA, Robertet Mexico, Robertet 
UK, Robertet Turkey, Robertet Bulgaria, Robertet South 
Africa Aromatics, Robertet China, Robertet Singapore, 
Charabot, SA Plantes Aromatiques du Diois (SAPAD), as 
well as Hitex and Bionov, acquired in October 2016 and 
added to the scope of this year's report. 

In order to further deepen its 
expertise in natural products 
and have access to the best 
sources of ingredients, Robertet 
has developed an integrated 
approach to sourcing, called 
"Seed to Scent.”

Seed to Scent Approach

Marketing subsidiaries, as well as entities in which the Group has a 
minority stake (Fragrant Garden, SNN, and Indulleida, among others) 
have also been excluded. 

This report requires the collection of a large amount of CSR data from 
subsidiaries, some indicators have a limited scope or are derived from 
estimates. Where appropriate, these methodological limitations are 
specified in the report.
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“Seed to Scent” involves 5 sourcing approaches, differentiated 
according to level of risks and the strategic importance associated 
with the natural raw materials:

❶ Standard purchasing of raw materials

❷  Partnerships, when some conditions go beyond a 
standard purchase (for example, when Robertet  
pre-finances harvests)

❸  Joint-ventures, when Robertet holds less than 50%  
of the supplier’s capital

❹  Local subsidiary, when Robertet holds more than  
de 50%  of the company’s capital

❺ Acquisition and cultivation of land by Robertet

This strategy, unique to the Robertet Group, makes it possible 

to secure supplies, strengthen the traceability and safety of raw 

materials, and more effectively deploy sustainable development 

actions for sourcing.

PURCHASING NATURAL RAW MATERIALS

To ensure the quality and sustainability of the raw materials 

purchased, the Group continuously evaluates its supply sources. 

Robertet uses three separate tools to promote CSR throughout 

its supply chain for its suppliers and producers of raw materials: 

the supplier ethics charter, supplier evaluations, and supplier 

audits. These tools are in addition to the on-site visits that the 

Group's sourcing teams regularly make to their suppliers.

Supplier Ethics Charter

In 2017, the Groupe renewed its Ethics Charter intended for 

suppliers. Going beyond compliance to applicable regulations in 

their countries, the Charter commits suppliers to the following : 

 ~  Respect for labor rights, and in particular: prohibition of child 

labor or forced labor; respect for freedom of association 

and collective bargaining and equal opportunities; 

implementation of adequate pay and working conditions.

La santé et la sécurité au travail

 ~ Health and safety at work 

 ~  Respect for animals

 ~  Ethical practices

In 2018 all of our suppliers have signed this ethical Charter.
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SUPPLIER EVALUATIONS

Evaluation Method
The Robertet Group has built a comprehensive CSR evaluation 
system for its suppliers of natural raw materials, since sustainable 
development issues are intimately linked to the strategic 
challenges of securing supply chains and improving the quality of 
raw materials. The purpose of this system, completely renovated 
in 2017 and used for purchasing from its main subsidiaries, is to 
enable Robertet SA and Charabot to determine whether a raw 
material purchased is sustainable or not. The objective of this 
evaluation is not to sanction suppliers but to identify those 
for whom CSR support is necessary. The method incorporates 
several criteria:

On the one hand, essential criteria concerning a natural raw 
material, such as whether the botanical species is known or not, 
its geographical origin, whether it is identified or not, and its 
estimated or controlled traceability.

On the other hand, risk management criteria, including three  
types of evaluations : 

 ~  Risk assessment of the country
 ~ Raw material evaluation
 ~ Supplier evaluation

The country’s risk assessment is based on an analysis of several 
types of risks: strategic, geopolitical, economic and financial, 
corruption, social, climatic and transfer and convertibility of 
currency. It is mainly compiled using recognized international 
databases.

The aim of the raw material evaluation is to determine the level 
of the purchased ingredient’s sustainability, whether it is wild or 
cultivated. The questions are about traceability, the conservation 
of natural resources (biodiversity, agricultural practices, soil, 
water) and environmental impacts connected to the processing 
and transport of the raw materials.

As for the supplier evaluation, its purpose is to determine the 

level of the supplier’s sustainability as a company. The questions 

are about the general organization of CSR, respect of human 

rights, hygiene and safety of employees, conservation of 

water and energy in production processes, pollution and waste 

management, and, finally, impacts on the local economy.

The Group then adapts its approach to sourcing based on the 

ratings obtained in these three different evaluations and the 

estimated overall risk level :

 ~   When the risk is low (score higher than 70%), the Group 

carries out a standard purchase and does not offer any 

special support.

 ~   When the risk is moderate (score between 40% and 70%), 

the Group sets up a closer collaboration, for example, 

through the creation of a partnership, joint venture, or 

subsidiary.

 ~   When the risk is high (score less than 40%), the raw material 

is considered unsustainable. In this case, the Groupe initially 

puts in place improvement actions with the supplier. If no 

progress is made, ultimately the supplier can be withdrawn 

from the supplier list. 

Finally, it should be noted that Robertet SA and Charabot are 

also evaluating their synthetic ingredient suppliers. In 2017, 139 

suppliers were evaluated.
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In 2016, R o b e r t e t 
decided to explore an 
entirely new form of 
sourcing: the company 

bought a farm, Finca Carasquilla in Spain, to grow its own natural 
raw materials. Although some of the Group's subsidiaries own and 
cultivate land, this is the first time the Group has invested in an 
agricultural project of this size. This farm’s purpose is to secure 
the supply of the Group’s strategic raw materials and provide 
natural ingredients for research and experimentation to uncover  
their health or beauty properties. 

Robertet SA and Michel Meneuvrier, General Manager of 
SAPAD, each hold 50% of Finca Carasquilla. The site covers about  
180 hectares and includes a 1000m2 farmhouse. Plant varieties 
grown on this land, fully certified organic since the beginning of 
2018, include lemon balm, chamomile, immortelle (also called 
everlasting), rose, rosemary, thyme, oregano and clary sage. 
During harvests, SAPAD transfers two mobile distillation units to 
the site for processing. After a full year of production in 2017, Finca 
Carasquilla has become one of the top 20 suppliers
of SAPAD’s natural raw materials. 

On a smaller scale, the Group also has nearly 57 hectares around its 
production site in South Africa, where it cultivates varieties such 
as jasmine, vetiver, and rosemary. The subsidiary in Turkey has 4.3 
hectares where varieties of iris and rose are grown. 

The group’s farms
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2018 Results

The raw material and supplier questionnaires are systematically 
sent to approximately one group of suppliers per year.

Between 2012 and 2018, 72% of natural raw material purchases, 
in value, were covered by these evaluations. The Group's goal by 
2025 is to evaluate 100% of its suppliers every five years.

The last mailing, made in 2017 and 2018, showed an average 
response rate of 68% for the raw material evaluation and 75% for 
the supplier evaluation. The average score among respondents 
was 66% and 73% respectively.

Audits and CSR Action Plans

Based on the scores obtained by the suppliers during their 
evaluations, the Robertet Group decides whether it should 
conduct an audit and initiate improvement actions. The decision 
is made in a concerted manner, based, among other things, on the 
strategic aspect of the production chain and the demands of the 
Group's customers.

Robertet's policy is to conduct at least one audit a year, focusing 
either on a supply country or a family of products. The purpose of 
these audits is primarily to support the supplier in an improvement 
plan.

When its practices are deemed unsatisfactory, the supplier 
is only removed from the supplier list if it is not able to make  
improvements. In all other cases where there is room for 
improvement, Robertet initiates a support plan with the 
concerned suppliers.

CSR audits are carried out by an independent external service 
provider. They evaluate the supplier's practices in terms of human 
rights and labor rights (for example, child labor, employment 
contracts, pay, health and safety, etc.) as well as environmental 
protection (e.g., conservation of resources, use of pesticides and 
synthetic fertilizers, etc.). Audits are usually conducted during 
harvest periods when employment and associated risks are highest.

The audit report evaluates the risk and performance levels of the 
supplier, considering both international regulations and local 
standards.

In April 2017, a major audit was conducted with an ambrette  
(or musk mallow) supplier located in El Salvador. This partner’s 
five farms were audited according to the SMETA 4 pillars standard 
(working conditions, health and safety, environment, and ethics). 
Several areas of noncompliance were identified.

To remedy the situation, the supplier hired a CSR manager and the 
majority of noncompliances were resolved in collaboration with 
Robertet during 2017.

In 2018 were deployed actions such as the implementation of a 
method for analyzing drinking water on plantations, the creation 
of a manual for recycling agrochemical residues and formalization 
procedures for work accidents involving agricultural employees.



43% of raw materials purchased by the Group are natural raw 
materials, and the majority of them are cultivated. Because 
it is impossible to obtain quality plants on depleted soil 
and in degraded ecosystems, it is essential that Robertet 
ensure the sustainability of agricultural practices adopted 
by its producers. In  addition to assessing the environmental 
impact of its production chains, the Group supports 
producers in the implementation of more environmentally 
friendly agriculture.

Living Terroirs

Loss of biodiversity, soil erosion, deforestation, climate 
change, etc. Human activity has many impacts on nature 
which represent challenges for businesses. The Robertet 
Group, as a leader for natural raw materials in its industry, 
with more than 1130 references purchased throughout 
the world, is all the more aware of these issues which can 
have  a direct impact on its activity. For a long time, the 
Group has understood the value of the living world and the 
need to preserve it. Today, Robertet wants to strengthen 
its contribution and ensure the life of terroirs through two 
major commitments:

 ~  Implementation of ecological farming practices for 
sourcing natural raw materials

 ~  Deployment of actions to protect biodiversity and 
natural heritage in supply countries
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897

1137

1158

2 0 1 7

2 0 1 7

2 0 1 6

2 0 1 6

2 0 1 8

2 0 1 8

Number of Varieties purchased by the Group

Volume of Natural Raw Materials 
purchased by the Group, in tonnes

12 323

12 997

13 268

Our 
Objectives

to 2025 

30%

100%

100%

of natural raw materials purchased, in terms of 
volume, will be certified organic

of production chains evaluated as presenting a 
high risk of non-sustainability on environmental 
factors will be subject to improvement actions 
implemented by the Group

of the purchases of natural raw materials of 
Robertet Grasse et Charabot, in terms of value, 
will be covered by an environmental assessment at 
least every 5 years To target the production chains most at risk in terms of 

sustainability, Robertet SA and Charabot send evaluation 
questionnaires to their suppliers. One of them deals 
exclusively with the environmental impact of the raw material. 
Several questions make it possible to obtain information 
on agricultural practices adopted by producers: integration 
of areas dedicated to biodiversity on cultivated plots, use 
of pesticides and fertilizers, soil conservation actions, 
certifications obtained, water consumption and quality 
measurement, etc.

Depending on the risks identified, the Group may implement 
actions to support and improve the practices of producers. 
The Group's 2025 objective is to deploy actions in 100% of the 
production chains evaluated that present a high risk in terms 
of environmental impacts.

In the latest environmental impact assessment of raw 
materials, the results of the 37 responding suppliers showed 
that the average performance was rather high, with an 
average score of 71 out of 100.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
ASSESSMENT OF RAW MATERIALS
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Since it holds only a small amount of land overall, the Robertet 
Group may have to ask farmers, through partnerships, to 
cultivate certain plants on its behalf. In 2018, 275 varieties of 
raw materials were grown directly or indirectly for the Group. In 
total, these purchases amounted to 3,059 tonnes, an increase 
of 15% compared to 2016. This significant increase is due to the 
Group's desire to further develop partnerships with its raw 
material producers.

In the context of these partnerships, in addition to the 
financial aspect (discussed in the next chapter), Robertet often 
provides other support to its suppliers and producers. This 
support can be found in seeds and plants to develop specific 
qualities, agronomic advice on crops and harvesting methods, 
or information for farmers on the risks associated with the 
handling and use of pesticides. In Turkey and Bulgaria, for 
example, every year before each harvest, local suppliers are 
made aware of the proper use of pesticides by a Group expert. 
In Madagascar, Bulgaria, and India, the Group provides training 
for local farmers, particularly on methods for harvesting 
flowers.

The Group can also help producers reduce the environmental 
impact of their plantations. For example, in Bulgaria, Robertet 
financed drip irrigation equipment and set up a system for 
recycling and composting residue

In 2017, to go further with the implementation of responsible 
and sustainable agriculture, Robertet defined a policy for 
the application of Good Agricultural Practices or GAP. The 
objective is to be able to offer safe raw materials, respecting 
the environment, and produced by operatives whose living 
conditions support their well-being. Robertet's GAP policy 
is applicable to all the Group’s suppliers. It is accompanied 
by several tools to help producers improve, including the 
establishment of CSR-related certifications, evaluation 
questionnaires (mentioned above) and CSR audits.

Finally, at Finca Carasquilla, the farm acquired by the Group 
in Spain in 2016, Robertet wants to manage an agricultural 
project that is as environmentally friendly as possible. Since it 
is a dry region, several measures have been taken to optimize 
water management: Robertet has repaired and created several 
storage ponds with a total capacity of 90,000 m3. The company 
has also installed an innovative water distribution technique 
with a buried drip system. Some agricultural waste is crushed 
and spread to safeguard the land’s moisture. Overall, all farm 
waste is recovered: packaging waste is recycled, and organic 
waste is composted.

Ecological Agricultural Practices

Volume of Raw Materials cultivated for the Group, in tonnes

2669 30592 0 1 7 2 0 1 8

GOOD AGRICULTURAL PRATICES
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ORGANIC FARMING

Since organic farming is a real solution to protect rural 
biodiversity and preserve soil quality, the Group's goal is 
to have 30% of its natural raw materials certified organic by 
2025. To accomplish this, Robertet encourages and assists 
producers who wish to change from conventional agriculture 
to organic farming. This took place in Corsica, where 
immortelle producers are now committed to respecting 
organic farming specifications, as well as in India, where the 
Group has advised and assisted producers in converting their 
farmland.

In 2018, 226 of the 1,158 varieties of natural raw materials 
purchased by the Group were certified organic. In terms of 
volume, these purchases of organic ingredients accounted 
for 815 tonnes, or 6.1% of the Group's purchases of natural 
materials. Although this is still a small portion of the Group's 
purchases, the evolution is very positive since the volume 
of organic raw materials purchased has increased by 70% 
compared to 2015.

Among other reasons, this strong growth can be explained by 
the increase in purchases of organic materials from Robertet's 
subsidiary in the United States, whose Mount Olive site 
obtained the US organic certification in 2016. Nevertheless, 
the subsidiary that contributes the most to organic material 
purchases remains SAPAD, which alone buys 138 different 
varieties and 455 tonnes of certified organic raw materials, 
about 92% of its purchases of natural materials.

The Group also promotes organic farming on its own 
farmland. The 180 hectares of Finca Carasquilla in Spain have 
been fully converted to organic farming and certification was 
obtained in February 2018. Likewise, in South Africa, several 
hectares are dedicated to organic farming.

Biodiversity 
and Natural Heritage

To explore the world’s natural ingredients, Robertet must 
source from countries rich in biodiversity. When countries 
are developing, economic pressure sometimes leads to the 
destruction or degradation of ecosystems and natural heritage, 
including the use of land for other purposes. The Group 
contributes to maintaining and conserving biodiversity through 
the application of the Nagoya Protocol, but also through the 
implementation of specific projects in some sourcing countries.

NAGOYA PROTOCOL

The Nagoya Protocol was adopted at the 10th United Nations 
Convention on Biological Diversity in 2010. Beyond the simple 
conservation of biodiversity, this Protocol aims to promote the 
fair and equitable sharing of benefits resulting from the use of 
genetic resources and to fight against biopiracy. In pursuit of this 
objective, the Nagoya Protocol establishes "Access and Benefit 
Sharing" for research and development (R&D) projects involving 
genetic resources. It proposes a legislative framework that each 
country is free to sign and adapt for its implementation.

601

725

815

2 0 1 7

2 0 1 6

2 0 1 8

Volume Certified Organic Raw Materials
purchased by the Group, in tonnes
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The Group’s priority is primarily to identify its R&D projects 
that are concerned by the Nagoya Protocol and to ensure their 
compliance. In 2016, Robertet implemented several actions :

 ~  Robertet defined an internal process with a list of steps to 
follow from the start of an R&D project. This process involves 
all the divisions concerned: R&D, sourcing, and regulatory 

affairs.

 ~  A transdisciplinary team responsible for the Nagoya Protocol 

within the Group was created.

 ~  The expertise of the R&D team under the Nagoya Protocol 
was strengthened through training, the subject’s integration 
into research processes, etc.

 ~  A brochure on the Nagoya Protocol was produced to 
provide information to Robertet employees, customers, and 
suppliers.

 ~  Questions about compliance with the Nagoya Protocol were 
included in the Group's supplier evaluation questionnaires.

As a leader in natural aromatic raw materials, the Group has 
decided that, in line with the Nagoya Protocol, it will gradually 
move beyond regulations and associated laws. Moreover, the 
Group is committed to implementing the Nagoya Protocol on 
access and benefit sharing for all its R&D projects related to new 
species (i.e., those not listed in the Group), even if the supply 
countries are not members of the Nagoya Protocol, and even if 
no local law is associated with it.

For R&D projects on existing raw materials (i.e., those already 

listed in the Group), whose purpose is to develop new applications, 

the Group will set up the Nagoya Protocol on access and benefit 

sharing on a case-by-case basis, depending on the context and 

the demands of its customers.

CONSERVATION ACTIONS

For several years, the Group has been carrying out conservation 
actions for natural heritage in its supply countries. In 
Madagascar, Robertet works with a Malagasy family via a joint 
venture and plants 10,000 ylang-ylang plants every year to 
ensure its sustainability. The Group also left intact 100 hectares 
of virgin forests—half of the property—and is conducting a 
census of the local flora and fauna.

In New Caledonia, Robertet created a joint venture with 
members of a Kanak community to produce sandalwood 
oil and set up an extensive reforestation program in 2009, 
currently going through the FSC certification process, to replant 
thousands of trees in their natural biotope every year.

Often, actions to conserve a plant also contribute to the 
preservation of local knowledge of the territory. In Grasse, 
Robertet signed several long-term partnerships with rose and 
jasmine producers in 2016 to perpetuate the historic production 
chains found there.

Finally, following the controversy surrounding the exploitation 
of palm oil and its impacts in terms of deforestation and 
destruction of ecosystems, the Group has committed to 
increasing the share of its purchases of palm oil and its 
derivatives that are RSPO certified. The goal of the Roundtable 
for Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO) certification is to promote the 
cultivation and use of sustainable palm oil. In 2017, the Robertet 
Group purchased 32.5 tonnes of RSPO certified palm oil, which 
represents 18% of its total palm oil purchases.
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Human
Development

As a family-owned mid-sized company, close, 
lasting,and quality human relations are an important 
part of the Group's development strategy. These 
connections can only be created in a context 
where human rights are respected, safety at work 
is assured, jobs are stable, wages are decent, and 
skills are valued. The Robertet Group is committed 
to providing working and living conditions that allow 
and promote the development of all individuals, 
moving forward together:

 ~   Within its supply chain, with its suppliersof 
natural raw materials and their communities 

 ~  Within Group, with its employees

50% 100%

100% 80%

of the purchases of natural 
raw materials, in volume, 
will be made with the 
producers in the framework 
of long-term partnerships 
lasting more than 3 years

of the production chains 
evaluated that show high 
risk in terms of human rights 
or working conditions will 
have improvement actions 
implemented by the Group

of the Group’s employees 
will benefit from at least  one 
training program per year

of purchases of natural 
raw materials by Robertet 
Grasse and Charabot, 
in value, will involve an 
evaluation of the supplier’s 
social responsibility at least 
every five years

Our 
Objectives

for 2025
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The Robertet Group sources its supplies worldwide, in countries 
with varying levels of economic development. Through its 
purchasing, the Group can play a real role in improving the 
social and economic conditions of its suppliers and their 
communities. Among other things, partnerships are a valuable 
tool for both securing the Group's supplies and supporting 
producers technically and financially, thus ensuring greater 
stability.

EVALUATION OF SUPPLIER CRS POLICIES

In addition to the CSR raw materials evaluation, Robertet SA and 
Charabot send their suppliers a CSR evaluation questionnaire 
of their companies. Several questions relate to social aspects 
of CSR, especially to labor law (compliance with International 
Labor Organization standards, prohibition of child and forced 
labor, respect for freedom of association and collective 
bargaining, etc.), health and safety of employees (including for 
the use of chemical substances), and the supplier’s involvement 
in local economic development (fair trade, use of local providers 
and employees, sponsorships). 

This information enables the Group to identify suppliers who 
have potential risks in terms of human rights or working 
conditions, and to provide them with support. The Group has 
set itself the goal for 2025 of initiating actions in 100% of the 
productions chains evaluated that show a high risk on social 
issues. 

In the last CSR supplier evaluation, the results showed a slightly 
lower performance than for the raw materials evaluation, with 
an average score of 63 out of 100 for the 26 suppliers who 
responded. Respect for labor rights and employee safety, 
followed by local economic development are the areas in which 
suppliers score rather high (82/100 and 73/100 respectively). 
On the other hand, questions concerning the organization of 
CSR and certifications received have lower scores (23/100 on 
average), reflecting a lack of formalization by suppliers of their 
approach to CSR.

Throughout
the Supply Chain

RESPECT FOR HUMAN RIGHTS

Because it works in many supply countries and the company’s 
suppliers of raw materials work in the agricultural sector, the 
Group is exposed to risks involving the respect for human 
rights. 
Robertet strictly prohibits its subsidiaries, suppliers, and 
partners from resorting to forced or compulsory labor. This 
may be an issue, for example, in countries with high migratory 
flows and where farmers use seasonal workers for harvesting.

As for child labor, the Group prohibits the employment of 
minors under 16 years of age. Nevertheless, Robertet tolerates 
child labor among its international partners when it is light work 
that does not endanger the child's health and development, is 
part of their education, and is compatible with their schooling. 
This may be the case in some supply countries when children 
help their parents in the fields. The Group is vigilant in ensuring 
that this occasional activity does not hinder their well-being 
or education and that it remains in compliance with the 
International Labor Organization Conventions. Each year, the 
Group raises its partners’ awareness about this subject.
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LONG-TERM PARTNERSHIPS

To secure the most strategic production chains, it is necessary to go 
beyond the evaluation of suppliers and to become more involved 
in the sustainability and improvement of natural raw materials. 
To accomplish this, long-term partnerships are a solution because 
they provide the Group with supplies while providing suppliers with 
financial stability and an outlet for their products.
These partnerships also represent an opportunity to transmit know-
how and technical skills. Thus, Robertet hopes that by 2025, 50% of 
its volume purchases of natural raw materials will be covered by 
partnerships that last more than three years.
To support suppliers financially,partnership agreements usually 
include pre-financing or product purchases at pre-defined prices. 
With farmers, Robertet is generally committed to pre-financing the 
harvest. For example :

 ~  In Turkey, the Group has been financing 50% of the rose 
plantations for more than 60 years to provide advanced 
minimum income to the 20,000 producers who harvest the rose 
petals every year.

 ~  In Bulgaria, the Group has recently pre-financed new rose and 
lavender gardens

 ~  In South Africa, Robertet pre-finances the harvest of 
spilanthes, which guarantees the income of 30 persons who 
make their living from this activity.

 ~  In Corsica, Robertet developed a 7-year partnership in 2017 
for the cultivation and marketing of imperial immortelle (also 
known as everlasting of Corsica or Corsican helichrysum). 
Robertet pre-finances the plants, contributes to the purchase 
of mechanical harvesting equipment and buys the products 
delivered at a pre-defined price. The supplier is committed 
to cultivating 35 hectares of immortelle exclusively for the 
Group, which will be transformed into essential oil.Auprès des 
fournisseurs ayant des installations de production, 

 ~ Robertet can also pre-finance equipment to help suppliers 
who have production facilities improve their production 
technologies and processes. For example:

 ~  In Bolivia, Robertet financed distillation equipment..

 ~  In Madagascar, the Group contributed to the purchase 
of stainless steel equipment, which both reduced the 
environmental impact of the distillation process and 
increased the quality of the ylang-ylang oil produced. 

 ~  In Nouvelle Calédonie, Robertet built a distillation and 
extraction unit that operates with 100% recycled solvents. 

 ~  In Egypt, the Group contributed to the R&D of its suppliers 
to optimize their yields and develop new processes for 
cultivating and extracting jasmine.

 ~  In El Salvador, Robertet pre-financed ambrette 
plantations, brought its mobile distillery to the site, and 
provided technical assistance to the producers

In 2018, 215 formal or moral partnerships with terms of more 
than three years were in force, covering 35% of the Group's 
total number of producers and suppliers. In terms of volume, 
7,068 tonnes of natural raw materials were purchased under 
long-term partnerships, representing 54% of the Group's total 
natural raw material purchases.
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LOCAL DEVELOPMENT AND SPONSORSHIPS

The Group sources some of its raw materials in developing countries, 
where there can be real issues of poverty, infrastructure, and access 
to schooling. Here, Robertet gets involved with local communities 
by contributing to the financing of medical care, the development of 
infrastructure or the costs of operating rural schools. This support can 
be done directly or through local NGOs.

As an example, in Madagascar, SAPAD has been a partner since 2003 
with the School Association, which brings together producers and 
organic companies who want to promote schooling for children. 
The objective of the association is to participate in the education of 
children by emphasizing respect of local traditions, hygiene, organic 
farming and forest management, in a way adapted to local terroirs and 
human potential. On the one hand, the association uses donations to 
build schools and back projects dedicated to the social well-being of 
rural populations. On the other hand, it directs sponsorships between 
European and Madagascan families intended to educate children. 
The funds paid by SAPAD are collected on income from packaging 
reclamation.

As another example, in Brazil, Robertet offers support to local NGOs 
working in childhood protection fields (defense of children's rights) 
and health (support for former drug addicts and people living with 
HIV).

In 2017, in Haiti, Robertet donated 45,000 euros to a fundraiser to 
rebuild homes destroyed by a hurricane.

Finally, Robertet’s sponsorships are not limited to developing 
countries. In France and the United States, the Group financially 
supports several local associations related to its business (e.g., the 
Perfume Museum in Grasse) or acts in the fields of health and sports.

In 2018, Robertet donated 125,100 euros to charitable causes in 
France and worldwide.

le Prix de 
l’Audace Créatrice

In September 2016, the Robertet Group was awarded the 
Prix de l’Audace Créatrice by the President of the Republic. 
This prize distinguishes French entrepreneurs who have 
simultaneously increased their earnings, profitability, and 
workforce in France and on French territories



Within the Robertet Group

Of course, the Group's primary responsibility is to offer its own 
human resources a work environment that promotes individual 
and collective development. For this purpose, Robertet 
acts through four main gateways: sustainable employment, 
training and the transmission of know-how, improvement of 
working conditions, and equality between men and women in 
the workplace.

SUSTAINABLE EMPLOYMENT

Although it is now present around the world, the Group is 
attached to the city of Grasse, world capital of perfumes, where 
the company was created in 1850. To ensure the continuity 
of Robertet's activities in Grasse, and therefore insure local 
jobs, the Group decided in 2016 to invest 40 million euros in its 
Grasse infrastructure between 2016 and 2019. The purpose of 
these investments is to optimize the logistics of the flavoring 
and perfumery divisions and to increase the Group’s production 
capacities. Beyond the borders of Grasse, Robertet’s total 
global workforce in 2017 was 1,712 employees, not including 
the marketing sector and joint ventures, i.e., an increase of 7% 
compared to 2015. An overwhelming majority (96%) of these 
employees have signed permanent contracts. Reflecting the 
increase in its activity, the Group hired 236 new employees 
in 2017, compared with 188 departures, representing a net 
increase of 48 employees. As proof of its desire to retain talent, 
the Group's average seniority (including recently created 
subsidiaries like Robertet China and Singapore) was 11.2 years 
in 2017.

Group's Total Workforce in 2017 by

Geographic Regions

Europe 56 %

18 %

15 %

USA

Latin America

Asia 6 %

Africa-Middle East 5 %
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The Group's objective, by 2025, is for 80% of its employees to 
benefit from at least one training session every year.

In Grasse, Robertet has a training catalogue that covers the diverse 
skillsets of the Group’s employees: perfumery and flavorings, 
chemistry, legislation, management and communication, personal 
development, office and IT skills. In 2017, the company’s main 
training modules were :

 ~  Safety and regulatory compliance (e.g., good manufacturing 
practices)

 ~  Managerial support, both for service managers or team 
leaders, and for project management in general

 ~ Support for division projects (e.g., the creation of flavorings)

 ~  Customer relations (e.g., public speaking and customer 
communications)

 ~  Transmission of know-how between generations, via inhouse 
training and tutorials

Apprenticeships are a good means of developing skills. Several 
years ago, Charabot conceived a custom-made training program 
for work-study programs and in 2017, it introduced a specific 
training course for the transmission of skills. In Robertet Grasse, 12 
apprentices or work-study participants joined the company during 
the year, 3 of whom signed a fixed-term contract.

The average number of training hours increased by 27% to 9.2 hours 
per employee. Most employees were trained with 60% of the total 
workforce receiving training during the year.

The Group strives to maintain fair wages and benefits for all its 
employees. In 2017, a Compulsory Annual Negotiation Agreement 
was signed in Robertet Grasse, including a fixed increase in gross 
salaries effective in November of this year. The determination to 
offer employee benefits also applies to subsidiaries abroad, such 
as Robertet USA and South Africa, where employees also benefit 
from mutual and complementary health insurance. In 2018, the 
Group's total gross compensation amounted to 86.7 million.

Beyond monetary benefits, the Group seeks to enable a balance 
between work and family life. For example, 9 years ago Robertet 
co-financed the creation of an inter-company day care center in 
Grasse and pays subsidies to parents for children up to 17 years 
old.

KNOW-HOW AND SKILLS

Transmission of know-how and development of skills is a key 
issue for the Group for two main reasons. On the one hand, like 
Robertet and Charabot, which have been in existence for more 
than 160 years, some of the Group's subsidiaries hold unique 
know-how developed over decades. This expertise contributes 
to the Group's intangible capital and is the basis of its reputation 
on the flavoring and fragrance market. On the other hand, the 
Group is headquartered in the city of Grasse, historically known 
for its perfume industry. Thus, by contributing to the local 
maintenance of its know-how, Robertet also contributes to the 
preservation of trades involved in the perfume industry in this 
region.

Its corporate culture and the know-how of its employees are 
transmitted on a daily basis, often informally. More formally, 
occupational training is a preferred tool for developing the 
staff’s skills and expertise. 

IN 2018, THE GROUP'S TOTAL TRAINING 
EXPENSES WERE

€ 915 198
+61% COMPARED TO 2015.

1644

1712

1860

2 0 1 7

2 0 1 6

2 0 1 8

Group's Total Wrokforce

P E R M A N E N T  C O N T R A C T S

Group's Total Workforce in 2018 by type of contract

96%
T E M P O R A R Y  C O N T R A C T S

4%
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WORKING CONDITIONS

In line with the Group's desire to maintain a very humane approach in 
its relations with employees despite its growth. Robertet pays special 
attention to the quality of working conditions within the Group. This 
quality includes the improvement of health and safety at work, and an 
open and constructive dialogue with employees

Health and Safety at Work

As part of the Group's HSE (Hygiene, Safety, Environment) 
management system, several procedures coexist to reduce 
the risk of accidents at work. All employees are regularly made 
aware and trained in the prevention of occupational risks. At 
Robertet Grasse, hygiene, health and safety are integrated into 
the welcome booklet given to each new employee. Safety audits 
are also conducted. In Charabot, since 2017, an ATEX referent (for 
potentially explosive areas) trains employees internally through 
three different training programs depending on the jobs of the 
trainees.

Given the nature of the Group's production processes, employee 
exposure to hazardous chemicals is monitored and, as far as 
possible, limited (e,g., hazardous substances are substituted with 
less hazardous ones). In September 2016, a chemical risk exposure 
commission was set up within Robertet Grasse to assess the state 
of hazardous products and identify the necessary collective and 
individual protections in place.

After analysis, this commission will propose both organizational 
and technical actions, such as audits or exposure measurement 
campaigns.

Finally, complying with regulations once again in 2017, Robertet 
Grasse conducted a hardship analysis for six risk factors. The 
results showed that only 9 employees were exposed to a risk 
factor, in this case working in successive shifts, i.e., 1.3% of the 
company’s workforce.

Corporate Dialogue

A family group, Robertet favors dialogue and direct 
communication, including between management and employees. 
In France and in some international subsidiaries, the in-house 
dialogue is structured, with bodies representing employees (staff 
and union delegates, work committee, committees for health, 
safety, and working conditions) who meet regularly. In 2017, four 
collective agreements were signed in the Group. In total, 58% of 
employees are represented by employee representative bodies.

Health and Safety at Work:

an issue for all our employees around the world

 ~  In Bulgaria, safety training is provided for each 
new employee, as well as before each harvesting 
campaign (roses, lavender). Every year, medical 
examinations are also organized for the entire team.

 ~  In Argentina, health and safety training 
takes place twice a year.

 ~  In Turkey, health and safety standards have been raised, 
particularly regarding protective equipment and safety rules.

 ~  In the United States, Wellness Fair is organized 
each year with thirty exhibitors to promote 
healthier lifestyles among employees

 ~  In Brazil, a professional trainer gives sports 
lessons on the company's website

9,3

9,2

9,2

2 0 1 7

2 0 1 7

2 0 1 6

2 0 1 6

2 0 1 8

2 0 1 8

Number of training hours per Employee
within the Group

Percentage of Employees receiving training
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The main actions of this agreement are:

 ~  Hiring : Robertet Grasse goal is to maintain 46% of women in its 

workforce. 

 ~  Working and employment conditions : the company wants to 

study the possibility of arranging three work stations traditionally 

occupied by men to make them accessible to women.

 ~  Employee payroll : no significant and unexplainable difference in 

wages were found between men and women within the company. 

Therefore, the objective is to ensure that this continues.

 ~  Balance between work and family responsibilities: Robertet is 

maintaining its funding of 8 inter-company daycare places. The 

company is also planning to have more accessible parking spaces 

for pregnant women

 ~  Training : Employees returning from parental leave of one year or 

more will be given priority for job training.

IN 2018, WOMEN REPRESENTED NEARLY 

 42%
OF THE GROUP’S TOTAL WORKFORCE.

EQUALITY BETWEEN MEN AND WOMEN AT THE WORKPLACE

Equality between men and women at the workplace is an important condition for promoting everyone’s well-being and development. In 
October 2017, Robertet Grasse signed an agreement for a term of three years with trade unions on the issue of gender equality at the workplace.

Percentage of women in the group's workforce 

by Occupational Category in 2017 

Director / Senior Management

Supervisors

Executive

Workers and employees

20 %

55 %

52 %

35 %

Serious Accident rate /Accident frequency rate

13,4
0,2

2 0 1 6

0,3
13,0

2 0 1 8

13,1
0,4

2 0 1 7



The Robertet Group is 
first and foremost an 
industrial company, 
whose purpose is to 

transform natural raw materials into flavorings, fragrances and 
active ingredients for the health and beauty sectors. If the Group 
is committed to preserving the natural world in the sourcing of its 
raw materials, it must also promote sustainability in its production 
processes. Robertet relies on two main strategies to accomplish 
this:

 ~  Deployment of a quality management system that includes, 
among other things, audits and CSR certifications 

 ~  Ongoing reduction of the environmental impacts of it 
industrial sites

Sustainable
Processes
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The Robertet Group deploys and directs quality procedures in all its 
subsidiaries. The quality and sustainability of production processes 
are closely linked, one often contributing to the improvement of the 
other and vice versa. The Group's performance in terms of quality and 
CSR is regularly analyzed through external audits and recognized by 
evaluation and certification systems

QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

In Grasse, Robertet set up a quality management system that relies, 
among other things, on a quality manual for customers and external 
organizations, instruction sheets and procedures distributed to 
employees, as well as precise information on manufacturing processes. 
A roadmap with the company's short-term quality objectives is 
communicated internally and displayed in several strategic locations. 
Monitoring indicators are also put in place to regularly measure the 
company’s performance and results. These indicators include the 
number of customer complaints (justified and unjustified), the time 
taken to process complaints, and the average time taken to make 
products available.

In 2017, again in Robertet Grasse, a review of the quality processes 
was conducted. A list of different internal and external stakeholders 
(including suppliers, subcontractors, customers, civil society, social 
partners and employee representative bodies, etc.) was drawn up and 
the stakeholders were consulted so that the company could find out 
what they expected from it. Following this procedure, an action plan 
was drawn up, listing the priorities to be implemented to improve 
existing quality processes..

The Group's subsidiaries organize awareness-raising and training for 
their employees about quality methods. Each of them adopts the 
most appropriate quality system depending on the specificities of 
their trades. For example, for the production of essential oils, SAPAD 
implemented GMP (Good Manufacturing Practices) for raw materials 
used for pharmaceuticals, evaluated by the Agence Nationale de 
Sécurité du Médicament (ANSM). Robertet Grasse established a 
HACCP (Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point) for the needs of the 
food market and complies with Good Manufacturing Practices for 
pharmaceuticals and cosmetics..

Results from Quality Management Systems
(Robertet Grasse only):

Indicator : 

no. of justified customer  

complaints / products sold

Résults

2017

Objective 

2017

Flavoring Division 0,55 % 0,4 %

Perfumery Division 0,14 % 0,3 %

Raw Materials Division 0,58 % 0,8 %

Quality
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100%
of waste from natural raw 
material production sites 
will be reclaimed.

10%

Water consumption per tonne produced will be 
reduced by

10%
compared to 2017.

QUALITY CERTIFICATIONS

As for quality procedures, each subsidiary chooses the certification 
system that seems most relevant to it, depending on its local context, 
the requirements of its trades and those of its customers. In 2017, the 
Group obtained the following certifications, all subsidiaries included :

 ~  For production processes: FSSC 22000 (Food Safety System 
Certification), Good Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Practice  
(Part II), SQF 2000 (Safe Quality Food) and Ecocert 
Environnement's "Responsible" certification. Robertet Grasse 
also received an inspection from the Food & Drug Administration 
for its manufacturing and export processes for flavorings in the 
United States in September 2017.

 ~ For products: Halal, Organic, Demeter, Max Havelaar, Kosher 
foods, as well as Greenlife and Cosmos cosmetics 

 Finally, ten sites belonging to subsidiaries including Robertet 
Argentina, Charabot, Robertet China, Hitex, Robertet Mexico, 
Robertet Grasse, Robertet UK and Robertet USA, i.e., 42% of Group 
sites, were certified ISO 9001 in 2017. The two sites of Robertet Grasse 
have renewed their ISO 9001 certification according to the most 
recent version of the standard, dating from 2015.

EPV
Living Heritage Company

The EPV label is a State recognition established to 

distinguish French companies with artisanal know-how 

and industrial excellence. Robertet and Charabot both 

obtained the label in 2012.

Our Objectives
for 2025

compared to 2017.

Greenhouse gas emissions* per tonne produced 
will be reduced by

*r e l a t e d  t o  t h e  G r o u p ' s  e l e c t r i c i t y ,  g a s ,  a n d  f u e l

o i l  c o n s u m p t i o n .
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CSR EVALUATIONS

Extra-financial Rating Platforms
These platforms enable customer companies to access the CSR results 
of their suppliers via a shared evaluation questionnaire. The Robertet 
Group subscribes to the two main existing platforms, Ecovadis and 
Sedex

In 2018, the Group obtained a score of 55 out of 100 on the Ecovadis 
questionnaire and received a "Silver" medal for its performance, thus 
entering the top 30% of the companies evaluated on this platform. 
The Ecovadis questionnaire is organized into four main areas: 
environment, ethics, social, and supply chain.

The Sedex platform has developed an auditing reference system 
called SMETA (Sedex Member Ethical Trade Audit) for its members. 
This system enables audited companies to disseminate the results of 
their audit to their customers. The advantage for the customers is to 
avoid having to organize individual audits for each of their strategic 
suppliers, and to be able to compare the results of their suppliers 
using a standardized reference system. The SMETA audit focuses on 
four aspects: working conditions, health and safety, the environment, 
and ethics. In 2017, the subsidiary of Robertet in Mexico was given the 
SMETA audit: only one noncompliance was noted, and it concerned 
the employment contracts of one of the subsidiary’s service providers. 
In 2016, the two Robertet Grasse sites and the two Robertet USA 
sites also had an SMETA audit, respectively identifying two and zero 
noncompliances.

Dedicated Audits 
Some of the Group's customers have developed their own CSR auditing 
reference systems for their strategic suppliers. Therefore, Robertet 
and its subsidiaries are regularly subject to these audits, which are 
generally carried out by independent third-party organizations. In 
December 2016, for example, Robertet's Brazilian subsidiary was 
audited by one of its customers for its CSR performance. The audit 
showed that, with the exception of two minor noncompliances in 
the field of health and safety, the subsidiary met all the criteria of the 
standard, which focused essentially on social issues: child and forced 
labor, non-discrimination, pay, working hours, etc.

CSR Certifications
Today, SAPAD is the only Group subsidiary that has certified its CSR 
approach. Since 2013, the company has been labeled "responsible" 
according to the Ecocert Environnement's ESR reference system, 
which covers all the principles of the ISO 26000 standard on corporate 
social responsibility. In 2017, as in previous years, SAPAD attained the 
"Excellence" level, confirming the importance of its commitment and 
the success of its global CSR approach.

In March 2018, SAPAD also obtained the For Life Certification, issued 
by Ecocert Environnement. The For Life standard includes criteria 
dealing with respect for human rights, working conditions, respect for 
ecosystems, promotion of biodiversity, implementation of sustainable 
agricultural practices, and, finally, improvement of local impacts.

These external recognitions complement the SAPAD product 
certification system, including organic and fair trade certifications

More and more of the Group's customers are interested in Robertet's CSR performance. To meet this growing demand and to have its actions 
recognized, the Group is evaluating its CSR approach in several ways:
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The Robertet Group has 16 production subsidiaries in France, 
Brazil, the United States, Bulgaria, and Turkey. Its objective 
is to limit the global environmental impacts  of its production 
processes by optimizing its use of natural resources and by 
minimizing pollution. 

HSE POLICIES

Like quality systems, environmental management is adapted to 
the contexts and requirements of each subsidiary. In Robertet 
Grasse, for example, the environmental policy is led by HSE 
managers (Health, Safety, and Environment) present on each 
of the two sites. In the United States, Robertet USA has its own 
HSE policy, which states, among other things, that the company 
must operate in a socially and environmentally responsible 
manner, that it must integrate HSE into its processes and 
decisions, as well as adopt practices that reduce pollution and 
the consumption of resources. 

In all its subsidiaries, the Group makes its employees aware of 
environmental protection, and especially waste management. 
At SAPAD, for example, all new recruits receive information 
about the company's CSR policy.

Environmental Impacts of
Production Processes
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Water Consumption
By 2025, the Robertet Group wants to reduce its water consumption 
by 10% per tonne produced, compared to 2017. To accomplish this, 
the Group has set up rainwater recovery equipment, closed circuit 
systems and even watersaving equipment. As an example, Robertet's 
subsidiary in China invested more than 13,000 euros in 2017 to improve 
its water treatment system and set up a water recovery system. 
In 2017, Hitex also rolled out a water recycling system for pump 
lubrication, cutting its water consumption by half in one year. 

As shown in the following graph, the total estimated water 
consumption1 of the Group was 385,618 m3 in 2018, a slight decrease 
compared to 2016, explained for the most part by the actions described 
above. The increase in consumption between 2015 and 2016 is mainly 
due to Robertet's subsidiary in Bulgaria, which had a significant rose 
harvest in 2016 and opened a new extraction unit.   

Energy Consumption
The Robertet Group installs equipment with better energy 
performance (boilers, water heaters, lighting) in its subsidiaries as well 
as energy recovery systems. In 2017, Robertet USA initiated a project to 
replace fluorescent, incandescent and halogen bulbs with LEDs, which 
consume less energy. Approximately 1,200 bulbs will be replaced, with 
an expected savings of 300,000 kWh. 

In compliance with French regulations, an energy audit was carried out 
in the Robertet Grasse and Charabot sites during 2016. The objective 
was to determine the energy distribution within the sites and to 
identify work stations that were consuming the most energy. An action 
plan was subsequently drawn up, listing the possible improvements in 
terms of energy consumption, as well as the investments associated 
with each action.

The Group’s total energy consumption (electricity, natural gas, and 
fuel oil) was 79,228 MWh in 2018 – an increase of 6.4% compared to 
2015, reflecting a general increase in production in most subsidiaries, 
the opening of the new extraction unit in Bulgaria, as well as the 
integration of Robertet Singapore and Bionov into the scope for the 
report of the last two years. 1.

1. Data is based on water meters and bills, with the exemption of Robertet Turkey, whose water consumption is estimated

Group's 

Total Water Consumption

399 198 m3

378 496 m3

385 618 m3
Group's

Total Energy Consumption

76 597 MWh PCI

77 162 MWh PCI

79 228 MWh PCI
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2 0 1 7

2 0 1 8

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
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 ~  Robertet USA : The company is reducing packaging used for 
its products. Moreover, it has been able to reclaim part of the 
residues from its production of flavorings, which are used as 
resources in the animal feed industry. 

 ~  SAPAD : In 2017, 98% of the company’s production waste was 
reclaimed, mainly through composting. Due to active sorting and 
recycling, 100% of packaging waste was also recovered.

In other subsidiaries abroad, especially in Turkey, Bulgaria, and South 
Africa, though not systematically traced and measured, vegetable 
waste is usually transformed into compost and used in the surrounding 
agricultural fields..

POLLUTION AND WASTE REDUCTION

Water, Air, and Soil Emissions
Classified as a regulated environment protection facility, Robertet's 
production sites are subject to strict regulatory requirements 
regarding environmental pollution. Many strategies are in place to 
limit air emissions (e.g., steam condensers on equipment for VOC 
emissions, monitoring and control of emissions such as NOx and 
carbon monoxide from boilers) and aqueous effluents (e.g., strict 
management of solvent residues, purification of processing water 
through the distillation or recovery of rainwater, treatment plant 
with an on-site biogas system, regular water analysis). Soil pollution 
risks are also controlled and limited by dedicated facilities, such as 
retention tanks and pools.

Noise and Olfactory Nuisances
In Grasse, where Robertet's production sites are located near the city 
center, the company reduces noise pollution via specific equipment 
(noise barrier, acoustic hood, natural barriers, etc.), and there is only 
very low-level activity during the night. Odor nuisance is limited by the 
installation of dust collectors and gas scrubbers. In addition, in 2017, 
Robertet's UK subsidiary installed a new ventilation and carbon filter 
system at its plant to reduce odor nuisance for local residents and 
businesses.

Waste Prevention and Management
The Group is seeking solutions in all its subsidiaries to reduce, recycle, 
and reuse waste. In its commodity production subsidiaries, the Group 
is targeting a 100% recovery rate of production waste (excluding 
wastewater) by 2025. Some examples of actions implemented are 
listed below::

 ~  Robertet Grasse : Some vegetable waste from extraction 
workshops is composted and contributes to the production 
of a regulated compost. The perfume distillers’ grains are sent 
to a landfill where they are used as plant cover. Other types of 
production waste are recovered from energy (e.g., solvents and 
food residues) or recycled (e.g., alcohol residues, vegetable oils 
and cocoa butters). Robertet Grasse has its own wastewater 
treatment plant, which processes about 90% of the plant’s 
wastewater. All packaging waste (wooden pallets, metal and 
plastic packaging, glasses and containers) are sorted and also 
recycled in external recycling centers. In total, the subsidiary 
recovers 94% of its waste.

IN 2017, THE GROUP GENERATED A TOTAL 
OF APPROXIMATELY 154,447 TONNES 
OF PRODUCTION WASTE (INCLUDING 
WASTEWATER)2 AND 1,337 TONNES OF 
PACKAGING

84% OF PACKAGING 

WASTE WAS RECYCLED.
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CLIMATE CHANGE

The Robertet Group has identified its main Greenhouse Gas (GHG) 
emission stations according to the three scopes of the Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions Protocol:

Scope 1 includes direct GHG emissions from sources owned or 
controlled by the company. Examples include the burning of gas and 
oil at production sites, fugitive emissions, and the fuel consumption 
of the Group's vehicles.

Scope 2 includes indirect GHG emissions related to electricity 
consumption.

Scope 3 includes the other indirect GHG emissions resulting from 
the company's activities but whose origin or control belongs to 
external entities. To date, the Robertet Group has not quantified 
Scope 3 emissions, but the items most likely to be significant include 
the cultivation of natural raw materials, manufacture of non-natural 
raw materials, transportation of materials (incoming and outgoing 
freight), manufacture of production equipment and machinery, 
travel of Group employees, or even the production processes of its 
customers.

By 2025, the Group wants to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions by 
10% on Scopes 1 and 2, emissions related to its consumption of gas, oil, 
and electricity, compared to 2017 levels.

Today, the two most active subsidiaries in the fight against climate 
change are Robertet USA and SAPAD. 

For example, Robertet USA has set up a videoconference system to 
reducethe number of business trips. SAPAD encourages carpooling, 
prioritizes ocean and sea freight imports, consolidates shipments to 
minimize transportation, and works with carriers with an established 
environmental policy. The company has also purchased two hybrid 
vehicles. Finally, the two subsidiaries are sourcing themselves in 
renewable energies. In the United States, Robert USA installed solar 
panels that enabled it to generate more than 825 MWh in 2017, or 
almost 10% of its total electricity consumption. As for SAPAD, 14% of its 
electricity consumption comes from renewable sources.

The Group's greenhouse gas emissions, estimated from the energy 
consumption of all subsidiaries (electricity, natural gas, and fuel oil), 
was 18,402 tonnes3 of equivalent CO2 in 2017.

2. The definition of production waste was modified in 2016 to include wastewater, largely explaining the evolution of the data between 2015 and 2016. For production and packaging waste, the indicators 
do not take into account data from the subsidiary in South Africa, which were not available. In addition, data from Turkey has been estimated. 3. Greenhouse gas emission data here includes a part of 
"Scope 1" (emissions related to the use of natural gas and fuel oil) and the all of "Scope 2" (consumption of electricity). The calculation is based on the emission factors of the ADEME Carbon Base, posted 
on 03/31/2017. Emission factors specific to each of the Group's countries of operation have been identified for electricity. On the other hand, general emission factors for Europe (i.e., not differentiated by 
country) were applied for natural gas and fuel oil.

Group's Greenhouse Gas Emissions
en tonnes équivalent CO22

18 211

18 402

18 726

2 0 1 6

2 0 1 7

2 0 1 8

Group's production waste
in tonnes

Packaging Waste Recovered
by the Group in 2018 in tonnes

16%

156 144

84%
154 447

2 0 1 6

2 0 1 7

2 0 1 8

P A C K A G I N G  W A S T E 
N O T  R E C O V E R E D

R E C O V E R E D
P A C K A G I N G  W A S T E156 278
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Natural and
innovative
processes

As the world's leading producer of natural raw materials 
(excluding mint and citrus), the Robertet Group is constantly 
seeking to innovate and explore the benefits of the natural 
world, in order to offer its customers in the agri-food, 
cosmetics, and health sectors more natural products that 
respect the environment. The Group calls on all the talent of 
its teams to test, experiment, and create new products. More 
specifically, sustainable innovation within the Group is carried 
out through two projects conducted in parallel : 

 ~  Environmental assessment of processes and products

 ~  Creation and development of new natural products
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Our Objectives
for 2025

Using its expertise and knowledge of natural ingredients, the 
Robertet Group wants to put finished products on the market that 
have the lowest possible environmental impacts. To accomplish this, 
the R&D staff focuses mainly on two types of assessments. On the 
one hand, assessment of processes from the perspective of green 
chemistry and, on the other hand, assessment of the sustainability, 
renewability, and biodegradability of finished products

GREEN CHEMISTRY 

Application of the 12 principles of green chemistry has been a strong 
focus of the Group's R&D for more than ten years. To continue these 
efforts, the Group plans to invest 3 million euros in green chemistry 
processes by 2025.

Today, the search for greener processes is mainly reflected in the 
use of alternative solvents to conventional fossil-based solvents. 
For example, the Group has developed and patented a process for 
the extraction of fresh flowers (rose, jasmine, orange) by CO2 in the 
supercritical state, as well as another patent for the use of dimethyl 
carbonate, a solvent that respects the environment more, both 
as alternatives to hexane. The acquisition of Hitex in 2014 reflects 
the Group's desire to strengthen green chemistry, as it has greatly 
increased the development of supercritical CO2 extracts. 

100%
of the products of Robertet Grasse and 
Charabot will be evaluated in terms of 
green chemistry and sustainability

3M €
will be invested in green 
chemistry processes

1M €
will be invested in R&D  project to 
improvethe biodegradability of 
ingredient

The Group also conducts research on biotechnologies, because they 
can help satisfy both the principles of green chemistry and the need 
to optimize the use of natural resources

In 2017, the R&D teams of Robertet Grasse and Charabot began 
developing an internal process evaluation tool based on the 12 
principles of green chemistry. The objective is to evaluate 100% of 
the products of these two subsidiaries by 2025 using this tool. Today, 
four principles of green chemistry are already in place, evaluated, and 
monitored :

 ~  Production of nontoxic, low toxicity or ecotoxic substances
 ~ Production of biodegradable substances

 ~  Monitoring the appearance of undesirable co-products

 ~ Reduction of chemical accidents

Three additional principles have been identified to improve the 
Group's approach in the coming years: :

 ~  Measurement of the E-factor of waste (i.e., measurement of the 
quantity of waste produced to manufacture a given product, 
compared to the usable quantity of this same final product)

 ~  Restriction of the use of solvents and additives, and the selection 
of less harmful ones

 ~  Prioritizing the use of catalysts so that only a limited number and 
quantity of chemical elements are involved in the reactions

The principles of green chemistry concerning atom economy and the 
reduction of derivative products are of little relevance to Robertet, 
since the Group performs only a small amount of organic chemistry.

Environmental Assessment of 
Processes and Products
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In 2015, the Group started building databases listing the levels of 
biodegradability, renewability and sustainability of its products. These 
databases have been developed and enriched over the years.
Biodegradability

The biodegradability of an organic substance is its ability to be 
degraded by a biological process into simple and smaller molecules 
(e.g., carbon dioxide, water, mineral salts). Biodegradability is one 
of the major parameters for assessing a substance’s impact on the 
environment.

The Group’s database assigns each substance a biodegradability 
status: :

 ~  Easily biodegradable, when the substance reaches a minimum 
biological degradation of 60% in 28 days. This value must be 
reached within a 10-day period (for example, change from 10% to 
60% in less than 10 days of the 28-day period).

 ~  Biodegradable potential, when the substance reaches 60% 
biodegradation but takes more than 10 days, or when the 
substance does not reach 60% biodegradation but still exceeds 
the threshold of 50%.

 ~  Non-biodegradable, when the substance does not exceed 50% 
biodegradation after 28 days.

Since the biodegradability of natural extracts is not easy to determine 
on the basis of laboratory tests, the extrapolation of the above 
rules led the Group to consider as "easily biodegradable," all-natural 
extracts made from substances that are recognized as 60% or more 
“easily biodegradable.”
This database has been built using existing and publicly available 
biodegradability studies. Robertet Group's objective is to allocate 1 
million euros in R&D projects dedicated to the biodegradability of 
ingredients by 2025.

12 principles of

G r e e n  C h e m e s t r y

1

Reduction of pollution at the source

2

Atom economy

3

Less dangerous synthetics

4

Less toxic chemical products

5

Research alternatives to polluting  
solvents and synthetic aids

6

Reduction of energy expenditures

7

Renewable resources

8

Reduction of derivative products

9

Use of catalytic processes

10

Eco-designed products

11

Real time analysis to prevent pollution

12

Reduction in the risk of accidents

PRODUCT BIODEGRADABILITY,
RENEWABILITY, AND SUSTAINABILITY 
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Renewability
Renewable resources are inexhaustible and available in large 
quantities. They also have a low environmental impact. Carbon 14 
analysis makes it possible to determine whether a raw material 
is renewable or not, by measuring its carbon content from fossil 
materials (versus natural or biocarbon, which is renewable). A raw 
material is considered renewable if it consists mainly of carbon from 
a renewable source.

In a similar way to biodegradability, Robertet gradually built a 
database by associating each raw material with a renewability status.

Sustainability
The Group measures the sustainability of its finished products by 
determining the level of sustainability of their ingredients. Robertet 
Grasse and Charabot have a system for evaluating the sustainability 
of sourced raw materials (see the description of this system in the 
"supplier evaluations" section in the introduction to this report). 
A raw material is considered sustainable if the combined results of 
the Group's three assessments (country risk, raw material risk, and 
supplier risk) are greater than 40%.

This information is collected through evaluation questionnaires sent 
to the suppliers of Robertet Grasse and Charabot. The Group wants 
the sustainability of 100% of the products of these two subsidiaries to 
be evaluated by 2025

As a historic player in the production of flavorings and perfumes, the 
Group continues innovating to improve the level of sustainability of 
its compositions and to bring more natural products to the market. 
With this aim, Robertet established a new division, Health and Beauty, 
in 2014, which develops all-natural active ingredients for health and 
beauty.

In recent years, the Group has been deploying new technologies 
and methods to offer its agri-food customers a wider range of 
natural extracts, including natural flavorings whose varietal and 
geographical origins are clearly identified and traced. These 
developments enable customers to state on product labels that they 
contain natural flavors.

In response to market expectations, the Group is also working on 
certified organic flavorings. These flavors are made from extracts 
and infusions of organic raw materials mainly purchased from its 
specialized subsidiary, SAPAD.

In the perfumery division, Robertet seeks to integrate more natural 
ingredients into the compositions of its perfumes. The Group can rely 
on both its mastery of natural raw materials and the know-how of its 
perfumers to highlight the quality of natural fragrances. R&D teams 
can also play a role by studying the possibility of replacing a synthetic 
ingredient in compositions with one that is natural.

Finally, the Group allocates part of its R&D efforts to aromacosmetics: 
The aim is to exploit Robertet's expertise in the extraction of natural 
products—in the form of essences, absolutes, fractions, etc.—to 
identify raw materials that not only have an aromatic property, but 
also a physiological effect with benefits to well-being or beauty. 
The aromacosmetic program of Robertet has already studied the 
effectiveness of hundreds of natural raw materials used in the 
creation of perfumes.

Creation of
New Natural Products

INNOVATIONS IN THE FLAVORING 
AND FRAGRANCE DIVISION  



53R O B E R T E T  2 0 1 8

GWEN CRAS

Flavoring Creation and Marketing Director, 
Robertet Group

Being at the helm of creation at Robertet 
means having the opportunity to work 
together in a creative and innovative 

dynamic, and to benefit from years of expertise at 
the service of natural products.

The creators, our flavorists, are unique in the 
profession. They have experience in the formulation 
of living materials at the source. They know how 
to anticipate variations of taste, color, and quality 
related to the seasons, climate, harvests - and to 
adjust them. They are creators who juggle with 
these parameters and whose demands also bring 
innovation to our extraction workshops, a "skillset" 
to constantly meet challenges.

Each client brief opens new creative perspectives, 
which rely on our historic approach to the natural 
raw material, its extraction and analysis, to breathe 
life into our flavoring compositions. It is not a matter 
of regulating natural flavorings; it’s about taking 
up our positions, claiming responsibility for them, 
and not compromising on quality. The origin of our 
ingredients, their history, and traditional uses are the 
support we bring to our customers to better meet 
the demands consumers are making on the agri-food 
industry.

Robertet’s flavoring creation benefits 
from this historic showcase of natural 
products that make it a unique innovative 
environment. Never to be a follower 
remains my leitmotiv. 

With the Health & Beauty Division created a few years ago, 
the Group plans to increase the value of natural raw materials 
more completely by implementing a multifunctional 
approach, i.e., by exploring not only volatile active ingredients 
of flavorings and fragrances, but also nonvolatile active 
ingredients and residues. The Health & Beauty Division aims 
to provide healthy, natural, and effective active ingredients 
for cosmetics, functional foods and self-care markets, 
capitalizing on the Group's historic expertise for sourcing, 
identification, and extraction of natural raw materials. To 
demonstrate the health or beauty benefits of these 100% 
natural and plant-based active ingredients, the Group carries 
out extensive clinical and scientific analyzes.
The Health & Beauty Division specializes in optimizing existing 
production processes as it focuses on the development of 
active ingredients in natural raw materials already used by the 
Group for their flavorings or fragrances. In close collaboration 
with the R&D teams, the division has begun to list all the 
natural raw materials used by the Group, and to identify 
co-products that could have a benefit in terms of health or 
beauty.
Cocoa butter is an example that illustrates this work. In Grasse, 
Robertet buys more than 400 tonnes of cocoa powder a year. 
Once the flavors are extracted, cocoa butter remains, some 
of which is rich in theobromine—a natural ingredient with 
mild stimulating properties—and some still contain flavor 
profiles. The R&D team has successfully developed a selective 
extraction method to make valuable use of 15 tonnes of cocoa 
butter in the form of extracts enriched with theobromine for 
the Health and Beauty Division and flavoring extracts for the 
Raw Materials Division.
Likewise, other natural raw materials are explored within the 
Group and, once the extraction methods are worked out, 
clinical studies will be conducted to measure the real

DEVELOPMENT OF NATURAL ACTIVE 
INGREDIENTS FOR HEALTH AND BEAUTY 
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The year 2018 was important for Robertet Group's 
CSR initiative. With the establishment of a new 2025 
strategy. Although this strategy is a continuation of 
our past commitments, it signals a new beginning 
for the Group, with a need now to achieve specific 
and ambitious objectives. Therefore, the next 
step in the coming years will be to define and 
implement new actions, capitalizing, of course, 
on our historic strengths, such as our positioning 
at the source of raw materials and our expertise 
in the production of natural extracts. As a family 
business and a world leader in natural products, 
we will continue to commit ourselves to ensuring 
that all our activities, from sourcing to creation, 
as well as R&D and production, make a positive 
contribution to the social and environmental issues 
we are all facing together.

JULIEN MAUBERT
Director of the Raw Materials Division
and President of the CSR Committee
of the Robertet Group

A Word from 
the Latest Generation
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S T A T E M E N T  O F  I N C O M E  F O R  T H E  P E R I O D   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s 

NOTE 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Sale of products    12 524 901 504 398

REVENUE 524 901 504 398

Other operating income 3 407 2 178

Purchases consumed -241 820 -223 858

External charges -80 226 -77 652

Personnel costs -110 233 -109 263

Taxes -10 207 -10 651

Depreciation allowance, provisions and reversals    13 -16 826 -17 850

Other operating expenses -148 -94

CURRENT OPERATING INCOME    12 68 848 67 210

Asset disposal 4 004

OPERATING PROFIT 68 848 71 214

Income from cash and cash equivalents 72 80

Cost of gross financial debt -915 -988

Net fiscal cost    14 -843 -908

Other financial income and expenses    14 1 425 -2 171

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 69 430 68 135

Current and deferred income tax    15 -17 611 -19 356

Share in net income of equity affiliates 119 -65

INCOME FROM INTEGRATED COMPANIES 51 819 48 779

NET INCOME FROM THE CONSOLIDATED GRUP 51 938 48 714

Net income attributable to minority interests  187 178

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS    12 51 751 48 536

NET EARNINGS PER EXISTING SHARE (in euros) 22,45 21,08

BASIC NET EARNINGS PER SHARE (in euros)    17 22,41 21,06

DILUTED EARNINGS (in euros) 17 22,41 21,06
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  I n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

NOTE 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Income net 51 938 48 714

Recyclable components 3 371 -19 916

Currency translation differential SCSE (1) 3 363 -19 945

Effective portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments 12 44

Tax impact on hedging instruments -4 -15

Non-recyclable componants 121 -4

ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES ON PENSION BENEFITS 9 184 -6

Tax impact on actuarial gains and losses -63 2

Global Income SCSE (1) 55 430 28 794

Income attributable to shareholder’s of Robertet SA SCSE (1) 55 243 28 643

Income attributable to minority interests SCSE (1) 187 151

STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED INCOME -  A  GG REGATES   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17 % change

Sales revenue 524 901 504 398 4,06%

EBITDA (1) 85 822 85 153 0,79%

Current operational income (2) 68 848 67 210 2,44%

Operational income (2) 68 848 71 214 -3,32%

Income Net 51 938 48 714 6,62%

(1)  This is the operating profit before amortization, provisions and reversals and excludes other operating expenses  

(considered as non-current).

(2) Defintions :  see note 1.26
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL SITUATION  I n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

NOTE 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 200 050 195 739

GOODWILL 2 27 621 27 621

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1 710 1 860

TANGIBLE ASSETS 3 153 274 151 199

FINANCIAL ASSETS 4 14 041 12 103

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 2 304 1 973

DEFERRED TAXES 15 1 099 984

CURRENT ASSETS 419 474 386 941

INVENTORIES AND WORK IN PROGRESS 5 187 746 169 238

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND RELATED ACCOUNTS 6 107 753 106 512

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAID EXPENSES 7 15 445 18 444

CURRENT TAX ASSETS 7 3 568 2 250

OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 594 592

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 104 368 89 904

TOTAL ASSETS 619 524 582 680

NOTE 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 410 959 365 988

CAPITAL 5 763 5 756

SHARE PREMIUMS 12 432 12 432

CONSOLIDATED RESERVES 391 575 346 318

EQUITY (GROUPE SHARE) 409 770 364 506

MINORITY INTERESTS 1 189 1 481

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 93 306 94 958

PROVISIONS – LONG TERM PORTION 8 11 555 11 343

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - LONG TERM PORTION 9 72 172 74 349

DEFERRED TAXES 15 9 578 9 266

CURRENT LIABILITIES 115 259 121 735

PROVISIONS – SHORT TERM PORTION 8 1 858 1 455

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES – SHORT TERM PORTION 9 38 479 42 772

CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES 4 019 2 302

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE  36 393 41 895

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 10 34 510 33 310

TOTAL LIABILITY 619 524 582  680
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s
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Total shareholders' equity on 31 Dec 2016 5 743 12 432 308 185 19 533 345 893 1 330 347 223

Overall income (loss) 48 519 -19 877 28 643 151 28 794

Dividends paid -10 588 -10 588 -10 588

Changes in scope of consolidation -386 -386 -386

Allocation of free shares 1 315 1 315 1 315

Capital increase 13 -13

Other variations -371 -371 -371

Total other changes in shareholders' equity 13 -10 043 -10 030 -10 030

Total shareholders' equity on 31 Dec 2017 5 756 12 432 346 662 -344 364 506 1 481 365 988

Overall income (loss) 51 880 3 363 55 243 187 55 430

Dividends paid -11 987 -11 987 -11 987

Changes in scope of consolidation 454 454 -479 -25

Allocation of free shares 1 148 1 148 1 148

Capital increase 7 -7

Other variations 405 405 405

Total other changes in shareholders' equity -9 986 -9 979 -479 -10 459

Total shareholders' equity on 31 Dec 2018 5 763 12 432 388 556 3 019 409 770 1 189 410 959
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Note 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Consolidated net income 17 51 751 48 536

Minority interests 187 178

Elimination of net income from EAE (Equity Affiliates and Minorities) -19 115

Amortization of fixed tangible and intangible assets 13 16 135 16 339

Net allocations to provisions 33 115

Gains and losses on disposal of assets -4 004

Charges and expenses without impact on cash flow 1 148 1 319

Current and deferred taxes 15 17 612 19 356

Cost of net financial debt 297 368

Impact of local revaluation 265

Operating cash flow before cost of net financial debt and tax 87 409 82 321

Stock variation 6 -18 410 -21 590

Change in trade and other accounts receivable 7-8 2 244 -8 532

Change in trade payables and other accounts payable -3 214 9 442

Impact of changes in working capital requirement  -19 380 -20 680

Interest paid and received -310 -352

Taxes paid -17 099 -22 392

Net cash-flow from operating activities 50 621 38 897

Industrial investments and finance leases 4 -17 207 -22 536

Financial investments net of divestments -1 567 2 253

Disposal of assets 328 4 611

Change of scope of consolidation -25 -9 020

Cash-flow used in investing activities -18 291 -24 692

Dividends paid out by the parent company SCSE (1) -11 987 -10 588

Loans taken 24 681 50 500

Loans reimbursed -25 696 -23 217

Net change in other financial debts -41 -24 520

Cash from financing activities -13 043 -7 825

Impact of monetary changes on cash flow 899 -3 528

Overall changes in cash-flow situation 20 186 2 853

Net cash and cash equivalents at fiscal year opening 69 940 67 087

Net cash and cash equivalents at fiscal year closing 90 126 69 940
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Net cash Note 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Liquid assets 98 153 84 419

Investment securities 16 6 215 5 486

Bank overdrafts 10 -14 242 -19 964

TOTAL 90 126 69 940

Analysis of changes in the working capital 
requirement 31-Dec-17

Foreign
exchange
and other

flows

Variable
flow of

perimeter

Cash 
flow 31-Dec-18

Inventories and work in progress 176 526 20 18 776 195 322

Trade and other accounts receivable 128 914 453 -2 644 126 723

Payable suppliers and other accounts payable -75 195 1 088 -11 3 214 -70 903

Gross working capital requirement 230 245 1 561 -11 19 347 251 141

Depreciation -11 256 122 34 -11 100

Net working capital requirement 218 989 1 683 -11 19 380 240 040
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1 . N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

SIGINIFICANT EVENTS OF THE FISCAL YEAR

Significant events are described in the note to the parent company financial statement.

N O T E  1  :  A C C O U N T I N G  P R I N C I P L E S  A N D  C O N S O L I D A T I O N  R U L E S 

1.1. General Context

In accordance with the European regulation n ° 1606/02, the consolidated financial statements of the 
Robertet Group, hereinafter "the Group," are established in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. as of December 31, 2018.

Robertet SA is a public limited company under French law. The head office is located 37 avenue Sidi Brahim 
in Grasse. Its main activity is the creation of aromatic products mainly for the perfume and food industry.

Robertet's consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on April 24, 2019 
and will be submitted on June 5, 2019 for approval to the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of shareholders, 
which has the power to amend them.

Due to its listing in a country of the European Union and in accordance with the EC Regulation n ° 1606/2002 
of July 19, 2002, the Group's consolidated financial statements, which are published for the 2017 financial 
year, are prepared in accordance with IFRS ( International Financial Reporting Standards), as adopted in the 
European Union. It includes standards approved by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), ie 
IFRS, International Accounting Standards (IAS) and interpretations from the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or of the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).

For the presentation of the consolidated financial statements for the 2018 financial year, the Group applied all 
the standards and interpretations that took effect at the European level, applicable to fiscal years beginning 
on or after January 1, 2018. These standards and interpretations are as follows:

•IFRS 15. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

•This standard replaces IAS 18, "Revenue" and IAS 11, "Construction Contracts".  IFRS 15 establishes new 
revenue recognition principles, including the identification of performance obligations or the allocation 
of the transaction price for multi-element contracts. It modifies the analyses to be carried out on the 
turnover generated by the license contracts or the consideration of the variable incomes. It also includes 
new disclosure requirements in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Robertet Group is not significantly impacted by this standard because it does not enter into multi-item 
contracts with its customers. Management has not identified a major change from IAS 18 treatment that 
previously applied. Indeed, the performance obligation in accordance with IFRS 15 is fulfilled as of the 
delivery of the goods.

•IFRS 9. Financial Instruments 

This standard replaces IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement". IFRS 9 has been 
structured around three main themes: classification and measurement, impairment, and hedge accounting. 
This model is based on a depreciation matrix of accrued and unmatured receivables based on historically 
observed default rate losses.

The Robertet Group is not significantly impacted by this standard given the very low default rate of trade 
receivables.
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•Amendments to IFRS 2. Share-based payments 

These modifications provided the following clarifications : 

•clarification on the impact of presence and performance conditions in the valuation and accounting of 
the liability of cash-settled plans ; 

•clarification of the treatment of a cash-settled withholding tax due under an equity-settled plan ; 

•clarification on accounting for a change from a cash-settled plan to an equity-settled plan.

The Group has taken these details into account when dealing with these action plans. These had no impact 
in the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2018

•Amendments to IFRS 4. Insurance Contracts 

These amendments clarified the interactions between IFRS 4 "Insurance Contracts" and IFRS 9 "Financial 
Instruments". 

The Group does not have any activity falling within the scope of this standard.

•Amendments to IAS 40. Investment Property Transfers

These amendments have clarified the conditions for transfers between different categories of assets.

The Group does not have any activity falling within the scope of this standard.

•IFRIC 22. Foreign currency transactions and early consideration

This interpretation aims to define the exchange rates to be used when an advance payment was made prior 
to completion of the transaction.

The Group will implement this interpretation as soon as there are cases of advance payment in foreign 
currency.

At the closing date of these consolidated financial statements, the following standards and interpretations 
were issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the IFRS Interpretation Committee 
(IFRS), respectively, and adopted by the European Union. These standards and interpretations have a start 
date effective after fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2018, but are applicable in advance.

•IFRS 16. Leases

On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 to redefine the recognition, measurement and presentation 
of leases. IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 and the associated IFRIC and SIC interpretations and will remove, for 
lessees, the distinction previously made between "operating lease" and "finance lease". Lessees will be 
required to account for all leases with a term of more than one year by recognizing an asset and a liability 
for rights and obligations created by a lease. This new standard, adopted by the European Union on October 
31, 2017, is applicable to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2019

The Group chose not to apply this standard in advance, but undertook an evaluation of the consequences of 
its application and anticipated its implementation. For the transition, the Group uses the simplified reverse 
method. It was also decided to use the simplification measures provided for by the standard and to disregard 
leases with a term of less than twelve months and those relating to low-value assets.

The lease terms correspond to the non-cancellable periods supplemented, where applicable, by the renewal 
options, the exercise of which is reasonably certain for the Group.

For the identification of contracts, the Group had drawn up a questionnaire to collect all the information 
relating to the contracts, as required by the standard. The Group also has a solution dedicated to the 
monitoring of contracts and the management of financial calculations of the effects of the standard.
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The estimated impacts of the application of IFRS 16, based on information as of December 31, 2018, on the 
2019 financial statements are presented below. Impacts on profit for the period are mainly reclassifications 
between operating income and financial result:

Impact on income  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

EBITDA Operating Income Financial Income Overall Impact

4 940 875 -775 82

Impact Balance sheet  in  thousands of  euros Tangible assets Financial liabilities

 15 104 17 483 

•Amendment to IFRS 9. Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

This amendment adds an exception to allow instruments with symmetrical early call options to be eligible 
for amortized cost or fair value by OCI (Other comprehensive income). The Group did not identify a case 
concerned by this amendment.

•IFRIC 23. Tax Risks

This interpretation clarifies the methods for recognizing and assessing the tax consequences related to the 
uncertain nature of the tax, in application of IAS 12 ("Uncertainty over tax treatments").

The Group has chosen not to apply this interpretation in advance.

At the closing date of these consolidated financial statements, the standards and interpretations listed 
below were issued respectively by the IASB and IFRS IC but not yet adopted by the European Union.

The Group has chosen not to apply these standards and interpretations in advance but has begun to analyze 
the consequences of their application. The Group will, where appropriate, apply these standards in its 
accounts as soon as they are adopted by the European Union.

•Amendment to IAS 19. Plan amendment, reduction or winding-up

This amendment clarifies the inclusion of such events in the determination of the cost of services rendered 
and the net interest expense for the period which must be revalued as of the event using the actuarial 
assumptions available at that date.

•Amendment to IAS 28. Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures

This amendment clarifies the application of IFRS 9, including impairment, to long-term investments in an 
associate or a joint venture as part of its net investment

1.2 Basis of valuation used for the preparation of consolidated accounts

The accounts of Group companies, prepared in accordance with the accounting rules in force in their 
respective countries, are restated in order to comply with the Group's accounting principles.
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The liquidity and due date criteria for the various balance sheet items are specified, when required, in the 
corresponding notes.

The valuation methods of the balance sheet items are described in the following paragraphs: intangible and 
tangible assets, inventories and work in progress, customers.

1.3 Consolidation methods

Subsidiaries (significant companies controlled exclusively) are fully consolidated.

Companies over which Robertet exercises joint control or significant influence are consolidated using the 
equity method.

Securities of companies that do not meet these criteria are recorded as equity securities. The consolidation 
of all of these companies would not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Significant reciprocal receivables, payables, income and expenses are eliminated in full for fully consolidated 
companies, as are the Group's internal results (dividends, capital gains, inventory margins).

All companies have been consolidated on the basis of the accounts as of 31 December 2018.

1.4 Conversion of accounts expressed in foreign currencies

The operating currency of the Group's foreign subsidiaries is the local currency in effect.

The balance sheets of companies whose functional currency is not the euro are translated into euros at the 
closing exchange rate and their income statements and cash flows at the average exchange rate for the year. 
The resulting translation difference is recorded in shareholders' equity in the "Conversion reserve" item.

1.5 Conversion of foreign currency denominated transactions

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are converted at the exchange rate prevailing at the time 
of the transaction. At the end of the year, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the closing exchange rate. The resulting exchange differences are recognized under foreign 
exchange and presented as financial income and expenses.

1.6 Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with the IFRS framework requires the use of estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these financial statements. The main items concerned 
by the use of estimates and assumptions are provisions for employee benefits, provisions for risks, goodwill 
and impairment of inventories and receivables.

These estimates are based on the best information available to management at the balance sheet date.  
A divergent trend in the estimates and assumptions used could have an impact on the amounts recognized 
in the financial statements.

1.7 Business Combination

All identifiable assets acquired and liabilities acquired or contingent liabilities are recognized at their fair 
value at the date of the transfer of control to the Group (vesting date), irrespective of any minority interest 
being taken into account.

The cost of a business combination is equal to the acquisition price. Any excess of the acquisition cost over 
the fair value of the net assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized, is capitalized as 
goodwill.

As part of its development, the Group has been required to conduct acquisitions and to recognize goodwill 
in several cases.
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Goodwill is not amortized but, in accordance with IAS 36 "Impairment of Assets", is subject to an impairment 
test as soon as there is an indication of impairment and at least once a year.

1.8  Intangible and tangible assets 

Intangible assets:

In accordance with the criteria established by IAS 38, an intangible asset is recognized as an asset in the 
statement of financial position if it is probable that future economic benefits attributable to the asset will 
flow to the Group.

Intangible assets whose useful life cannot be determined are reviewed annually to ensure that the useful 
life has not ended.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized on a straight-line basis when the asset is ready for 
use. During the lifetime of an intangible asset, it may appear that the estimate of its useful life has become 
inadequate. As provided for in IAS 38, the depreciation period and the depreciation method of this asset are 
reviewed and if the expected useful life of the asset is different from previous estimates, the depreciation 
period is adjusted accordingly. 

Tanglible Assets :

Gross value :

In accordance with IAS 16 "Property, Plant and Equipment", the gross value of property, plant and equipment 
corresponds to their acquisition or production cost. It is not subject to any re-evaluation. Residual values 
are generally considered to be zero.

In accordance with IAS 23, the cost of borrowings directly attributable to their acquisition is included in the 
cost of fixed assets.

The maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred, except those incurred for an increase in 
productivity or the extension of the useful life of the property.

Fixed assets financed by finance leases, as defined by IAS 17 "Leases", are presented as assets for the 
discounted value of future payments or the market value if it is lower. The corresponding debt is recorded in 
financial liabilities. These assets are amortized according to the method and the useful lives described below.

Amortization: 

Pursuant to IAS 16, the Group uses different amortization periods for each of the significant components 
of the same fixed asset when one of the components has a useful life different from the main fixed asset 
to which it is related.

Depreciation is calculated according to the linear method, according to the following periods of use:

   • Buildings   :       20 years to 40 years

   • Technical facilities :          5 years or 10 years

   • Other tangible assets :                     4 to 8 years

1.9 Impairment of goodwill and fixed assets

In accordance with IAS 36 "Impairment of Assets", the value of goodwill and property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets is tested as soon as there are signs of impairment, reviewed at each closing. This test 
is performed at least once a year for assets with an indefinite useful life, a category limited to goodwill for 
the Group.
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For this test, fixed assets are grouped into Cash Generating Units or Reporting Units (CGUs). CGUs are 
homogeneous sets of assets whose continued use generates cash inflows that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows generated by other groups of assets.

When the recoverable amount of CGUs is less than its net book value, an impairment loss is recognized in 
the income statement as a non-current expense. The recoverable amount of the CGU is the higher of market 
value less costs to sell and value in use. The value in use is determined based on discounted projections of 
future cash flows from operations over a period of 5 years and a terminal value valued on the basis of an 
infinite capitalization of cash flow.

1.10 Financial assets

Financial assets include equity securities and other financial fixed assets.

Equity securities represent the interests of the Group in the capital of unconsolidated companies. They are 
analyzed as loans and receivables and are carried at fair value or, in the absence of an active market, at 
their acquisition cost.

In the event of a definitive loss in value, the amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss for the period. 
The definitive nature of the impairment loss is analyzed by reference to the estimated value, the latter being 
determined on the basis of the share of the net position, the market price or the profitability outlook, after 
weighting the effects of holding of these investments for the Group in terms of strategy, or synergies with 
existing activities. This impairment loss is not reversible in the income statement if the estimated value were 
to evolve favorably in the future (the unrealized profit is then recorded in the separate equity component 
mentioned above).

Other financial assets are carried at amortized cost.

A provision for depreciation is eventually recognized when the inventory value turns out to be lower.

Loans and long-term investments are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
They may be subject to a provision for depreciation if there is an objective indication of impairment.

 Financial assets designated as held-to-maturity are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
rate method. The Group does not hold such assets at 31/12/2018.

Securities held for trading are measured at fair value and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the 
income statement under "Cash and cash equivalents".

All financial assets are reviewed annually to determine if there is an indication of impairment.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are generally recognized at the date of the transaction.

Profit sharing in associated companies:

Companies in which Robertet exercises joint control are consolidated using the equity method. Securities 
are then initially recognized at the price paid plus the cost of acquisition. The implicit goodwill is detailed 
in the appendix where it is the subject of an allocation.

Equity-accounted investments are subject to an impairment test if there are objective indications of 
lasting impairment. Impairment is recognized if the recoverable amount falls below the carrying amount, 
the recoverable amount being the higher of the value in use and the fair value net of transaction costs. 
Impairment may be reversed if the recoverable amount again exceeds the carrying amount.

1.11 Inventories and Work in Progress

In accordance with IAS 2 "inventories", inventories are valued at the lowest of cost and net realizable value. 
Cost prices are calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realizable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the expected costs of completing the sale.
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The methodology for calculating the provision for depreciation of inventories consists of an abatement 
of the value of the products in inventory according to the nature of the products and their seniority so 
that, in fine, all the products having more than 5 years are depreciated 100%, with the exception of items 
whose value in use is not sensitive to the holding period such as packaging. In addition, the depreciation 
is adjusted on the one hand to the value in use of the raw materials, appreciated in the capacity to sell the 
raw materials stored in the finished products, and on the other hand to the realizable value of the stocks 
of finished products analyzed, reference by reference, by the management controls of the group.

Products in stock are regularly checked and those that are unusable are destroyed.

1.12 Trade receivables and payables

Trade receivables and payables are recorded upon initiation at fair value. The fair value of trade receivables 
and trade payables is considered to be their nominal value, given payment terms that are generally less than 
3 months. These trade receivables and payables are then recognized at amortized cost.

Trade receivables may, if necessary, be subject to depreciation based on either a commercial risk or a political 
or monetary risk in certain countries.

1.13 Treasury shares

Treasury securities are recorded at their acquisition cost as a deduction from equity. The disposal results of 
these securities are charged directly to equity and do not contribute to the result of the year.

1.14 Cash

Cash is broken down into cash balances, investments and cash equivalents with high liquidity, the maturity 
date of which is generally less than three months when they are acquired.

1.15 Provisions

In accordance with IAS 37, recognized provisions are established on the basis of case-by-case assessments of 
the corresponding risks and charges. A provision is established whenever the Group's management bodies 
are aware of a legal or implicit obligation resulting from a past event, which could lead to a probable outflow 
of resources without at least equivalent compensation expected. Provisions are broken down into current 
and non-current liabilities based on the expected maturity of the term of the risk. Provisions maturing in 
more than one year are discounted if the impact is significant.

1.16 Pension and other retirement commitments 

These commitments are provisioned on the balance sheet. They include commitments for end-of-career 
benefits, long-service awards and defined benefit plans whose management is not fully outsourced. In 
determining the present value of the obligation under each plan, the Group uses the retrospective method 
with projection of final salary according to the projected unit credit method. Commitments and hedging 
assets are valued each year and take into account, in particular, the valuation of commitments, seniority, 
life expectancy, staff turnover rate by category and economic assumptions such as: inflation rate and 
discount rate.

The portion at less than one year of provisions for retirement commitments and other employee benefits 
is presented in current liabilities.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income in accordance with IAS19 Revised.

1.17 Share subscription and purchase plans

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 2 "Share-based payments", the Group recognizes a compensation 
charge for all equity-related instruments granted to its employees. The Group regularly carries out stock 
option and share option grants at an agreed unit price.
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When granting options, the Group measures the fair value of the instruments at the grant date. The Group 
uses the Black & Scholes mathematical model to value them. Changes in value after the grant date have 
no effect on this valuation. This fair value is recognized on a straight-line basis in the income statement 
(in current operating income) over the period of acquisition of rights with a direct counterpart in equity.

1.18 Taxes

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 12 "Deferred Taxes", the provisions for deferred taxes are established 
according to the liability method and the extended concept on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities and their taxable amounts (deficits). tax included). Deferred taxes are 
calculated according to the applicable tax legislation. Deferred tax assets are subject to the recognition of 
a deferred tax asset only if their recovery is probable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

In the balance sheet, the Group offsets deferred tax assets and liabilities if the entity has a legal right to 
offset current tax assets and liabilities, and if the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxing authority.

Deferred taxes calculated on items charged to equity are recognized in equity. Research tax credits are 
recognized as a subsidy and are recognized in the income statement under "other operating income"(IAS 20).

1.19 Product sales

The turnover is recorded at the moment of transfer of ownership of the products. Net discounts and rebates 
are reported to customers.

1.20 Valuation and measurement of derivative financial instruments

In order to manage its exposure to exchange rate and interest rate risks, the company uses financial 
instruments listed on organized or over-the-counter markets with first-rate counterparties. The company's 
policy is not to operate on the financial markets for speculative purposes.

In order for a foreign exchange or interest rate derivative to be eligible for hedge accounting (future cash 
flows or fair value), it is necessary to define and document the hedging relationship and to demonstrate 
its effectiveness throughout its life. A fair value hedge provides protection against changes in the value 
of assets, liabilities or firm commitments. A hedge of future cash flows makes it possible to hedge against 
changes in the value of future cash flows.

Derivative instruments are recognized in the balance sheet at fair value. Generally, the derivative instruments 
used by the Group qualify as accounting instruments for hedging instruments; in this case, the change in 
fair value of these derivative instruments is recorded in equity.

1.21 Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities consist mainly of borrowings from credit institutions and liabilities related to finance 
leases. These financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost.

1.22 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income attributable to equity holders of the parent 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing restated net income group share by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding, plus all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Potential dilutive common shares include, in particular, stock options and free shares issued by the Group.
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1.23 Research and development costs

Costs of research and development are expensed if the criteria for recognition as an asset are not met 
according to Management.

1.24 Capital management policy

The Company is not subject to any specific regulatory or contractual obligations with respect to share capital. 
The arbitration between external financing and capital increase is made on a case by case basis depending 
on the circumstances and the needs.

1.25 Segment reporting

The Robertet Group operates on an organizational scheme oriented along two main axes:

 • Divisions are charged with development of the global strategy for the product families for 
which they are responsible. They ensure the development of new products, from their design to 
the implementation of industrial strategies, and are responsible for marketing (ranges, prices, 
advertising resources, distribution channels ...) ;

 • Continental General Management, which is responsible for developing the Group's positions in 
their respective geographical areas. The Group has three directorates: Europe, Americas and other 
countries of the world. As part of the sales and marketing strategy defined by the Divisions, they 
manage the commercial networks.

Consequently, the segment information presented is information by Divisions, the latter being considered 
as CGUs (Cash Generating Unit).

1.26 Operating income and current operating income

Current operating income corresponds to the definition presented in the recommendation n ° 2009-R-03 
of the National Accounting Council of July 2, 2009 relating to the format of the financial statements of 
companies under international reference. It includes in particular the totality of the Territorial Economic 
Contribution (CET) charge collected in France, including its value-added component. This classification in 
operating expenses is therefore unchanged compared to the Professional Tax it has replaced.

Operating income is calculated based on current operating income and includes other income and expenses 
such as the results on disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
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N O T E  2  –  G O O D W I L L   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Goodwill on the assets side breaks down as follows :

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Flavors Division :

Gross Value Depreciation 7 879 7 879

Dépréciation

Net Value 7 879 7 879

Fragrance Division :

Gross Value Depreciation 17 808 17 808

Dépréciation

Net Value 17 808 17 808

Raw Materials Division

Gross Value Depreciation 1 934  1 934

Dépréciation

Net Value 1 934 1 934

Total Net Value 27 621 27 621

The change of net values is analyzed as follows :

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Opening Net accounting values 27 621 17 635

Acquisitions 9 986

Total 27 621 27 621

Goodwill is allocated to groups of Cash Generating Units (CGUs) depending on the activity to which they 
relate. The CGUs defined correspond to the divisions: Flavors, Fragrance and Raw Materials.

There are no indications of impairment related to certain significant assets.

A value test of the CGUs has been performed and goodwill has been allocated (test as of December 31, 2018).
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This test was determined using the 5-year projections of cash flows generated by the sale of each division.

Beyond these 5 years, a terminal value was determined from a growth rate of 2.5%. These net tax flows are 
discounted at a rate of  8.80%. This rate is after tax.

The result of the tests confirms that there is no impairment of the assets allocated to these CGUs.

Sensitivity test

The group performs sensitivity tests on the main assumptions. The main results of these tests are presented 
below:

A perpetual growth rate of zero would not lead to any depreciation.

The level of the discount rate (key assumption) for which the recoverable amount is equal to the book 
value (after taking into account all the effects resulting from this change on the other variables used) is:

    •Flavors Division :    18,75%

    •Fragrances Division :   10,67%

    •Raw Materials Division :   14,15%

The level of the EBITDA / CA ratio (operating key assumption) for which the recoverable amount is equal to 
the book value (after taking into account all the effects resulting from this change on the other variables 
used) is:

    •Flavors Division :       5,5%

    •Fragrances Division :      8,4%

    •Raw Materials Division :    13,1%
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 N O T E  3  –  T A N G I B L E  F I X E D  A S S E S T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

FIXED ASSETS
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Land 28 058 -352 475 154 28 335

Buildings 140 471 2 014 5 552 33 414 148 418

Technical facilities 145 411 1 468 5 654 251 206 152 488

Other fixed assets 19 751 -275 1 252 500 194 20 422

Assets in progress 4 928 93 4 021 -149 8 893

TOTAL 338 620 2 948 16 954 784 819 358 557

AMORTIZATION
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Land 2 786 210 2 996

Buildings 58 956 733 5 720 28 298 65 679

Technical facilities 110 820 1 294 8 219 111 194 120 416

Other fixed assets 14 859 -146 1 780 331 30 16 192

TOTAL 187 421 1 881 15 929 470 522 205 283

NET VALUE 151 199 153 274

The main acquisitions during the year relate to the acquisitions made by Robertet SA, which are described 
in note 2.1 of the appendix to the parent company financial statements, industrial technical investments 
made in the USA for 4.5 million euros, and the acquisition and development of new administrative premises 
by Charabot SA for nearly 4 million euros.

Lastly, fixed assets in progress are essentially made up of industrial projects currently being carried out on 
the Grasse site and in the United States.

The capital assets presented above include technical leases for the following amounts :

I n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Technical facilities 259 525

TOTAL 259 525

The amortization expense for the 2018 financial year for these finance lease assets is € 265,000, compared 
to € 283,000 in 2017.
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N O T E  4 –  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

1. CATGEGORIES OF FINANCAL ASSET

The different categories of financial assets are the following :
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Non-current financial derivative instruments

Other non-current financial assets 16 345 16 345

Clients 107 753 107 753

Other receivables 15 445 15 445

Current derivative financial instruments

Other current financial assets 594 594

Cash and cash equivalents 98 153 6 215 104 368

Financial assets 237 696 6 809 244 505

3 1  D É C E M B R E  2 0 1 7

Non-current financial derivative instruments   

Other non-current financial assets 14 075 14 075

Clients 106 512 106 512

Other receivables 18 444 18 444

Current derivative financial instruments

Other current financial assets 592 592

Cash and cash equivalents 84 419 5 486 89 904

Financial assets 223 450 6 078 229 528

Available-for-sale securities :

This asset category includes, in particular, non-consolidated equity securities and securities that do not 
meet the other definitions of financial assets. Unrealized gains or losses recognized on this asset category 
are recognized in equity until their disposal. At the end of 2017 and 2018, the Group did not hold any assets 
falling into this category.
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Loans and receivables :

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
unlisted.

Financial Assets at fair value through profit and loss :

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are classified as marketable securities that the Robertet 
Group has acquired to be sold or repurchased in the short term. They are measured at fair value at closing, 
and changes in fair value are recognized in profit or loss. The fair values of marketable securities are 
determined primarily by reference to the market price (see Note 17).

The 6.2 million euros at the end of December 2018 represent short-term investments (less than one year), 
mainly term accounts and certificates of deposit.

2.  N O N - C U R R E N T  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s  

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Equity investments accounted for at cost 1 417 1 340

Deposits and guarantees 1 978 1 625

Receivables from equity interests 5 963 4 806

Other immobilized securities (1) 4 519 3 793

Loans 164 539

TOTAL 14 041 12 103

(1) These are mainly long-term investments of US subsidiary Robertet Flavors (certificates of deposit).

(2)The breakdown of equity investments is as follows as of December 31, 2017 : 

Gross value Depreciation Net value
Holding 

percentage
Equity Results

Finca Carrasquilla 1 000 1 000 50%

Other 540 200 340

TOTAL 1 540 200 1 340

The breakdown of equity investments is as follows on December 31 2018 :

Gross value Depreciation Net value
Holding 

percentage
Equity Results

Finca Carrasquilla 1 000 1 000 50%

Autres 617 200 417

TOTAL 1 617 200 1 417
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3.  I N V E S T M E N T S  I N  A S S O C I A T E S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Equity-method affi l iates’ f inancial statements

Total Balance Revenue Result Equitys

Hitex Sas 4 498 3 625 829 2 996

Bionov 6 522 3 847 -314 -457

The change in value of investments in associates breaks down as follows : 

Value at opening 1 973

Entrance

Dividends paid 100

Share of result 119

Provisions for risks 313

Value at closure 2 307

N O T E  4 -  C U R R E N T  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Short-term investments 594 592

TOTAL 594 592

N O T E  5  -  S T O C K S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Raw Materials 132 791 118 177

Work in progress and finished goods 62 530 58 360

Gross value 195 322 176 537

Provisions -7 575 -7 298

Net Value 187 746 169 238

Provisions for depreciation can be analyzed as follows : 

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Balance at opening of fiscal year 7 298 5 861

Increases 824 1 812

Reversals and uses -458 -172

Conversion differential -89 -202

BALANCE AT CLOSING OF FISCAL YEAR 7 575 7 298
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N O T E  6 -  R E C E I V A B L E S   i n  a  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Breakdown of trade receivables 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Europe 34 304 35 886

North America 26 220 22 315

South America 13 984 18 401

Asia 28 574 22 856

Other countries 8 196 11 012

TOTAL GROSS RECEIVABLES 111 278 110 470

Provisions for depreciation 3 525 3 958

TOTAL NET RECEIVABLES 107 753 106 512

Provisions for impairment can be analyzed as follows :

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Balance at the beginning of the fiscal year 3 958 4 208

Increases 827 197

Reversals and uses -1 226 -401

Conversion differential 27 -102

Other movements -60 55

BALANCE AT THE END OF THE FISCAL YEAR 3 525 3 958

N O T E  7  –  O T H E R  A S S E T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Prepaid expenses 7 454 5 470

Other receivables 7 991 12 974

TOTAL OTHER RECEIVABLES AND ACCRUALS 15 445 18 444

Current tax assets 3 568 2 250

Deferred tax assets 1 099 984

TOTAL 20 112 21 678
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N O T E  8 -  P R O V I S I O N S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Opening Allocations Uses
Exchange 

rate 
variation

Equity Other (3) Closing

Retirement benefits 10 317 121 -205 -2 -183 1 10 049

Other employee 
benefit 
commitments  (2)

1 775 176 -132 61 -12 1 868

Other risks (1) 706 637 -8 -152 313 1 496

Risks and charges 2 481 813 -140 -91 301 3 364

Total provisions 12 798 934 -345 -93 -183 302 13 413

Of which current 
liabilities 1 455 1 858

Of which non-current 
liabilities 11 343 11 555

(1) Other risks  :

Other risks mainly correspond to social, fiscal and commercial risks.

(2) Other employee benefit commitments  :

They mainly correspond to a provision for long service awards for companies established in France.

(3) Retirement provisions :

2018 Opening Allocations Reversals Equity
Exchange 

rate
variation

Other Closing

Retirement benefits 10 317 121 -205 -183 -2 1 10 049

End of career 
allowances 10 122 56 -205 -183 -2 12 9 802

Supplementary 
pensions 195 65 -12 248

2017

Retirement benefits 10 134 243 -94 6 -6 34 10 317

End of career 
allowances 9 944 214 -94 6 -6 58 10 122

Supplementary 
pensions 190 29 -24 195
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The Group participates in the retirement of its employees in accordance commitments for supplementary 
retirement, end-of-career retirement and retirement benefits for which it is responsible. The corresponding 
actuarial liabilities are assumed either in the form of contributions paid to independent bodies responsible 
for their service and the management of the funds, or in the form of provisions.

Commitments in France represent 99% of the Group's pension provisions, which is why only the assumptions 
concerning France are detailed.

A-Defined Benefit Pension Plan : 

This pension plan only concerns Charabot SA and has been pre-financed in a fund managed by GAN.

The assumptions used are as follows:

31-Dec-17

Staff turnover rate 0%

Discount rate 1,30%

Age at retirement 67 yrs

Mortality rate nil

31-Dec-18

Staff turnover rate 0%

Discount rate 1,57%

Age at retirement 67 yrs

Mortality rate nil

The net amount shown in the balance sheet relating to this pension plan is obtained by difference between 
the commitment depending on the above assumptions and the value of the asset:

The gross sum of the commitment at 31/12/2018 amounts to 556 thousand euros. It is covered by an asset 
of 318 thousand euros, the difference of 248 thousand euros is recognized as a liability in the balance sheet 
in provisions for Retirement Benefits.

An amendment to the agreement of December 17, 2008 was put in place on December 17, 2012. This addendum 
modified the conditions for opening retirement pension rights at retirement with, in particular, the obligation 
to be 67 years of age to benefit from the supplementary pension scheme (instead of 65 years previously), 
and to have liquidated his pension rights in the general Social Security plan as of December 31, 2013.

The plan is therefore maintained only for a population of 6 employees who liquidated their pension rights 
before December 31, 2013, which explains the use of a zero turnover rate and the absence of mortality rates. 
There is no mortality risk due to the fact that the employees concerned will gradually liquidate their rights in 
the medium term. The discount rate is identical to that used for the calculation of end-of-career indemnities.
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B-End of career benefits :

The main assumptions used in the valuation of the commitments are as follows:

STAFF TURNOVER RATE 2018 2017

From 16 yrs to 30 yrs 8,3% 8,3%

From 31 yrs to 41 yrs 3,5% 3,5%

From 42 yrs to 49 yrs 1,5% 1,5%

From 50 yrs to 65 yrs 0.2% 0,2%

The main assumptions used in the valuation of the commitments are as follows :

France

Growth rate of wages 2018 2%

2017 2%

2016 2%

Discount rate 2018 1,57%

2017 1,30%

2016 1,31%

Discount rates are defined by reference to a market rate at the closing date based on the obligations of 

Tier 1 entities.

The variation on these commitments is broken down as follows :

I n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s 2018 2017

Annual cost of services rendered 566 549

Financial expenses on commitments 128 129

Actuarial gains and losses -1 082 -558

Cost of the period -388 120

The impact of the change in the discount rate on these end-of-career benefits is the following :

Discount rate 1,57% 2,57% 0,57%

i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s 
Sum of end of year benefits 9 678 8 624 10 947
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N O T E  9 –  F I N A N C I A L  L I A B I L I T I E S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

The different categories of financial liabilities are as follows:

TOTAL
31-Dec-18

TOTAL
31-Dec-17

Current Non-current Current Non-current

Trade payables 36 393 36 393 41 895 41 895

Other accounts payable 34 510 34 510 33 310 33 310

Other financial liabilities 110 651 38 479 72 172 117 121 42 772 74 349

Financial liabilities 181 554 109 382 72 172 192 327 117 978 74 349

Analysis by category of debt 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Long- and medium-term borrowings 88 487 89 448

Finance lease borrowings 142 205

Bank overdrafts 14 242 19 964

Other financial liabilites (1) 6 651 6 387

Current accounts of shareholders 1 129 1 117

TOTAL 110 651 117 121

(1) These debts include :
  •a financial debt of €2,552,000 in respect of a put option on minority interests in SAPAD.
  •a financial debt of €4,000k in respect of a put option on minority interests in Robertet Goldfield.

Analyses by payment due date 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Within one year (1) 38 479 42 772

Due in more than one year and less than five years 67 124 63 161

More than five years old 5 048 11 188

TOTAL 110 651 117 121

of which in Euros 105 150 110 270

of which in USD 2 802 1 045

Other currencies 2 699 5 806

(1) The portion of financial debts due within one year breaks down as follows:

i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Current portion of borrowings 20 427 21 572

Current portion of miscellaneous financial debts 3 787 1 228

Current portion of finance lease borrowings 23 8

Bank overdrafts 14 242 19 964

TOTAL 38 479 42 772
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i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s
 In less than

 1 month

between 1 
month and
3 months

between 3 
month and
6 months

over 6 
months TOTAL

Bank loans 1 328 4 096 5 074 9 929 20 427

Finance lease loans 23 23

Current bank overdrafts 14 242 14 242

Other financial debts 3 787 3 787

TOTAL 1 328 4 096 5 074 27 981 38 479

The breakdown of fixed-rate and variable-rate borrowings is as follows :

i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Fixed rate loans 85 540 80 443

Variable rate loans 2 946 9 005

TOTAL 88 487 89 448
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Details of borrowings at the end of 2018 are as follows :

Group entity BANK Outstanding
capital in K€

Year of last 
repayment Interest rates Currency

ROBERTET GRASSE SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE 9 173 2023 0,30% EUR

PALATINE 1 736 2023 0,40%. EUR

BECM 10 063 2023 0,53% EUR

BNP 8 142 2028 1,65% EUR

LCL 7  2 6 3 2023 0,49% EUR

HSBC 8 7 5 2020 Euribor 3M+0,7% EUR

LYONNAISE DE BANQUE 278 2019 Euribor 3M+0,8% EUR

CMU 278 2019 Euribor 3M+0,8% EUR

LCL 1 250 2020 Euribor 3M+0,85% EUR

ARKEA 2 432 2022 0,76% EUR

ARKEA 612 2022 1,19% EUR

BECM 4 752 2023 0,30% EUR

BECM 4 752 2023 0,35% EUR

BECM 5 071 2022 0,8% EUR

BPI 113 2020 0% EUR

ARKEA 518 2020 0,85% EUR

ARKEA 1 610 2022 0,58% EUR

CAISSE D'EPARGNE 10 393 2024 0,63% EUR

PALATINE 4 446 2024 0,42% EUR

LYONNAISE DE BANQUE 6 351 2022 0,30% EUR

SMC 7 532 2024 0,48% EUR

ICNE 40

SAPAD BPA 53 2021 2.40% EUR

BNP 38 2020 1.25% EUR

BNP 43 2020 1.25% EUR

BNP 70 2021 0.50% EUR

BNP 64 2022 0.42% EUR

BNP 125 2021 0.50% EUR

BNP 150 2021 0.55% EUR

BNP 3 2019 3.40% EUR

ROBERTET INDIA BNP Paribas 265  9,75% INR

TOTAL 88 487

There are covenants on borrowings with a total balance of €1.4 million at 31/12/2018. 
The Robertet Group complies with the trigger limits of these covenants as at 31/12/2018.
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N O T E  10  -  O T H E R  C U R R E N T  L I A B I L I T I E S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Tax and social security liabilities 20 598 20 530

Other liabilities 13 462 12 364

Deferred income 449 417

TOTAL 34 510 33 310

NOTE 11 - FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MARKET RISK EXPOSURE  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Risk management is carried out by Group Management in accordance with the context of the financial 
markets and the procedures established by the Group.

Foreign exchange risks

A major portion of the Group's sales are made in currencies other than the euro, in particular the US dollar, 
the British pound, the Brazilian real, the Mexican peso and the Japanese yen. Revenues in foreign currencies 
are translated into euros in the Group's consolidated financial statements.

These sales in foreign currencies are mainly made by the Group's subsidiaries in their functional currency, 
which does not generate any transactional exchange risk at their level.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments with off-balance sheet risks to manage its exposure to 
foreign exchange risks. These financial instruments are intended solely to hedge risks on future transactions 
or firm commitments. The group does not use derivatives for speculative purposes.  

The overall situation of the foreign exchange portfolio is as follows :

31-Dec-17 31-Dec-18

Nominal Fair value Nominal Fair value

Change à terme USD 3 327 3 379 10 387 10 510

Raw Materials risks

Raw materials risk at Group level remains insignificant given the wide diversity of raw materials used and 
the diversification of supplies. The Robertet Group is not exposed to any risk of supply problems or price 
pressure. The Group has not set up hedging instruments for its purchases because the vast majority of Raw 
Materials purchased are not listed on markets.

Interest rate risks

The Company's exposure to interest rate risks results mainly from credit lines and variable-rate borrowings.

Counterpart risks

As part of the contracts relating to these derivatives, the Group is subject to counterpart risks. However, 
the Group, contracting only with first-rate banks and financial institutions, considers that these risks are 
not material. 
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Credit risk

The following statements present the breakdown of trade receivables as at 31 December 2017 and 2018:

2017
 

Receivables 
at maturity 

 Outstanding receivables  

 Impaired
receivables 

 
TOTAL - 3 

months
3 to 

6 months
Over 6 

months 

France 12 805 1 691 154 381 -119 14 912

Europe (outside  France) 15 636 2 832 1 057 1 329 -328 20 526

South America 13 510 1 608 302 2 981 -2 438 15 963

North America 16 811 4 920 429 155 -67 22 248

Asia & Oceania 18 944 2 952 503 457 -96 22 760

Other 7 040 1 576 845 1 551 -910 10 102

Trade receivables 84 746 15 579 3 290 6 854 -3 958 106 512

2018
 Receivables 

at maturity

 Outstanding receivables 

 Impaired
receivables 

 
TOTAL - 3 

months
3 to 

6 months
Over 6 

months 

France 11 664 1 451 219 516

Europe (outside  France) 15 393 2 974 455 1 632

South America 10 597 2 882 351 154

North America 25 055 930 16 218

Asia & Oceania 21 124 6 145 1 044 261

Other 4 385 1 130 1 057 1 624

Trade receivables 88 218 15 512 3 142 4 405

Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 7 as amended in 2009 requires financial assets and liabilities recognized at fair value to be classified 
according to the following three levels :

  • level 1: instrument listed on an active market;
  •  Level 2: instrument measured using valuation techniques based on observable  

market data;
  •  Level 3: instrument measured using valuation techniques based on unobservable  

market data.
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The tables below provide an analysis of the financial instruments recognized at fair value in the balance 

sheet by level of hierarchy:

Assets at fair value on 31/12/2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3  TOTAL 

Short-term cash investments 594 594

6 215 6 215

Total assets at fair value 6 809 6 809

Liabilities at fair value on 31/12/2018

Total liabilities at fair value

Assets at fair value on31/12/2017 Level 1 Level  2 Level  3  TOTAL 

Short-term cash investments 592 592

5 486 5 486

Total assets at fair value 6 078 6 078

Liabilities at fair value on 31/12/2017

Interest rate derivatives (Swaps) 12 12

Total of liabilities at fair value 12 12

There were no transfers from category 1 to category 2 for all the Group's financial assets and liabilities.

N O T E  12  –  S E G M E N T E D  I N F O R M A T I O N   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

In accordance with IFRS 8, the Group provides segment information as used internally by the PDO (chief 
operating decision maker). The PDO is the General Management of the Robertet Group, chaired by  
Mr Philippe Maubert.

Le niveau d’information sectorielle du Groupe est le secteur d’activité. La ventilation est faite sur les trois 
Divisions du Groupe :

    •Raw materials 
    •Fragrances
    •Flavors
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Internal reporting to the PDO is organized according to the operational sectors identified above :

AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018 TOTAL
Raw 

Materials
Fragrances Flavorss

CONSOLIDATED SALES REVENUE 524 901 148 004 195 121 181 776

Current operating income 68 849 26 667 14 899 27 283

Net income Group share 51 751 20 518 9 971 21 262

Goodwill 27 621 1 934 17 808 7 879

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 153 274 56 484 49 454 47 336

CAPITAL ASSET ACQUISITIONS 16 953 7 566 4 693 4 694

AMORTIZATION CHARGE 16 206 6 474 5 079 4 653

NON-CASH CURRENT ASSETS 315 105 134 541 95 829 84 735

CURRENT LIABILITIES EXCLUDING PROVISIONS 
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 74 921 29 831 25 986 19 104

AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2017 TOTAL
Raw 

Materials
Fragrances Flavorss

CHIFFRES D'AFFAIRES CONSOLIDÉ 504 398 133 625 196 258 174 515

Résultat opérationnel courant 67 210 20 800 24 276 22 134

Résultat net Part du Groupe 48 536 13 664 19 178 15 694

Goodwill 27 621 1 934 17 808 7 879

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 151 200 59 960 50 114 41 126

CAPITAL ASSET ACQUISITIONS 22 326 9 188 9 326 3 812

AMORTIZATION CHARGE 16 339 6 072 5 682 4 585

NON-CASH CURRENT ASSETS 297 037 129 101 92 200 75 736

CURRENT LIABILITIES EXCLUDING PROVISIONS 
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 77 508 28 910 29 839 18 759

Analysis by geographical area of product sales:

AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2018 TOTAL Europe United States Other

Consolidated Sales Revenue 524 901 187 888 173 804 163 209

AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2017 TOTAL Europe United States Other

Consolidated Sales Revenue 504 398 175 370 157 272 171 756
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N O T E  13  -  DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND PROVISIONS  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Depreciation on fixed assets 16 206 16 339

Charges and reversals of provisions (1) 620 1 511

TOTAL 16 826 17 850

(1) Provisions for impairment in value relate to receivables, inventories and provisions for liabilities and charges (see notes 5, 6 and 8).

N O T E  14  -  F I N A N C I A L  R E S U LT   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Interest on borrowings and similar charges -915 -988

Securities products 72 80

Net financial cost -843 -908

Foreign exchange (losses) -3 340 -5 066

Foreign exchange gains 4 488 2 982

Other 277 -87

Other financial income and expenses 1 425 -2 171

TOTAL 582 -3 079

N O T E  15  –  T A X E S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Net Income 
before Tax

Net tax
(expense)

/income

Net Income 
before Tax

Net tax
(expense)

/income

French companies of the Group 37 676 -10 104 35 946 -10 361

Other companies of the Group 31 754 -7 507 32 190 -8 995

TOTAL 69 430 -17 611 68 135 -19 356

Current tax   -17 515 -21 021

Net deferred tax -96 1 665

TAXES -17 611 -19 356
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Tax assets and liabilities break down as follows:

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17 Difference

Deferred tax assets 1 099 984 115

Deferred tax liabilities -9 578 -9 266 -313

Deferred tax net -8 480 -8 282 - 198

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Net deferred taxes as of 1 January: assets/ (liabilities) -8 282 -9 790

Entry into the scope of consolidation -148

Recognized in shareholders' equity -68 -279

(Expense) / income -96 1 665

Conversion differential -33 276

Other -1 -5

TOTAL -8 480 -8 282

Of which deferred tax liabilities -9 578 -9 266

Of which deferred tax assets 1 099 984

The reconciliation of the Group's theoretical tax charge calculated at the tax rate applicable in France (34.16% 
in 2018 and 34.43% in 2017) and the effective tax charge is as follows:

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Net income before taxes 69 430 68 136

Current tax rate in France 34,16% 34,43%

Theoretical tax (expenses)/income at the current tax rate in France -23 717 -23 459

- Impact of permanent differences 2 816 1 128

- Effect of the current rate differential of foreign countries 1 665 1 143

- Impact of unrecognized tax losses -264 -242

- Impact of tax credits 1 266 143

- Impact of rate differences (deferred/current) 29 1 412

- Impact of tax adjustments -3

-Other 594 522

Net tax (expenses)/income -17 611 -19 356

Group effective tax rate in % 25,37% 28,41%
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The French tax rate consists of the corporate income tax rate (33.33%), increased by the additional 
contributions in force in 2018, which brings the overall income tax rate to 34.16% (vs. 34.43% in 2017).

Deferred taxes on US and French subsidiaries take into account changes in future tax rates.

The tax loss carryforwards of each entity are reviewed and analyzed at each closing. Their activation is 
decided or not in the financial statements on the basis of the following assumptions:

  •High probability of profits within 3 years,

  •Delays in carrying forward these deficits well beyond 3 years (20 years or unlimited)

As a result, no deferred tax assets are capitalized on subsidiaries undergoing reorganization or development :

1) Charabot Group :

  •non-capitalized deferred tax on Arco tax losses: 944 K€,

  •non-capitalized deferred tax on Charabot Inc tax losses: €288k or 330k USD,

3) Robertet Bulgaria :

  •non-capitalized deferred tax on losses: 104 K€,

3) Robertet Andina :

  •Robertet Andina deferred tax not activated on losses : 701 K€.

N O T E  16 -  C O M M I T M E N T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

16-1 Commitments given and received

The procedures implemented by the Group make it possible to identify all the Group's main commitments 
and not to omit any significant ones.

Commitments given 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Guarantees towards the treasury 9 8

Mortgage promises 15 000 15 000

Other commitments 1 023 1 030

TOTAL 16 032 16 038

Commitments received 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Interest receivable on term accounts 105 117

TOTAL 105 117

The mortgage promises concern, for an amount of 15 million euros, a promise granted by the parent company 
on the land that houses the new unit of blends of fragrance compositions, as security for a loan of the same 
amount at the outset, with a residual value of 555 K€ as at 31 December 
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16-2 Disputes

 Each of the known disputes in which Robertet or Group companies are involved was reviewed at the balance 
sheet date and, after consulting legal counsel, any provisions deemed necessary were recorded to cover 
the estimated risks.

N O T E  17  -  M A R K E T A B L E  S E C U R I T I E S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Marketable securities consist of certificates of deposit and other short-term investment income.

31-Dec-17 Variation Conversion 
differential 31-Dec-18

Marketable securities 5 486 806 -77 6 215

TOTAL 5 486 806 -77 6 215

INVENTORY OF MARKETABLE SECURITIES  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Robertet USA : 2 224 3 091

Certificates of Deposit 2 224 3 091

Other term investments: 3 990 2 395

Robertet Argentina 154 215

Robertet Spain 161 161

Robertet Mexico 1 090 747

Arco 500 500

Robertet Brazil 2 086 773

GENERAL TOTAL 6 215 5 486

N O T E  18 -  G R O U P ' S  W O R K F O R C E

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Executives and management 528 519

Employees 769 782

Production 507 503

TOTAL 1 804 1 804
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N O T E  19  -  C O M P O S I T I O N  O F  S H A R E  C A P I T A L   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

On 31 December 2018, the share capital consisted of 2,161,563 fully paid-up shares with a par value of  
€ 2.5 each and 143,582 investment certificates. Double voting rights are granted to registered shares held 
for more than five years (number of shares at 31 December 2018: 1,080,100).

On 31 December 2018, the Family Group held 53.09% of the simple voting rights, representing 67.62% of the 
total voting rights.

At the next Robertet shareholders’ meeting, a proposal will be made to distribute a dividend of € 5.6  
per share

N O T E  20 –  C A L C U L A T I O N  O F  E A R N I N G S  P E R  S H A R E

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is 

as follows:

Basic earnings per share 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Net income attributable to the Company's shareholders (in thousands of euros) 51 751 48 536

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
and investment certificates in circulation (in thousands) 

2 309 2 304

Basic earnings per share (in euros) 22,41 21,06

Diluted earnings per share 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Net income attributable to the Company's shareholders (in thousands of euros) 51 751 48 536

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
and investment certificates in circulation (in thousands) 2 309 2 304

Weighted average number of shares 
taken into account in the calculation of diluted earnings (in thousands) 2 309 2 304

Diluted earnings per share (in euros) 22,41 21,06

N O T E  21  –  P O S T- B A L A N C E  S H E E T  E V E N T S 

No material event likely to change the financial information presented occurred between the closing date of 
the financial statements at 31 December 2018 and the date of the Board of Directors' meeting that approved 
these financial statements on 24 April 2019.

N O T E  22 – R E L A T E D  P A R T I E S

Transactions with affiliated companies are only purchases or sales of raw materials from the parent company 
to them. The parent company's sales to these affiliated companies amounted to €542k for the 2018 financial 
year, while purchases amounted to €4,729k.
Transactions eliminated on consolidation are not described here.
The other related parties concerned are the members of the Board of Directors. The compensation and 
benefits of all kinds paid to corporate officers are detailed in the following paragraph:
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N O T E  23 –  E X E C U T I V E  R E M U N E R A T I O N   i n  e u r o s

All compensation and benefits related to the members of the Board of Directors and the Group Management 

Committee, paid over the 2018 and 2017 financial years, are as follows : 

2018 2017

Remuneration of the Executive Committee 2 343 900 2 506 850

Remuneration includes the fixed and variable part excluding employer social security contributions. 

Table of compensation, options and shares paid to each executive corporate officer:

Remuneration paid to Philippe Maubert, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 2018 2017

Fixed remuneration

·France 340 500 336 000

· Related to directorships in Group companies 93 500 97 350

Variable remuneration 401 000 355 000

Benefits in kind (vehicle) 14 640 14 640

TOTAL 849 640 802 990

Remuneration paid to Lionel Picolet, Deputy Chief Executive Officer 2018 2017

Fixed remuneration

France 225 000 224 000

Related to directorships in Group companies 25 500 26 550

Variable remuneration 235 000 210 000

Benefits in kind (vehicle) 6 000 6 000

TOTAL 491 500 466 550

Remuneration paid to Christophe Maubert, Deputy Chief Executive Officer 2018 2017

Fixed remuneration

United States 335 900 350 465

Related to directorships in Group companies 11 500 11 500

Variable remuneration 160 000 143 000

Benefits in kind (vehicle) 5 500 5 500

TOTAL 512 700 510 465
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Remuneration paid to Olivier Maubert, Deputy Chief Executive Officer 2018 2017

Fixed remuneration

France 174 000 168 825

Related to directorships in Group companies 10 600 11 060

Variable remuneration 150 000 131 000

Benefits in kind (vehicle) 9 960 9 960

TOTAL 344 560 320 845

Table of variable compensation and shares granted to executives:

Philippe Maubert, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 2018 2017

Variable remuneration 425 000 401 000

Performance shares 700 800

Lionel Picolet, Chairman and Deputy Chief Executive Officer 2018 2016

Variable remuneration 265 000 245 000

Performance shares 450 600

Christophe Maubert, Deputy Managing Director 2018 2016

Variable remuneration 164 000 160 000

Performance shares 400 500

Olivier Maubert, Deputy Managing Director 2018 2017

Variable remuneration 168 000 150 000

Performance shares 400 500
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 Directors' fees :

Directors' 
fees

Audit 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee 2018 2017

Mrs. Gilberte LOMBARD 12 500 10 000 22 500 22 500

Mr. Alain MOYNOT 12 500 15 000 27 500 25 000

Mrs. Catherine CANOVAS 12 500 7 500 20 000 20 000

Mrs. Isabelle MAUBERT 12 500 12 500 12 500

Mrs. Colette ROBERT 12 500 3 000 15 500

Mrs. Isabelle PARIZE 7 500 7 500

Mr. Philippe MAUBERT 12 500 12 500 12 500

Mr. Lionel PICOLET 12 500 12 500 12 500

Mr. Christophe MAUBERT 7 500 7 500 12 500

Mr. Olivier MAUBERT 7 500 7 500 12 500

TOTAL 110 000 22 500 13 000 145 000 140 000

 N O T E  24 - R E S E A R C H  A N D  D E V E L O P M E N T  C O S T S  :

Research and development expenses represent approximately 8% of consolidated revenue for both 2018 and 

2017.

(1)

(1)
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N O T E  25 -  L I S T S  O F  C O N S O L I D A T E D  S U B S I D I A R I E S  :   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

E n t i t i e s Country % of ownership Consolidation 
methods

Robertet GMBH Germany 100%

F
U

L
L

 C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
IO

N

Robertet Argentina Argentina 100%

Robertet Do Brasil Brazil 100%

Robertet Espana Spain 100%

Robertet USA United States 100%

Robertet Italy Italy 100%

Robertet Hiyoki Japan 100%

Robertet de Mexico Mexico 100%

Robertet UK United Kingdom 100%

Robertet et Cie SA Switzerland 100%

Robertet Turkey Turkey 100%

Robertet South Africa Aromatics South Africa 100%

Charabot France 100%

Arco France 98%

Charabot Inc. United States 99%

Charabot China China 100%

Charabot Japan Japan 98%

Charabot Korea Korea 100%

Robertet China China 100%

Robertet India India 100%

Plantes Aromatiques du Diois France 80%

Robertet Bulgaria Bulgaria 100%

Robertet Andina Colombia 100%

Robertet Asia Singapore 100%

Robertet  Goldfield India 100%

Hitex SAS France 50% EQUITY
METHODBionov France 100%



F I S C A L Y EA R E N D I N G 31  D E C E M B E R 2018

C O R P O R AT E A C C O U N T S
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I N C O M E  S T A T E M E N T   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

NOTE 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

SALES REVENUE 2.13 245 863 232 272

Stocked production 1 554 2 269

Other operating revenue 3 385 2 931

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 250 802 237 472

Purchases -138 383 -129 374

Change in Inventories 3 675 6 368

External expenses -35 063 -34 631

ADDED VALUE 81 032 79 836

Personnel expenses -43 235 -41 261

Taxes and duties -4 627 -4 898

GROSS OPERATING SURPLUS 33 170 33 678

Depreciation and amortization expense -6 932 -6 507

Charges to provisions and reversals -393 -1 256

OPERATING INCOME 25 845 25 916

Financial income and expenses 2.14 6 750 3 545

CURRENT INCOME BEFORE TAX 32 596 29 460

Exceptional income and expenses 2.15 -3 613 -1 612

Income tax on profits 2.17 -4 579 -6 080

NET INCOME BEFORE PROFIT-SHARING 24 403 21 768

PROFIT SHARING -984 -1 383

NET PROFIT 23 419 20 384
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B A L A N C E  S H E E T   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

ASSETS  NOTE 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Intangible assets 2.1 181 243

Tangible fixed assets 2.1 et 2.2 54 083 54 850

Financial assets 2.3 128 006 123 509

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 182 271 178 602

Stocks and inventories 2.4 83 448 78 299

Trade receivables and related accounts 2.5 62 148 59 510

Miscellaneous receivables 2.5 14 301 15 377

Availabilities 2.6 8 319 11 942

Accruals and deferred income 2.6 4 525 3 409

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 172 740 168 537

TOTAL ASSETS 355 011 347 139

LIABILITIES 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Capital 2.19 5 763 5 756

Reserves 136 657 128 266

Net income for the fiscal year 23 419 20 384

Regulated provisions 2.8 32 241 28 607

TOTAL EQUITY 2.7 198 080 183 014

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 2.8 8 913 8 719

FINANCIAL DEBTS 2.9 104 823 112 200

OPERATING LIABILITIES 2.10 43 194 43 207

TOTAL LIABILITES 355 011 347 139
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T A B L E  O F  C A S H  F L O W   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

NOTE 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Net Earnings 23 419 20 384

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2.2 6 932 6 507

Net allocations to provisions 4 003 7 624

Gain/loss on asset disposals -21 -3 969

Cash flow from operations 34 332 30 546

Change in inventories 2.4 -5 149 -7 534

Change in trade and other receivables 2.5 -2 677 -1 203

Change in trade and other payables 2.10 -13 2 888

Change in working capital requirements for the year -7 839 -11 625

Cash flow from operations 26 494 18 920

Changes in scope of consolidation (1) -25 -32 617

Industrial investments 2.1 -6 102 -7 826

Other movements in financial assets -4 647 -1 466

Disposals and realizations of assets 21 3 996

Cash flow from investing activities -10 753 -37 913

Dividends paid -11 987 -10 588

Borrowings subscriptions 2.9 22 000 50 000

Repayment of borrowings 2.9 -22 586 -19 724

Net change in other financial liabilities -234

Cash flow from financing activities -12 573 19 454

Overall change in cash and cash equivalents 3 168 462

Cash, securities and bank overdrafts on 1 January -6 856 -7 318

Cash, securities and bank overdrafts on 31 December -3 687 -6 856

CASH POSITION 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Availabilities 2.6 8 319 11 942

Bank overdrafts 2.9 -12 006 -18 797

NET -3 687 -6 856
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SITUATION OF REALIZABLE AND AVAILABLE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

REALIZABLE AND AVAILABLE ASSETS

Trade receivables and related accounts 62 148 59 510

Other receivables 14 301 15 377

Availabilities 8 319 11 942

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 4 525 3 409

TOTAL 89 293 90 239

CURRENT LIABILITY

Other borrowings and financial debts 21 326 22 328

Bank overdrafts 12 006 18 797

Trade payables and related accounts 31 441 30 330

Tax and social security liabilities 11 134 12 614

TOTAL 75 906 83 885

REALISABLE ASSET - CURRENT LIABILITY 13 386 6 353
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N O T E  A N N E X  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF THE YEAR

A new integration stage was decided in 2018, which will result in the merger of Charabot SA into Robertet 
SA using the TUP procedure (Transmission Universelle de Patrimoine / Universal Wealth Transfer).
This operation will be effective on 1 January 2020.

N O T E  1  –  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S  A N D  V A L U A T I O N  M E T H O D S 

A. Principles 

The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been prepared in accordance with 
the legal and regulatory provisions currently in force in France (French Commercial Code, accounting decree 
of 29 November 1983 and regulation 2015-06 of the ANC (Autorité des Normes Comptables/ Accounting 
Standards Authority) relating to the 2014 general accounting plan). 

B. Property, plants and equipment

LTangible fixed assets are recorded in the balance sheet at their acquisition cost. Depreciation is calculated 

on a straight-line basis over the following useful lives :

   • Buildings     20 years or 40 years old
   • Light buildings    8 years
   • Transport equipment   4 and 5 years
   • Fixtures and fittings   5, 8 and 20 years
   • Technical installations  5 years or 10 years
   • Office equipment    5 years

The company records the difference between tax depreciation and economic depreciation in the form of 
special depreciation.

When circumstances or events indicate that an asset may have become impaired, the company reviews the 
present value of the asset. The current value is the higher of the market value and the value in use. The value 
in use is estimated by discounting the expected future cash flows of this asset as part of the company's 
expected conditions of use. The market value corresponds to the sale price, net of costs, that could be 
obtained by the company in the context of a transaction carried out under normal market conditions. 
Exceptional depreciation is recognized when the present value of an asset falls permanently below its net 
book value.

C. Financial Assets

Equity interests are recorded in the balance sheet at their acquisition cost. A provision for impairment is 
recorded when the value in use falls permanently below their carrying amount. The recoverable amount is 
determined on the basis of various criteria, including the share of shareholders' equity or, as the case may 
be, the market value and profitability prospects. 

Other financial assets are also valued at historical acquisition cost. A provision for depreciation may be 
recorded when the inventory value (market value or net worth) is lower 

D. Inventories and work in progress

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and market value. The cost of inventories corresponds to the 
weighted average cost, with the acquisition cost including all incidental purchase costs.
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Work-in-progress and finished goods are valued at their actual manufacturing cost, including direct and 
indirect production costs.

A provision for impairment is recognized when the probable realizable value of the inventory is less than 
its carrying amount.

E. Trade receivables and related accounts 

Trade receivables and related accounts are valued at their nominal value.

Provisions for impairment are recorded based on either a commercial risk or a political or monetary risk in 
certain countries.

F. Marketable securities

Marketable securities are valued at cost; a provision for impairment is recorded if the market value is lower.

G. Financial instruments  

Foreign exchange instruments :

In order to manage its exposure to foreign exchange risks, the company uses financial instruments listed 
on organized markets or entered into over-the-counter with first-rate counterparties.

The company's policy is not to operate on the financial markets for speculative purposes but to use the 
contracts to hedge firm commitments or future transactions that are highly probable.

Income and expenses resulting from the use of derivative financial instruments are recorded in financial 
income or operating income depending on the nature of the transactions when the transaction is settled.

A provision is recorded, if any, at the balance sheet date corresponding to the unrealized loss in the market 
value of the financial instrument at that date.

Interest rate instruments  :

The Company's exposure to interest rate risks results mainly from credit lines and variable-rate borrowings. 
The results of interest rate swaps that hedge financial liabilities are recorded net in financial income.

H. Exceptional result

Extraordinary income and expenses include significant items which, due to their nature, unusual nature 
and non-recurrence, cannot be considered as inherent to the company's operating activity, such as capital 
gains or losses on disposals, restructuring charges or exceptional depreciation.  

I. Use of estimates

The preparation of the parent company financial statements, in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, requires the use of estimates and assumptions made by the company's management 
that may affect the amounts of assets and liabilities shown on the balance sheet, the contingent assets 
and liabilities shown in the notes, as well as the income statement income and expenses. It is possible that 
reality may differ from these estimates and assumptions.

The main items concerned by the use of estimates and assumptions are:

   • Employee benefits (note 2.8),
   • Provisions (note 2.8).

These estimates and assumptions are subject to regular review and analysis, which includes historical data 
as well as forecasts considered as the most probable.
Impairment tests are also carried out on equity investments. 
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J. Provisions for risks and charge

Provisions are recorded for risks and expenses that are clearly specified in terms of their purpose and whose 
maturity or amount cannot be precisely determined, when there is an obligation towards third parties and 
it is certain or probable that this obligation will result in an outflow of resources without at least equivalent 
consideration.

K. Retirement Commitments

The company applies CNC recommendation 2003-R01 of 1 April 2003 on the rules for recognizing and 
measuring pension commitments.

Provisions are recorded in the balance sheet for liabilities arising from defined benefit pension plans. They 
are determined using the projected unit credit method based on actuarial valuations performed at each 
balance sheet date.

 Actuarial gains and losses are recognized immediately in the income statement.

L. Revenues from sales

Revenues are recorded at the time of the transfer of ownership of the products. Revenues are recognized 
net of discounts and rebates granted to customers

M. Research and development costs

Research and development costs are expensed in the year in which they are incurred.

N. Foreign currency transactions

Income and expenses in foreign currencies are recorded at their equivalent value at the average monthly 
rate. Debts, receivables and cash in foreign currencies are stated at their equivalent value at the year-end 
exchange rate. Foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in operating income or financial income 
depending on the nature of the transactions carried out.

O. Competitiveness and Employment Tax Credit

The company has opted to recognize the Competitiveness and Employment Tax Credit (CICE), 
introduced on January 1, 2013, as a deduction from personnel expenses. This income is recognized in 
the financial year according to the rate at which the corresponding personnel expenses are incurred. 
The amount is € 1,029k for the compensation targeted and paid in 2018 and based on a rate of 6%  
(vs. € 1,132k for the 2017 financial year). The cash advantage related to the CICE generated in 2018 on the 
liquidation of corporate income tax was mainly used to finance industrial investments.
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N O T E  2  –  A D D I T I O N A L  I N F O R M A T I O N 

2.1  M O V E M E N T S  O N  F I X E D  A S S E T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-17
Other

movements
Acquisitions Disposals 31-Dec-18

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

SOFTWARE 1 349 115 1 464

TOTAL 1 349 115 1 464

FIXED ASSETS

LAND 2 168 2 168

BUIDINGS 60 442 1 596 62 038

TECHNICAL FACILITIES 62 068 1 623 63 692

OTHER FIXED ASSETS 11 192 135 455 129 11 653

FIXED ASSETS IN PROGRESS 763 -135 2 313 2 940

TOTAL 136 633 5 987 129 142 491

The main acquisitions during the year were the construction of workshops for raw materials for €2.7 million as at 31 December 2018. 
These project projects have not yet been commissioned.
A cocoa extractor was commissioned in 2018. Its total cost is 264 K€ and it is allocated to the Flavor Division.

2 .2  M O V E M E N T S  O N  D E P R E C I A T I O N   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-17 Allocations Decreases 31-Dec-18

SOFTWARE 1 106 177 1 283

BUILDINGS 24 567 2 125 26 692

TECHNICAL FACILITIES 48 194 3 765 51 958

OTHER FIXED ASSETS 9 022 865 129 9 757

TOTAL 82 888 6 932 129 89 691
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2.3  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

GROSS VALUE 31-Dec-17 Acquisitions Divestments 31-Dec-18

Shareholdings 112 902 101 113 003

Receivables from equity interests 13 627 6 143 1 527 18 243

Other financial assets 242 46 195

TOTAL 126 771 6 245 1 573 131 442

PROVISIONS 31-Dec-17 Dotations Reversals 31-Dec-18

Shareholdings 2 962 324 3 286

Receivables from equity interests 300 150 150

TOTAL 3 262 324 150 3 436

NET VALUE 123 509 128 006

 2 .4  S T O C K S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Désignation Valuation method 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-18

Raw Materials Weighted average cost or daily price if lower 44 211 47 887

Provision / Raw materials -1 890 -1 988

Work in progress and finished goods Cost of production 39 124 40 679

Provision/ Finished Products -3 147 -3 130

TOTAL 78 299 83 448

2.5  C R E D I T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

All trade and other receivables are due within one year.

Details of other receivables 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-18

Debtor suppliers 14 020 9 903

Social security receivables 159 139

Tax receivables 510 3 419

Accrued income 337 566

Miscellaneous receivables 351 273

TOTAL 15 377 14 301
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2.6 A C C R U A L S  A N D  D E F E R R E D  I N C O M E  A N D  A V A I L A B I L I T I E S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-17 31-Dec-18

PREPAID EXPENSES 2 935 4 150

Purchases 2 319 3 599

General expenses 616 550

CONVERSTON DIFFERENTIAL ASSETS 474 375

Loans 397 198

Accrued income 77 176

TOTAL ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES 3 409 4 525

CONVERSION DIFFERENTIAL LIABILITIES 263 619

Suppliers 180 490

Loans 83 129

TOTAL COMPTE DE RÉGULARISATION PASSIF 263 619

Bank balances 11 910 8 280

Cash accounts 31 38

TOTAL AVAILABILITY 11 942 8 319
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2.7  C H A N G E  I N  S H A R E H O L D E R S '  E Q U I T Y   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

S E C U R I T I E S
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Situation as of 31 December 2016 2 153 579 143 616 5 743 12 430 126 436 23 026 167 636

Dividends paid -10 588 -10 588

Allocation of free shares 5 350 13 -13

Change in regulated provisions 5 582 5 582

Result for the fiscal year 20 384 20 384

Situation as of 31 December 2017 2 158 929 143 616 5 756 12 430 136 219 28 607 183 014

Dividends paid -11 987 -11 987

Allocation of free shares 2 600 7 -7

Change in regulated provisions 3 634 3 634

Result for the fiscal year 23 419 23 419

Situation as of 31 December 2018 2 161 563 143 582 5 763 12 431 147 645 32 241 198 080
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2.8  STATEMENT OF PROVISIONS  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

provisions 
as of 31-Dec-17

allocations  
(2)

use 
(2)

reversal of 
unused  

provision (2)

provisions 
as of 31-Dec-18

REGULATED PROVISIONS 28 607 5 920 2 285 32 241

Provision for price increases (1) 24 472 5 709 2 285 27 896

Exceptional amortizations 
(depreciations) 4 135 210 4 345

PROVISIONS
FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 8 719 546 352 8 913

Pension provisions (3) 7 959 151 7 808

Provision for long-service awards 235 1 234

Provision for foreign exchange assets 474 99 199 375

Provision for miscellaneous risks 50 447 497

PROVISION
ON CURRENT ASSETS 5 676 383 18 266 5 775

Clients 639 285 266 658

Stocks 5 037 98 18 5 118

(1) of which current portion:€ 1,799k

(2) The impact of charges, uses and reversals amounts to 3,928 thousand euros and is broken down as follows:

Allocations Reversals Net

Operating result 830 436 393

Financial result 99 199 -99

Exceptional result 5 920 2 285 3 634

TOTAL 6 849 2 920 3 928

(3) For pension provisions :

Post-employment benefits (retirement indemnity) are recorded as a provision for liabilities and charges.

Commitments are determined using the "projected credit unit" method. They take into account actuarial assumptions, 
including discount rates, salary escalation rates, staff turnover rates and mortality rates. 
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The main assumptions used are as follows:

2018 2017

Rate of wage growth 2% 2%

Discount rates* 1.57% 1,30%

*The discount rate used is determined by reference to the iBoxx Corporate AA10+ tax on the yield on investment grade corporate 
bonds (companies rated "AA").

EMPLOYEE TURNOVER RATE 2018 2017

From 16 years to 30 years 8,3% 8,3%

From 31 years to 41 years 3,5% 3,5%

From 42 years to 49 years 1,5% 1,5%

From 50 years to 65 years 0,2% 0,2%

Life expectancy was estimated using the INSEE table.

The expense related to these commitments breaks down as follows :

2018 2017

Annual cost of services rendered 446 427

Financial expenses on commitments 101 101

Actuarial Gains and Losses -698 -314

Cost of the period -151 214

The change in pension and other post-employment benefit commitments is as follows :

2018 2017

Commitment at opening 7 959 7 745

Cost of the period -151 214

Commitment at closing 7 808 7 959
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2.9 F I N A N C I A L  D E B T   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Analysis by category of debt 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Long- and medium-term borrowings 87 688 88 286

Current bank overdrafts 12 006 18 797

Other financial debts 5 129 5 117

TOTAL 104 823 112 200

Analysis by repayment due date 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Less than one year old 33 332 40 941

Due in more than one year and less than five years 66 442 54 228

More than five years old 5 049 17 031

TOTAL 104 823 112 200

Analysis of movements / borrowings 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Borrowings during the year 22 000 50 000

Repayment of borrowings during the year -22 586 -19 724

NET CHANGE -586 30 276

Analysis of financial debts by currency 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Financial debts denominated in Euros 102 016 111 187

Financial debts denominated in USD 2 807 1 014

TOTAL 104 823 112 200

There are covenants on borrowings with a total balance of € 1.4 million at 31/12/2018.

Robertet SA largely complies with the trigger limits of these covenants as at 31/12/2018.
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2.10 O P E R A T I N G  L I A B I L I T I E S    i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

All of them are due within one year and break down as follows:

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Trade payables and related accounts 26 399 26 724

Staff and related accounts 6 598 6 928

Social organizations 4 017 3 931

State, taxes and duties 519 1 755

Commissions payable 4 610 3 183

Other accrued liabilities 432 423

Conversion differential 619 263

TOTAL 43 194 43 207

2.11  C O M M I T M E N T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Commitments given 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Agreements with affiliated companies 8 717 7 014

Guarantees to the treasury 9 8

Other guarantees 3

Mortgage promises 15 000 15 000

TOTAL 23 725 22 025

The mortgage promises concern, for an amount of 15 million euros, a promise granted by Robertet SA on 

the land that houses the new unit of blends of fragrance compositions, as security for a loan of the same 

amount at the outset, with a residual value of 557 K€ as at 31 December 2018.

Commitments granted to affiliated companies mainly concern the commitment to repurchase the residual 

shares of Robertet Goldfield and SAPAD.

2.12  S E C U R I T Y  I N T E R E S T S  I N  D A T A 

Naught.
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2.13 BREAKDOWN OF REVENUE 

BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA AND BUSINESS SECTOR  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

By geographical area 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Europe 186 563 175 408

North America 18 151 13 481

South America 8 442 9 446

Asia 20 815 22 784

Other countries 11 893 11 153

TOTAL 245 863 232 272

By sector of activity 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Raw Materials 92 500 86 752

Compositions for Fragrances 87 826 84 932

Food Flavors 65 537 60 587

TOTAL 245 863 232 271

2.14  F I N A N C I A L  R E S U LT   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Dividends 7 601 6 453

Interest on financial debts -391 -574

Discounts granted and received -81 -90

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) -164

Bank charges, miscellaneous financial income and expenses -304 -262

(Charges)/Recoveries of financial provisions -75 -1 819

TOTAL 6 750 3 545

2.15  E X C E P T I O N A L  R E S U LT   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

(Charges) and reversals of tax-driven provision -3 634 -5 582

Net income from the sale of fixed assets 21 3 969

TOTAL -3 613 -1 612

Exceptional income in 2017 was increased by the capital gain on the sale of Robertet's Parisian building 
(non-recurring item). 
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2.16 L A T E N T  T A X  S I T U A T I O N   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Unrealized tax payable on regulated provisions  8 889 8 179

Prepaid tax on profit-sharing and pension provisions 3 016 3 775

Tax paid in advance on social solidarity contribution 124 117

2 .17  B R E A K D O W N  O F  T A X    i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Résultat
avant impôt

Impôt dû Résultat net

Current : 32 596 5 765 26 831

Exceptional : -3 613 -857 -2 756

Profit sharing -984 -329 -655

 TOTAL 27 999 4 579 23 419

The tax credits are broken down as follows 2018 :

    • Research Tax Credit :    808 K€
    • Patronage Tax Credit :    100 K€
    • Apprenticeship Tax Credit :       35 Ke
    • Foreign Tax Credit :       33 K€
       TOTAL :   978 K€

2.18 A V E R A G E  W O R K F O R C E   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Executives and management 173 158

Supervisors 193 193

Employees 154 159

Workers 187 159

TOTAL 707 669

The remaining available hours under the new Personal Training Account scheme set up as from 1 January 

2015 are fully transferable.

The number of temporary staff stood at 78 at 31 December 2018 compared with 80 at 31 December 2017.
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2.19 C O M P O S I T I O N  O F  S H A R E  C A P I T A L

The capital consists of 2,161,563 shares and 143,582 investment certificates with a nominal value of € 2.5 each.

Registered shares held for more than five years are granted double voting rights.

2.20 A C C R U E D  L I A B I L I T I E S    i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Suppliers and related accounts 3 491 4 602

Tax and social security liabilities 6 200 7 087

TOTAL 9 691 11 689

2.21  I N C O M E  T O  B E  R E C E I V E D   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Royalties 229 110

Dividends receivable 110 209

Interest receivable 221

Miscellaneous 7 18

TOTAL 566 337
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2.22  I N F O R M A T I O N  C O N C E R N I N G  A F F I L I A T E D  C O M P A N I E S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Montant concernant les entreprises 

Affiliated
with which the 
Company has a 

shareholding

BALANCE SHEET 

Shareholdings 108 301 1 417

Receivables from equity interests 18 093

Trade receivables and related accounts 26 273

Other borrowings and financial debts 4 000

Supplier advances 9 074

Trade payables 9 497

Accrued income 662

Other liabilities 319

INCOME STATEMENT

Sales revenue 95 824

Other revenue 332

Purchases of raw materials 37 348

Income from participating interest 7 601

Financial expenses 15

Financial income 246

Robertet Grasse has been responsible for the production of all the Fragrance Compositions business of 

Charabot S A since 1 April 2011. 

The amount of services re-invoiced amounts to €5,304k for the 2018 financial year.

Robertet Grasse also produces all the essential oils, resinoids, concrete and absolute oils of Charabot S.A. 

since November 1, 2015.

The amount of services re-invoiced amounts to €1,823k for the 2018 financial year.

2.23  D E R I V A T I V E  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

The overall situation of the foreign exchange portfolio is as follows :

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Nominal Fair value Nominal Fair value

Forward exchange rate USD 10 387 10 510 3 327 3 379
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2.24 E X E C U T I V E  C O M P E N S A T I O N

The remuneration allocated to the Executive Committee for the 2018 financial year amounts to € 2,506,850 

(vs. € 2,506,850 in 2017). 

These remunerations are detailed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in note 22.
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2.25 S U B S I D I A R I E S  A N D  E Q U I T Y  I N T E R E S T S   i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Inventory value  
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Robertet GMBH 542 175 367   26 395 100,00   -53

Robertet Argentina   177   177 437   404 457 100,00 185

Robertet  Brazil 5 757 5 757 1 500 5 986 9 165 100,00 1 083

Robertet Spain   162     162   60 2 315 100,00 795 1 191

Robertet USA 19 880  19 880    2 816 98 614 100,00 4 942 15 889

Robertet Italy   70   70   26 74 100,00 -25

Robertet Japan   199   199 592 2 422 100,00 333

Robertet  Mexico   139   139    195 7 184 100,00 945 912

Robertet UK 1 012 1 012   138 9 370 100,00 1 642

Robertet et Cie SA 38 38   64 1 536 100,00 17

Robertet Turkey 1 777   1 777   804 678 100,00 484

Robertet South Africa Aromatics   460 397 63   290 23 100,00 -250

Robertet India   12   12 125 42 100,00 99

IS Finances SAS   100   100 50

Robertet Bejing 6 889 6 889 638 7 209 174 100,00 1 012

Groupe Charabot 57 966 57 966  6 100 102 248 100,00 820 11 141

Sarl Serei No Nengone   1 1 786 3 171 44,00

Plantes Aromatiques  Diois  4 647  4 647 2 400   98 3 893 80,00 749

Fragrant Garden SA 168 168 197 50,00

RI Natural SL   3   3 6 50,00

Hitex SAS 1 564 1 564 270 1 898 50,00 100 829

Robertet France Overseas 1 1 100,00

Robertet Bulgaria 900 900 900 -1 414 100,00 396

Robertet Asia 129 129 3 720 272 1 621 100,00 623

Robertet Andina 1 274 1 274 1 965 1 188 -1 323 100,00 -807

Finca Carrasquillas 1 000 1 000 800 50,00

Bionov 339 339  3 975 160 -304 100,00 -314

Robertet Goldfield 7 454 7 454 1 379 91 1 194 60,00 13

Bureau Istanbul 3 3 100,00

Robertet Africa 39 39 480 78,00

Robertet Indonesia 37 37 100,00

Sous-total 112 739 3 086 109 653 16 161 2 165

Autres 64 64  

Total 112 803 3 086 109 717 14 834 1 590

(1) : amount in foreign currency translated at the closing rate 
(2) : amount in foreign currency converted at the average annual rate
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F I N A N C I A L  R E S U LT S  O V E R  T H E  L A S T  F I V E  F I S C A L  Y E A R S  

NATURE OF THE INFORMATION 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

FINANCIAL POSITION AT YEAR-END

Share capital   in thousands of euros 5 743 5 743 5 743 5 756 5 763

Number of shares 2 147 547 2 153 579 2 153 579 2 158 929 2 161 529

Number of investment certificates 149 648 143 648 143 616 143 616 143 616

Nominal value of securities 2,50 2,50 2,50 2,50 2,50

OVERALL RESULT OF OPERATIONS  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

Revenues excluding taxes 162 853 184 522 212 682 232 272 245 863

Profit before taxes, 
depreciation, amortization and provisions 29 537 28 150 44 200 41 627 39 032

Income tax on profits 3 261 3 016 4 108 6 080 4 579

Profit after tax, 
depreciation, amortization and provisions 21 029 15 274 29 084 20 384 23 419

Amount of profit distributed 7 581 9 189 10 588 11 973

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS REDUCED TO A SINGLE 
AMOUNTE

Profit after tax 
before depreciation, amortization and provisions 11,44 10,94 17,45 15,44 14,95

Profit after tax, 
depreciation, amortization and provisions 9,15 6,65 12,66 8,85 10,16

Dividend paid on each security 3,30 4,00 4,60 5,20

PERSONNEL

Number of employees 622 631 650 669 707

Amount of the payroll  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s 24 654 26 051 27 189 28 375 29 641

Amount of the payroll 
(S.S., social works, etc...)  i n  t h o u s a n d s  o f  e u r o s

12 105 13 174 13 309 13 399 14 134
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In accordance with Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code, the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
has prepared this report to report to shareholders on the composition, preparation and organization of the 
Board's work, internal control and risk management procedures in place within the company.

In terms of corporate governance, the company refers to the recommendations of the Corporate Governance 
Code for "ETIs" drawn up by MIDDLENEXT. 

The Board of Directors has taken note of the information contained in the "points of vigilance" section of 
the said code. The latter considers that all points of the governance code are respected.

I - METHOD OF EXERCISING GENERAL MANAGEMENT AND POSSIBLE LIMITATION OF ITS POWERS

At the time of the renewal of the Management Bodies, on 17 June 2014, the Board of Directors appointed 
the Chairman of the Board, Philippe Maubert as Chief Executive Officer. In accordance with the Articles 
of Association, the latter is vested with the broadest powers to act in all circumstances on behalf of the 
company within the limits of the corporate purpose.

The corporate officers are currently as follows : 

  • Mr. Philippe MAUBERT, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer,

  • Mr. Christophe MAUBERT, Deputy Managing Director and Director, in charge of the 
Fragrance Division,

  • Mr. Olivier MAUBERT, Deputy Managing Director and Director, in charge of the Flavour 
Division.

II - COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

President, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Philippe MAUBERT, born on 28/01/1952 in Nice, French citizen.

Mandate renewed by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 17 June 2014. Term of office expires at the 
end of the Robertet shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2018.

Administrators
Mrs. Catherine MAUBERT marries CANOVAS-GUTTERIEZ, born on 11/01/1951 in NICE, French citizen. Mandate 
renewed by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 17 June 2014. Term of office expires at the end of the 
Robertet shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year ending 31 
December 2018.

Mr Christophe MAUBERT, born on 03/07/1959 in NICE, French citizen.
Mandate renewed by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 17 June 2014. Term of office expires at the 
end of the Robertet shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2018.

Mr Lionel PICOLET, born on 08/12/1956 in Lyon, French citizen. 
Mandate renewed by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 17 June 2014. Term of office expires at the 
end of the Robertet shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2018.
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Mrs. Isabelle MAUBERT, born on 03/01/1965 in CANNES, French nationality.
Mandate renewed by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 5 June 2017. Term of office expires at the end 
of the Robertet shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2021.

Mrs. Gilberte PINCON married LOMBARD, born on 10/07/1944 in NEUILLY-SUR-SEINE, French citizen. 
Mandate renewed by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 5 June 2017. Term of office expires at the end 
of the Robertet shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2021. Independent Director *

Mrs. LOMBARD is also Director of CGG, a company listed in Paris and New York, as well as Chairman of the 
Audit Committee and member of the Investment Committee of this company. Director of Vernet Retraite, 
HSBC France's PERP management company.

Mr. Alain MOYNOT, born on 30/10/1945 in BOIS-COLOMBES, of French nationality. 
Mandate renewed by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 5 June 2017. Term of office expires at the end 
of the Robertet shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2021. Independent Director *

Mr. MOYNOT is also Director of Société Financière de l'Odet and Chairman of its audit committee.  
Managing Partner of Almo Finances, Managing Partner of CSM Investissement, Managing Partner of  
SCI MAG.M. 

Mr.Olivier MAUBERT, born on 04/03/1965 in NICE, French citizen.
Mandate renewed by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 5 June 2017. Term of office expires at the end 
of the Robertet shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2021.

Mrs. Colette ROBERT, born on 14/08/1949 in Menton, French citizen. Independent director*
Mandated by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 5 June 2018. Term of office expires at the end of the 
Robertet shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year ending  
31 December 2023.

Mrs. Isabelle PARIZE, born on 16/06/1957 in Paris, of French nationality. Independent director* 

Mandated by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 5 June 2018. Term of office expires at the end of the 
Robertet shareholders’ meeting called to approve the financial statements for the financial year ending 31 
December 2023.

Isabelle PARIZE is also a director of Air France-KLM, a director of PANDORA, and holds several positions within 
the DELSEY Group.

Independent Director *: Director who has no family ties with a corporate officer or a reference shareholder, 
who has never been a corporate officer or employee of the company or a Group company, who is neither a 
customer, supplier or banker of the company or the Group, and who has not been an auditor of the company.

The Board of Directors will therefore be composed of 10 people, 4 of whom are qualified as independent, 
and 5 of whom are women, i.e. half.

Directors are appointed for a term of five years.
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III - WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors met five times in 2018, with a 90% attendance rate of directors.

The main purpose of the February meeting is to review the first elements of the past financial year and the 
outlook for the current financial year, as well as the audit committee's report on internal control. It is also 
during this Board meeting that the compensation of senior executives is determined, on the proposal of 
the Compensation Committee.

The main purpose of the April and September meetings is to approve the annual and half-yearly financial 
statements after consulting the Audit Committee.

The main purpose of the December meeting is to review or define the company's main strategic orientations.

The Statutory Auditors and the representatives of the Works Council attended all the Board meetings held 
in 2018.

IV - THE COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
It is composed of two members :

  • Mr. Alain MOYNOT who is the President,

  • Mrs. Catherine CANOVAS-GUTTERIEZ,

The Audit Committee's main tasks are :

  • to review the annual and half-yearly financial statements ;

  •  to examine the relevance and consistency of the accounting methods adopted for the 
preparation of the parent company and consolidated financial statements ;

  •  to examine the scope of consolidation and, if applicable, the reasons why certain companies 
would not or would no longer be included ;

  •  ensuring the implementation of internal control and risk management procedures, the 
adequacy of the missions carried out by the company relating to these issues and the 
controls carried out on the identified risks ;

  •  to examine matters relating to the appointment, renewal or dismissal of the Company's 
Statutory Auditors ;

  •  dto ensure compliance with the principles guaranteeing the independence of the Statutory 
Auditors ;

  •  to examine the conclusions and recommendations of the Statutory Auditors, as well as 
the action taken on them.

During the 2018 financial year, the Audit Committee met twice, in the presence of a representative of 
Executive Management, the Finance Department and the Statutory Auditors.

THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

It is composed of :

  • Mrs. Gilberte LOMBARD, who is the President

  • Mrs. Colette ROBERT
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The determination of the compensation of the executive corporate officers and the Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer is the responsibility of the Board of Directors, which takes its decisions after consulting the 
Compensation Committee.

The members of the Committee determine the fixed and variable portion of the remuneration of the 
Executive Officers on the basis of both qualitative and quantitative factors based on the Group's overall 
performance and objective comparative data.

The Committee generally meets twice a year, in February and April, to review the components of executive 
compensation on the basis of performance over the past year. 

V - REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

POLICY FOR THE PAYMENT OF DIRECTORS' FEESE 

The method of allocating directors' fees depends on the directors' attendance at Board meetings, which is 
set at € 2,500 per board meeting.

The remuneration of committee members is fixed, regardless of the number of boards held during the year.

DIRECTORS' FEES AND REMUNERATION PAID TO DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Directors' fees
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee TOTAL

Mrs. Gilberte LOMBARD 12 500 10 000 22 500

Mr. Alain MOYNOT 12 500 15 000 27 500

Mrs. Catherine CANOVAS 12 500 7 500 20 000

Mrs. Isabelle MAUBERT 12 500 12 500

Mrs. Colette ROBERT 12 500 3 000 15 500

Mrs. Isabelle PARIZE 7 500 7 500

Mr. Philippe MAUBERT 12 500 12 500

Mr. Lionel PICOLET 12 500 12 500

Mr. Christophe MAUBERT 7 500 7 500

Mr. Olivier MAUBERT 7 500 7 500

TOTAL 110 000 22 500 13 000 145 500
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VI EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION

REMUNERATION POLICY 

The compensation of the Group's executives consists of three components: A fixed remuneration, a variable 
remuneration and a performance-related remuneration.

FIXED REMUNERATION

It is determined by the combination of various factors :

  •  IInformation obtained on the compensation of executives of other listed groups readjusted 
in relation to the size of the company,

  •  Compensation of executives or senior managers of French or foreign Group companies,

  •  History of the compensation level of executives who had a previous employment contract.

In addition, part of the fixed compensation consists of income from subsidiaries in which certain executives 
have an operational activity..

VARIABLE REMUNERATION

This is defined according to individualized performance criteria that take into account 

  • The Group's net income 

  • Turnover, Group or by division 

  •Net margin rates or the results of certain subsidiaries.

This remuneration is paid over the financial year following that in which the award criteria were used.

PERFORMANCE-RELATED COMPENSATION

These are free shares whose total amount allocated corresponds to 2% of the Group's income for the year 
divided by the average of the last 5 stock market prices following the publication of the results.

This practice of allocating on a long-term basis has been practiced for a long time. It therefore depends on 
the company's performance and the change of the share price.

For 2018, this calculation results in a total of 1,950 shares to be allocated to the Group's executives.

OTHER REMUNERATION ELEMENTS

Apart from the above, there are no other remuneration elements. As a result, executives do not benefit 
from a hat pension, a golden parachute or a non-competition indemnity.

THE BREAKDOWN OF COMPENSATION RECEIVED FOR THE 2018 FINANCIAL YEAR IS AS FOLLOWS :

Philippe Maubert, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 2018 2017

Fixed remuneration

France 340 500 336 000

Related to directorships in Group companies 93 500 97 350

Variable remuneration 401 000 355 000

Benefits in kind (vehicle) 14 640 14 640

TOTAL 849 640 802 990
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Lionel Picolet, Deputy Managing Director 2018 2017

Fixed remuneration

France 225 000 224 000

Related to directorships in Group companies 25 500 26 550

Variable remuneration 235 000 210 000

Benefits in kind (vehicle) 6 000 6 000

TOTAL 491 500 466 550

Christophe Maubert, Deputy Managing Director 2018 2016

Fixed remuneration

United States 335 900 350 465

Related to directorships in Group companies 11 300 11 500

Variable remuneration 160 000 143 000

Benefits in kind (vehicle) 5 500 5 500

TOTAL 512 700 510 465

Olivier Maubert, Deputy Managing Director 2018 2016

Fixed remuneration

France 174 000 168 825

Related to directorships in Group companies 10 600 11 060

Variable remuneration 150 000 131 000

Benefits in kind (vehicle) 9 960 9 960

TOTAL 344 560 320 845

The details of the variable compensation granted on the basis of the 2018 results are as follows :

Philippe Maubert, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 2018 2017

Fixed remuneration 425 000 401 000

Performance shares 700 800

The criteria for variable compensation are :  60 % change in consolidated net profit
       20 % change in net margin rate 
       20 % change in consolidated revenue
This gives a 6% increase in the variable portion of remuneration. 

Lionel Picolet, Chairman and Deputy Chief Executive Officer 2018 2017

Fixed remuneration 265 000 245 000

Performance shares 450 600

The criteria for variable compensation are :  60 % change in consolidated net profit
       20 % change in net margin rate 
       10 % change in Charabot's profit 
       10 % change in consolidated sales
This gives an 8% increase in the variable portion.
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Christophe Maubert, Deputy Managing Director 2018 2017

Variable remuneration 164 000 160 000

Performance shares 400 500

The criteria for variable compensation are :  50 % change in consolidated net profit
       25 % change in Robertet Fragrances profit
       20 %  change in consolidated sales in the Flavors division 
This gives an increase of 2.5% in the variable portion of the compensation.

Olivier Maubert, Deputy Managing Director 2018 2017

Variable remuneration 168 000 150 000

Performance shares 400 500

The criteria for variable compensation are :   50 % change in consolidated net profit
       20 % change in consolidated sales in the Flavors division 
       15 % change in sales in the Flavors Grasse division
       15% change in Flavors Grasse profit 
This results in a 12% increase in the variable portion of the compensation..

The following resolutions will be submitted to the vote of the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of 5 June 2019 :

Ninth resolution

The Robertet shareholders’ meeting approves the principles and criteria for determining, distributing and 
allocating the fixed, variable and exceptional items making up the total remuneration and benefits of any 
kind attributable to the Chief Executive Officers and Deputy Chief Executive Officers, as detailed in the 
report attached to the report referred to in Articles L. 225-100 and L. 225-102 of the French Commercial 
Code, presented in the corporate governance report. 

Tenth resolution

The Robertet shareholders’ meeting approves the items of the remuneration due or granted, by virtue of 
their mandate to the Chief Executive Officers and Deputy Chief Executive Officers, as detailed in the report 
attached to the report referred to in Articles L. 225-100 and L. 225-102 of the French Commercial Code, 
presented in the corporate governance report.

VI - STOCK MARKET DATA

Transactions in the Company's shares by officers or directors and persons related to them.

In May 2018, Olivier Maubert sold 1,000 shares for a total of 500 000 € 

In October 2018, Christophe Maubert sold 700 shares for de 354 000 €

Information likely to have an impact in the event of a public offer

There are no treasury shares.

All shares held in registered form for at least 5 years carry double voting rights.

The total number of double voting rights at 31 December 2018 was 1,080,100, of which 1,065,248, or 98.62%, 
were held by the Maubert Family Group. 
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Threshold crossings

International Value Advisers, said :

To have crossed the 10% threshold on 5 January 2018, bringing its stake to 9.91% of the share capital and 
6.63% of the voting rights,

To have crossed the 5% threshold on 27 March 2018, bringing its stake to 6.98% of the share capital and 
4.85% of the voting rights.

Investor Relations

The website www.robertet.com includes a section for financial communication that is regularly updated.

It allows you to obtain and download the Group's financial information, press releases, annual and half-yearly 
financial reports.

Executives meet with analysts and investors whenever they are solicited and participate in meetings with 
them each year in the Paris or London financial markets.



CERTIFICATION OF THE PERSON 
RESPONSIBLE FOR THE 

FINANCIAL REPORT 2018
F I S C A L Y E A R E N D I N G 31  D E C E M B E R 2018



Mr. Philippe MAUBERT

Chairman of the Board of Directors

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, the financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the assets, 

financial position and results of the company and of all the companies included in the consolidated 

financial statements, and that the management report gives a true and fair view of the development 

of the business, results and financial position of the company and all the companies included in 

the scope of consolidation, as well as a description of the main risks and uncertainties with which 

they are confronted.

Grasse, 25 April 2019 

Philippe MAUBERT

Chairman of the Board of Directors

STATEMENT OF SPONSORING PARTY OF THE 2018 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT



S TAT U T O R Y
AU D I T O R S' R E P O R T S

FISCAL YEAR ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2018
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COGEPARC
Le Thélémos

12 quai du Commerce
69009 LYON

DELOITTE & ASSOCIÉS
Les Docks, Atrium 10.4
10, Place de la Joliette

13002 MARSEILLE
ROBERTET

Société Anonyme
37 avenue Sidi- Brahim

06130 GRASSE

STATUTORY AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Shareholders’ meeting of Robertet

Opinion

In accordance with the assignment entrusted to us by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting, 
we have audited the accompanying financial statements of Robertet for the year ended 
31 December 2018.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the company's finan-
cial position and assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2007 and of the results of its  
operations for the year then ended in accordance with French accounting rules and 
principles..

Basis of opinion

Audit framework

We conducted our audit in accordance with the professional standards applicable in 
France. We believe that the information we have gathered is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion

Our responsibilities under these standards are set out in the section "Responsibilities 
of the statutory auditors for the audit of the annual financial statements" of this report.

Independence

We conducted our audit in accordance with the independence rules applicable to us, for 
the period from 1st January 2018 to the date of issue of our report, and in particular we 
did not provide services prohibited by Article 5 (1) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 or by 
the Code of Ethics of the Auditing Profession

Justification of the assessments - Key audit points

In accordance with the requirements of Articles L. 823-9 and R. 823-7 of the French Com-
mercial Code relating to the justification of our assessments, we bring to your attention the 
key audit issues relating to the risks of material misstatement which, in our professional 
judgment, were the most significant for the audit of the financial statements for the year, 
as well as the responses we provided to those risks.
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These assessments were made in the context of the audit of the financial statements 
taken as a whole and the formation of our opinion expressed above. We do not express 
an opinion on individual items in these financial statements.

Specific verifications

We have also carried out, in accordance with the professional standards applicable in 
France, the specific verifications required by legal and regulatory texts. 

Information given in the management report and in other documents on the financial 
situation and annual accounts addressed to shareholders.

We have no matters to report as to the fairness and consistency with the financial  
statements of the information given in the Board of Directors' management report and in the other  
documents on the financial position and the financial statements addressed to the sha-
reholders.

We certify that the information relating to the payment periods mentioned in Article D.441-4 
of the French Commercial Code is accurate and consistent with the annual financial 
statements

As of December 31, 2018, equity  
investments are recorded in the balance 
sheet for a net book value of 110.0 million 
euros. They are recorded at their acquisition 
cost at the date of entry.
When the value in use of the shares is lower 
than their acquisition cost, a provision for 
impairment is recorded for the amount of the 
difference. As indicated in Note "C. Financial 
fixed assets" to the parent company financial 
statements, the value in use is estimated by 
the Company on the basis of a multi-criteria 
analysis taking into account the share of the 
subsidiary's equity, or, as the case may be, 
the market value and profitability prospects 
of the subsidiary in question.
We considered that the valuation of 
equity investments is a key point of the 
audit given the judgment exercised by  
Management in selecting the elements to be  
considered in estimating the value in use of these  
investments and given their material  
importance in the parent company financial 
statements

Our work has consisted mainly of:
• Verify, on the basis of the information  
provided to us, that management's  
estimate of the value in use of the securities 
is based on an appropriate justification of 
the valuation method and the figures used ;
• Verify that the portion of equity retained is 
consistent with the accounts of the entities 
that have been audited;
• When the value in use of equity  
investments has been determined by  
reference to market value and profitability  
prospects, we have verified that the  
assumptions used are reasonable and  
supported by supporting documentation ;
• To assess the appropriateness of the  
information presented in the notes  
"C. Financial fixed assets" and "2.3  
Financial fixed assets" in the notes  to the 
parent company financial statements.

Reply as part of our audit

VALUATION OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Key point of the audit
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Corporate Governance Report

We attest to the existence, in the Board of Directors' report on corporate governance, of the 
information required by Articles L. 225-37-3 and L. 225-37-4 of the French Commercial Code.

Concerning the information provided in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-
37-3 of the French Commercial Code on the compensation and benefits paid to corporate  
officers and on the commitments made in their favour, we have verified its consistency with the  
financial statements or with the data used to prepare these financial statements and, where 
applicable, with the information collected by your company from the companies controlling your 
company or controlled by it. On the basis of this work, we certify the accuracy and fairness of 
this information. 

Concerning the information relating to the items that your company considered likely to have 
an impact in the event of a takeover bid or exchange offer, provided in accordance with the 
provisions of Article L. 225-37-5 of the French Commercial Code, we have verified their  
compliance with the documents from which they are derived and which have been  
communicated to us. On the basis of this work, we have no observations to make on this 
information.

Other information

In accordance with the law, we have ensured that the various information relating to the identity 
of the holders of share capital or voting rights has been provided to you in the management 
report.

Information resulting from other legal and regulatory obligations

Appointment of auditors

We were appointed auditors of Robertet by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting held in 1976 
for Deloitte & Associés and on 8 June 2010 for Cogeparc

As of 31 December 2018, Deloitte & Associés was in the forty-third year of its mission without 
interruption and Cogeparc in the ninth year without interruption, including respectively thirty-four 
and nine years since the company's shares were admitted to trading on a regulated market.

Responsibilities of management and persons constituting the corporate government 
with respect to the annual accounts

It is the responsibility of management to prepare financial statements that present a true and 
fair view in accordance with French accounting rules and principles and to implement the 
internal control that it deems necessary for the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern, for presenting in those financial statements, if any, the 
necessary going concern information and for applying the going concern accounting policy, 
unless it is intended to liquidate the Company or discontinue its business.

The audit committee is responsible for monitoring the process of preparing financial information 
and for monitoring the effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems, as well 
as, where applicable, internal audit, with respect to procedures relating to the preparation and 
processing of accounting and financial information.

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors.
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Responsibilities of the statutory auditors with regard to the audit of the annual accounts

Audit objective and procedure

IIt is our responsibility to prepare a report on the annual financial statements. Our objective 
is to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free 
from material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards of practice will 
consistently identify any material misstatement. Misstatements may result from fraud or error 
and are considered material when it can reasonably be expected that they could, individually 
or in aggregate, influence the economic decisions that users of the accounts make based on 
them. 

As specified by Article L. 823-10-1 of the French Commercial Code, our mission of certification 
of the accounts does not consist in guaranteeing the viability or quality of the management of 
your company.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applied in France, 
the auditor exercises professional judgment throughout the audit. In addition to this : 

 •  it identifies and assesses the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, defines and performs audit procedures to address those 
risks, and obtains information that it considers sufficient and appropriate to form an 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than 
that of a material misstatement due to error, as fraud may involve collusion, falsifica-
tion, wilful misrepresentation, misrepresentation or circumvention of internal control ;

 •  it examines of the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, and not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control ; 

 •  it assesses the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as the information relating to 
them provided in the annual financial statements ;

 •  it assesses the appropriateness of management's application of the going concern 
accounting policy and, depending on the information collected, whether or not there 
is a material uncertainty related to events or circumstances that could affect the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern. This assessment is based on the 
information collected up to the date of its report, it being recalled, however, that sub-
sequent circumstances or events could jeopardize the continuity of operations. If it 
concludes that a material uncertainty exists, it draws the attention of the readers of its 
report to the information provided in the annual accounts about that uncertainty or, if 
that information is not provided or is not relevant, it issues a qualified certification or 
a refusal to certify;

 •  it assesses the overall presentation of the annual accounts and assesses whether the 
annual accounts reflect the underlying transactions and events in order to give a true 
and fair view of them.
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Report to the Audit Committee

We submit a report to the Audit Committee, including the scope of the audit work and the work 
program implemented, as well as the conclusions arising from our work. We also bring to its 
attention, as the case may be, the significant weaknesses in internal control that we have 
identified with regard to the procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accoun-
ting and financial information.

Among the elements communicated in the report to the Audit Committee are the significant 
risks of anomalies that we consider to have been the most important for the audit of the annual 
accounts for the financial year and which therefore constitute the key audit issues, which it is 
our responsibility to describe in this report.

We also provide the audit committee with the declaration provided for in Article 6 of Regulation 
(EU) No. 537-2014 confirming our independence, within the meaning of the rules applicable 
in France as set out in particular in Articles L. 822-10 to L. 822-14 of the French Commercial 
Code and in the Code of Ethics of the Audit Profession. If necessary, we discuss with the Audit 
Committee the risks to our independence and the safeguards applied.

Lyon and Marseille, 26 april 2019

The Statutory Auditors

 COGEPARC       DELOITTE & ASSOCIÉS 

      Anne Brion TURCK                            Anne-Marie MARTINI
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COGEPARC
Le Thélémos

12 quai du Commerce
69009 LYON

DELOITTE & ASSOCIÉS
Les Docks, Atrium 10.4
10, Place de la Joliette

13002 MARSEILLE
ROBERTET

Société Anonyme
37 avenue Sidi- Brahim

06130 GRASSE

Statutory Auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements Fiscal Year 
Ending 31 Decembre 2018

To the Robertet shareholders’ meetingt,

OPINION 
In accordance with the assignment entrusted to us by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting, 
we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Robertet for the 
year ended 31 December 2018.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
results of operations for the year then ended and of the financial position and assets 
and liabilities, at the end of the year, of the group of persons and entities included in the 
consolidation, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union.
The opinion expressed above is consistent with the content of our report to the audit 
committee.
BASIS OF OPINION 
Audit framework
We conducted our audit in accordance with the professional standards applicable in 
France. We believe that the information we have gathered is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.
Our responsibilities under these standards are set out in the "Responsibilities of the statu-
tory auditors for the audit of the consolidated financial statements" section of this report.
Independence
We conducted our audit in accordance with the independence rules applicable to us, for 
the period from 1 January 2018 to the date of issue of our report, and in particular we 
did not provide services prohibited by Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 or by 
the Code of Ethics for the profession of auditor.
Justification of the assessments - Key points of the hearing
In accordance with the requirements of Articles L. 823-9 and R. 823-7 of the French Com-
mercial Code relating to the justification of our assessments, we bring to your attention the 
key audit issues relating to the risks of material misstatement which, in our professional 
opinion, were the most significant for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
for the year, as well as the responses we provided to those risks. 
These assessments were made in the context of the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements taken as a whole and the formation of our opinion expressed above. We do 
not express an opinion on individual items in these consolidated financial statements. 
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As part of its development, the group has 
had to carry out external growth operations 
and recognize several goodwill items. At 
31 December 2018, their value amounted 
to €27.6 million. 

These goodwill items have been allocated 
to cash-generating units (CGUs), defined 
according to the Group's business seg-
ments, i.e. the Flavour, Fragrance and 
Commodities divisions.

Management performs an impairment test 
on the value of these goodwill as soon as 
there is any indication of impairment and 
at least once a year. The impairment test 
implemented, each of the CGUs includes a 
significant portion of Management's judg-
ments and assumptions, relating in particu-
lar to recoverable amount and the carrying 
amount of each CGU to which goodwill has 
been allocated, as well as details of the 
main assumptions used, are described in 
Notes 1.7 "Business combinations", 1.9 
"Impairment of goodwill and fixed assets" 
and 2 "Goodwill" to the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

For the three CGUs, the recoverable amount 
is determined by reference to the value in 
use calculated on the basis of discounted 
cash flow projections and a terminal value.

The impairment test carried out by Mana-
gement on goodwill included in each of 
the CGUs includes a significant portion of 
Management's judgments and assumptions, 
relating in particular to : 

The discount rate and perpetual growth rate 
used to project these flows.

Consequently, a change in these assump-
tions is likely to change the recoverable 
amount of these CGU.

REPLY DURING OUR AUDIT

Reply during our audit

We obtained the latest business plans 
from Management and impairment 
tests for each of the CGUs to which 
goodwill is allocated. On the basis of 
this information, we have conducted 
a critical examination of the methods 
used to implement the methodology 
adopted by the company by carrying 
out the following procedures :

•  We have assessed the reasonable 
character of the key assumptions 
used to determine cash flows in the 
economic and financial context in 
which the Group operates. In parti-
cular, we analyzed the consistency 
of the assumptions used in the sales 
and cost projections with external 
market analyses ;

•  We verified the calculations and the 
methodology used, based on the 
work of our valuation experts ; 

•  We assessed the discount rate and 
perpetual growth rate used by Mana-
gement, comparing them with our 
own rate estimate, prepared with the 
assistance of our valuation specia-
lists ; 

•  We compared the forecasts used for 
previous periods with the correspon-
ding achievements in order to assess 
the reliability of the establishment of 
the pre-visional data; 

•  We verified, on a test basis, the arith-
metical accuracy of the impairment 
tests performed by company ; 

•  The estimated future cash flows for 
each CGU, and in particular sales 
projections and future costs.

Key point of the audit
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•  Management. We have also perfor-
med our own calculations of sensiti-
vity, to verify that the sensitivity tests 
conducted on a basis of reasonably 
possible changes in key assumptions 
would not lead to an impairment of 
goodwill.; 

•  We assessed the appropriateness of 
the information presented in notes 
1.7 "Business Combination",1.9 
"Impairment of Goodwill and fixed 
assets" et 2 "Goodwill" to the conso-
lidated financial statements. 

Specific Verifications 
In accordance with the professional standards applicable in France, we have also perfor-
med the specific verifications required by law and regulations of the information relating 
to the Group contained in the Board of Directors' management report.
We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and consistency with the conso-
lidated financial statements.
We certify that the consolidated statement of non-financial performance provided for in 
Article L. 225-102-1 of the French Commercial Code is included in the Group's mana-
gement report. In accordance with the law, we inform you that your company has not 
appointed an independent third party body to carry out its audit. 

Information resulting from other legal and regulatory obligations 
Appointment of auditors
We were appointed auditors of Robertet by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting held in 
1976 for Deloitte & Associés and on 8 June 2010 for Cogeparc.
As of December 31, 2018, Deloitte & Associés was in the forty-third year of its mission 
without interruption and Cogeparc in the ninth year without interruption, including res-
pectively thirty-four and nine years since the company's shares were admitted to trading 
on a regulated market.

Responsibilities of Management and those charged with corporate governance with 
respect to the consolidated financial statements 
It is management's responsibility to prepare consolidated financial statements that present 
a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and to 
implement the internal control it considers necessary for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for asses-
sing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, for presenting in the consoli-
dated financial statements, where applicable, the necessary going concern information 
and for applying the going concern accounting policy, unless it is intended to liquidate 
the Company or discontinue its business.
The audit committee is responsible for monitoring the process of preparing financial 
information and for monitoring the effectiveness of internal control and risk management 

In this context, we have considered that the 
valuation of goodwill allocated to CGUs is 
an key point of the audit.

We obtained and reviewed the analyses of 
sensitivity by 
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systems, as well as, where applicable, internal audit, with respect to procedures relating 
to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information.
The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors.
Responsibilities of the statutory auditors with regard to the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements Audit objective and procedure
It is our responsibility to report on the consolidated financial statements. Our objective is to 
obtain reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole 
are free from material misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards 
will systematically detect any material misstatement. Misstatements may result from fraud 
or error and are considered material when it can reasonably be expected that they could, 
individually or in aggregate, influence the economic decisions that users of the accounts 
make based on them.
As specified by Article L. 823-10-1 of the French Commercial Code, our mission of certifi-
cation of the accounts does not consist in guaranteeing the viability or quality of the mana-
gement of your company. As part of an audit conducted in accordance with professional 
standards applicable in France, the auditor exercises professional judgment throughout 
the audit. In addition :

 •   it identifies and assesses the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, defines and performs audit 
procedures to address those risks, and obtains information that it considers suf-
ficient and appropriate to form an opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement due to fraud is higher than that of a material misstatement due to 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, falsification, willful misrepresentation, misre-
presentation or circumvention of internal control ;

 •  it acquires an understanding of the internal control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, and not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control ;

 •  it assesses the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonable-
ness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as the information 
relating to them provided in the consolidated financial statements ; 

 •  it assesses the appropriateness of management's application of the going concern 
agreement and, depending on the information collected, whether or not there is 
a material uncertainty related to events or circumstances that could affect the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern. This assessment is based on 
the information collected up to the date of its report, it being recalled, however, 
that subsequent circumstances or events could jeopardize the continuity of ope-
rations.  If it concludes that a material uncertainty exists, it draws the attention of 
the readers of its report to the information provided in the consolidated financial 
statements about that uncertainty or, if that information is not provided or is not 
relevant, it issues a qualified certification or a refusal to certify ;

 •  It assesses the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and 
assesses whether the consolidated financial statements reflect the underlying 
transactions and events in a way that gives a true and fair view ;
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 •  concerning the financial information of persons or entities included in the scope of 
consolidation, it collects information that it considers sufficient and appropriate to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. He is responsible for 
the Management, supervision and audit of the consolidated financial statements 
and for the opinion expressed on them. 

Report to the Audit Committee

We provide the audit committee with a report that includes the scope of the audit work 
and the work program implemented, as well as the conclusions arising from our work. 
We also bring to its attention, as the case may be, the significant weaknesses in internal 
control that we have identified with regard to the procedures relating to the preparation 
and processing of accounting and financial information.
Among the items communicated in the report to the Audit Committee are the risks of material 
misstatement, which we believe were the most significant for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements for the year and which therefore constitute the key audit issues, which 
we are required to describe in this report.
We also provide the Audit Committee with the declaration provided for in Article 6 of Regu-
lation (EU) No. 537-2014 confirming our independence, within the meaning of the rules 
applicable in France as set out in particular in Articles L. 822-10 to L. 822-14 of the French 
Commercial Code and in the Code of Ethics of the Audit Profession. If necessary, we  
discuss with the Audit Committee the risks to our independence and the safeguards applied.

.

Marseille and Lyon, 26 april 2019

The Statutory Auditors

  COGEPARC      DELOITTE & ASSOCIÉS

              Anne BRION TURCK                          Anne-Marie MARTINI
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Statutory Auditors' special report on regulated agreements and commitments

Robertet shareholders’ meeting for the approval of the accounts for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2018

To the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of Robertet,

In our capacity as statutory auditors of your company, we hereby present our report on 
regulated agreements.
It is our responsibility to inform you, on the basis of the information provided to us, of the 
characteristics, essential terms and conditions and reasons justifying the interest for the 
company of the agreements of which we have been informed or which we may have dis-
covered during our engagement, without having to express an opinion on their usefulness 
and validity or to seek the existence of other agreements. It is your responsibility, under 
the terms of Article R. 225-31 of the French Commercial Code, to assess the interest 
attached to the conclusion of these agreements with a view to their approval. 
In addition, it is our responsibility, if necessary, to provide you with the information provi-
ded for in Article R. 225-31 of the French Commercial Code relating to the performance, 
during the past financial year, of the agreements already approved by the Robertet sha-
reholders’ meeting.
We have performed the procedures that we considered necessary in accordance with 
the professional standards of the Compagnie nationale des commissaires aux comptes 
relating to this engagement. These procedures consisted in verifying the consistency of 
the information provided to us with the source documents from which it was extracted.

AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS SUBMITTED 
FOR APPROVAL BY THE ROBERTET SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Agreements and commitments authorized and entered into during the past  
financial year

We inform you that we have not been informed of any agreements or commitments 
authorized and entered into during the past financial year to be submitted to the Robertet 
shareholders’ meeting for approval pursuant to the provisions of Article L. 225-38 of the 
French Commercial Code.
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AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS ALREADY APPROVED 
BY THE ROBERTET SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Agreements and commitments approved in previous financial years that continued 
to be performed in the past financial year

In accordance with Article R. 225-30 of the French Commercial Code, we have been 
informed that the following agreements and commitments, which were already approved 
by the Robertet shareholders’ meeting in previous years, remained in force during the 
past financial year.

With MAUBERT SA

Agreement relating to a Group management contract with Maubert SA

Common Directors : Mr. Philippe Maubert, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of  
Robertet SA and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Maubert SA, Mr. Christophe 
Maubert, member of the Board of Directors of Robertet SA and member of the Board 
of Directors of Maubert SA, Mr. Olivier Maubert, member of the Board of Directors of 
Robertet SA and member of the Board of Directors of Maubert SA, Mrs. Isabelle Maubert, 
member of the Board of Directors of Robertet SA and member of the Board of Directors 
of Maubert SA, Mrs. Catherine Canovas, member of the Board of Directors of Robertet 
SA and member of the Board of Directors of Maubert SA.

Object : your company has entered into a Group management contract with MAUBERT SA.

Terms and conditions : lthe royalty is calculated on the amount of the costs incurred 
plus a 5% margin. The expense recorded amounts to 100,000 euros excluding tax at 31 
December 2018.

Lyon and Marseille, 26 avril 2019

The statutory auditors

    COGEPARC          DELOITTE & ASSOCIÉS
        Anne BRION TURCK                     Anne-Marie MARTINI
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Statutory Auditors' report
on the capital increase reserved for members 

of a company savings plan

Robertet shareholders’ meeting of June 5, 2019 - Eleventh Resolution 

To the Robertet shareholders’ meeting of Robertet,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of your company and in accordance with the assi-
gnment provided for in Articles L. 225-135 et seq. of the French Commercial Code, we 
hereby present our report on the proposed capital increase by issuing ordinary shares with 
cancellation of preferential subscription rights of 50,000 euros, reserved for employees 
and former employees participating in your company's company savings plan, an opera-
tion on which you are requested to vote.

This capital increase is subject to your approval pursuant to the provisions of Articles L. 
225-129-6 of the French Commercial Code and L. 3332-18 et seq. of the French Labour 
Code.

Your Board of Directors proposes, on the basis of its report, to delegate to you, the power 
to set the terms and conditions of this operation and to cancel your preferential subscrip-
tion right to the shares to be issued.

It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to prepare a report in accordance with 
Articles

R. 225-113 and R. 225-114 of the French Commercial Code. It is our responsibility to 
report on the fairness of the financial information taken from the financial statements, on 
the proposed increase in preferential subscription rights, and on certain other information 
concerning the issue, given in this report.

We have performed the procedures that we considered necessary in accordance with 
the professional standards of the Compagnie Nationale des Commissaires aux Comptes 
relating to this engagement. These procedures consisted in verifying the content of the 
Board of Directors' report on this transaction and the methods used to determine the 
issue price of the share

The report of the Board of Directors calls for the following observation on our part:

With regard to the methods for setting the price, this report refers to the provisions of 
paragraph 1 of Article L. 3332-20 of the Labour Code, without specifying the criteria that 
will be adopted, where applicable, as part of the multi-criteria approach provided for in 
this paragraph.
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As the final terms of the capital increase have not been set, we do not express an opinion 
on them and, consequently, on the proposal to waive your preferential subscription rights.

In accordance with Article R. 225-116 of the French Commercial Code, we will prepare 
an additional report when your Board of Directors uses this delegation.

Lyon and Marseille, 26 avril 2019

The statutory auditors

 COGEPARC           DELOITTE & ASSOCIÉS
    Anne BRION TURCK                      Anne-Marie MARTINI
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